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2007 was a year of outstanding accomplishment. Management effectively

steered the entire CRM team towards growth and solid performance in the midst of another

year of challenge and change. Earnings per share increased 41% and return

on average equity was 21%, even greater than last year’s 19%. Equally

important has been the development of the business as a whole. At the end of 2007, CRM was a

more diversified and stronger business. Our strategic position continues to grow. Our people are

offering CRM’s ever-growing capabilities to our broker network with heightened enthusiasm and

pride, and we are confidently presenting new opportunities across a greater range of products

and markets.

WE CONTINUE TO FOCUS ON EXECUTION AND
EFFICIENCY. The acquisition of Majestic Insurance in
late 2006 was a milestone endeavor with great prom-
ise for 2007 As such, we began the New Year with a
focus on integrating Majestic business into CRM, while
successfully managing our self-insured groups and
reinsurance operations. As the year progressed, it was
clear that the market for the self-insured group product
in New York was becoming increasingly difficult. And
while the California market remained exciting, rates
were still soft and the environment competitive. We
knew expansion was essential, but costs would need to
remain in line with the best in the industry — never an
easy combination o execute. Still, the year progressed
with a continued eye to the future, never losing sight of

our long-term goals.

| am very pleased to say that as | look back from where
we stand today, 2007 was a great year. Majeslic has
become a vital and vibrant part of the CRM group.
Majestic contributed $71 million of primary insurance
revenues to the group from its home market in
California, competing successfully while writing prudent

risk at fair prices. It also contributed $20 million from

states outside California, including $16 million from the
entirely new markets of New York, where it began writ-
ing business only in October, and New Jersey. As a
result, CRM now has a primary insurance business that
is admitted in seventeen states, has a significant pres-
ence on the East and West coasts, and a business that
contributed $16 million of the group’s $29 million of

income before taxes.

Our larger combined book of reinsurance needs has
allowed us to negotiate superior arrangements in the
reinsurance market. The result has been the ability to
reinsure greater excess layers this year for less than
we were paying for the smaller layers in 2006, thus
reducing our risk and increasing our profitability in the
layers we retain. This has been a significant benefit to
Twin Bridges, our Bermuda-based reinsurance arm.
Twin Bridges had another good year, contributing $16
million to our pre-tax profits before corporate and other
overhead, compared to $13 million last year. lts reinsur-
ance from self-insured groups in New York has been
declining, but it has begun writing policies for non-affil-

iated third parties to increase and diversify its book.




Qur self-insured business remains very important to us.
It represenis the origins of CRM. CRM's ability to add
hands-on client service, including claims management
and safety monitoring, are the reasons why we are able
to differentiate ourselves in a market that so often pro-
vides a commodity service. At times when that com-
modity is cheap, it is harder for our brokers to justify the
higher price higher service model to their clients.
However, that high service niche is still appreciated by
those who value risk management, and recognize that a
tangible link exists between the benefits to their overall
revenues from good safety practice and reduced lost
time through accidents, and the modest cost of the
services CRM's fee-based practice provides. We are in
this business for the long term, but it did lose money for
us this year. Despite increasing our group membership
count to 422 in California, this 5% increase was not
enough to combat declining rates. The New York mar-
ket had a 20.5% rate decline imposed by the regulator
in October. OQur $3 million loss before corporate and
other overhead represented an $8 million turnaround
for the fee-based business from the $5 million of prof-

it it made fast year. Regretfully, yet prudently, we have

had to recognize that our cost structure does not serve

us well with the current level of fee-based work we
have, especially in New York where the self-insured
group market has declined. Reducing headcount is
never easy, and | appreciate the efforts of those who
have left us, and those who remain who have done a
great job of staying focused on providing excellent

service to our clients and our brokers.

CRM'’s ability to add hands-on
client service, including claims
management and safety monitoring,

are the reasons why we are able to
differentiate ourselvesina
market that so often provides a

commodity service.



Financially, we remain in excellent shape overall after a

very good performance for the year. Earnings per share
were $1.24 compared to $0.88 last year. This number
contained what we think are practical reserve releases
and the favorable effect from the novation of policies to
us from a previous US carrier. Even without these
effects, earnings per share would have been $0.94
cents, a 7% increase. The combined ratios at Majestic
and Twin Bridges were 90.9% and 48.2% respectively,
both improvements over the prior year. Our profitability
has increased our book value per diluted share to
$6.59 from $5.15 in the prior year, an increase of 28%.
Our investment partfolio has no sub-prime lean expo-
sure, we have no structured investments of any kind
and our portfolio of municipal bonds would still be rated

Aa, even without monoline credit insurance.

Our Future

The insurance markets continue along in the soft phase
of the rate cycle. The California market continues to
show lower rates, although the speed at which rates are
declining has slowed somewhat. The New York market
is following the 20.5% rate decline ordered by the reg-
ulator, and we simply don't know if further cuts will be
ordered during 2008, The good news in both states is
that there is an underlying reason for lower rates,
namely lower claims experience. We therefore feel that
we are in an excellent position to be able to write new
primary business on terms that are prudent, even at

these lower rate levels,

Regardless of the phase of the rate cycle, the team at
CRM has shown its ahility to take its future into its own
hands: to offer our brokers the best service in the
industry; to stay focused on serving the industries we
know; to offer products we understand; and to be disci-
plined in the risks we underwrite. This will be our con-

tinued vision for 2008, We have a very strong base




from which to operate and our strategy wilt be to reach
out into a number of new geographies where we do not
write business currently, for example Florida, where we
are already filed and approved and have thirty broker
relationships in place. We also plan to expand our prod-
uct offering; adding one or two products such as surety
guarantees on a selective basis. We also expect to add
business in California, where our broker network was
strengthened with the merge of CRM and Majestic; and
in New York and New Jersey, where we now have a net-
work of over 100 handpicked brokers working with us.
We anticipate selective acquisitions and will pursue
strategic alliances, Certainly our fee-based service infra-
structure has the ability to handle more business, and
we can grow market presence through acquisition more

quickly than by arganic growth.

In closing, | would like to once again thank all of our
employees and the Board of Directors, who have been
vital to the success we have achieved this past year.
| would also like to thank all of the shareholders who
have remained loyal and have shared our long-term
vision for CRM, even when it seems that every turn of
the market has added another hurdle to reach our
goals. In truth, we are in a strong, strategic position to
realize our short-term and long-term goals. § ook for-
ward to reporting more achievements and milestones

as 2008 progresses.

Respectfully,

/./'/

Baniel G. Hickey, Jr.

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

, The team at CRM has shown its ab ility to
¥ take its future into its own hands:
" to offer our brokers the best service in
;[he iIldU.StI'y; to stay focused on serving

the industries we know: to offer products we
understand; and to be diSCiplil’led in the
risks we underwrite. This will be our

continued vision for 2008.
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INFORMATION CONCERNING DEFINITIONS AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

In this report, we use the terms “Company,” “we,” *us” or “our” to refer to CRM Holdings, Ltd. and its
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, unless otherwise indicated or unless the context otherwise requires. All
references in this report to our entity names are set forth in the following table, unless otherwise indicated or unless
the context otherwise requires:

Reference Entity’s Legal Name
CRMHoldings ........... ... ... o nn.. CRM Holdings, Lid.

TwinBridges. . .. ........... ... ... ... .. Twin Bridges (Bermuda) Litd.
CRMUSAHoldings ......................... CRM USA Holdings Inc.

CRM e Collectively: Compensation Risk Managers, LLC;

Compensation Risk Managers of
California, LLC; and Eimar, LLC
Embarcadero. .. ......... .. ... ... . o Collectively: Embarcadero Insurance Holdings, Inc.;
Majestic Insurance Company; Great
Western Insurance Services, Inc.; and
Redhorse Insurance Company, Ltd.

Majestic .. ... .. . e e e Majestic Insurance Company

References to our common shares include our non-voting Class B shares, unless the context indicates
otherwise. All amounts in this report are expressed in U.S. dollars and the financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, or GAAP, except as
otherwise indicated.




FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains forward looking stalements, which include, without limitation, statements about our
plans, strategies and prospects. These statements are based on our current expectations and projections about future

ELIRTY

events and are identified by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” *scheduled,” “plan,” “seek,”
“intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “aim,” “potential,” or “continue” or the negative of those terms or other
comparable terminology. These statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from historical earnings and those presently anticipated or projected. Although we
believe that our plans, intentions and expectations are reasonable, we may not achieve such plans, intentions or
expectations.

The following are some of the factors that could affect financial performance or could cause actual results to
differ materially from estimates contained in or underlying our forward-looking statements:

« the cyclical nature of the insurance and reinsurance industry;
* premium rates;

* investment results;

« legislative and regulatory changes;

« the estimation of loss reserves and loss reserve development,
» reinsurance may be unavailable on acceptable terms, and we may be unable to collect reinsurance;
« the occurrence and effects of wars and acts of terrorism;

= the effects of competition;

« failure to retain key personnel;

« economic downturns; and

» patural disasters.

You should carefully read this report, the documents that we reference in this report and have filed as exhibits,
together with all other documents we have filed with the SEC, with the understanding that our actual future results,
levels of activity, performance and achievements may be different from what we expect and that these differences
may be material. We qualify all of our forward looking statements by these cautionary statements. We undertake no
obligation to update any of the forward locking statements after the date of this report to conform those statements
to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by applicable law.
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PART 1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a provider of workers’ compensation insurance products. Our main business activities include
underwriting primary workers' compensation policies, underwriting workers’ compensation reinsurance and
excess insurance policies, and providing fee-based management and other services to self-insured entities. We
provide primary workers’ compensation insurance to employers in California, Arizona, Florida, Nevada, New Jer-
sey, New York, and other states. We reinsure some of the primary business we underwrite and provide excess
workers’ compensation coverage for self-insured organizations. Finally, we provide fee-based management
services to self-insured groups in California and New York.

CRM HoMdings is a holding company formed in September 2005 under the laws of Bermuda. We provide
primary workers’ compensation insurance products through Majestic, which was incorporated in California in
1980. We provide reinsurance products through Twin Bridges, which was formed as a Class 3 exempted insurance
company under the laws of Bermuda in 2003. We provide fee-based management services through CRM, which
began operations in New York in 1999 and expanded to California in 2003. CRM USA Holdings is the holding
company for our U.S. operations and was incorporated in Delaware in December 2005. Embarcadero is the holding
company for Majestic and was formed in 1986 under the laws of California.

We completed our initial public offering in December 2005. In the offering, we sold 6,000,000 shares of
common shares and raised $68.7 million, net of underwriting and offering expenses of $9.3 million. We contributed
$47 million of the IPO proceeds to Twin Bridges to support the growth of our reinsurance business and $6.5 million
to CRM to repay the entire amount outstanding under a credit facility and for general working capital.
CRM Holdings’ common shares are listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol CRMH. In
February 2007, we completed a public offering of 2,882,643 shares of common shares. All of these shares were
offered by existing shareholders, and we did not receive any of the proceeds from this offering.

We report our business in four segments: (1} primary insurance; (2) reinsurance; (3) fee-based management
services; and (4) corporate and other. Qur primary insurance segment was added with the acquisition of
Embarcadero on November 14, 2006. By segment revenues, income before taxes and total assets for the last
three fiscal years are described in Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 21 — Business
Segments.

Industry Background

Workers’ compensation is a statutory system under which an employer is required to pay for its employees’
costs of medical care and other statutorily prescribed benefits for work-relaied injuries or illnesses. Most employers
comply with this requirement by purchasing workers’ compensation insurance. The principal concept underlying
workers’ compensation laws is that employees injured in the course of their employment have only the legal
remedies available under those laws and do not have any other claims against their employers. Generally, workers
are covered for injuries that occur in the course and within the scope of their employment. The employers’
obligation to compensate injured workers does not depend on any negligence or wrongdoing of the employer and
exists even for injuries that result from the negligence or wrongdoing of others, including the injured employee. The
benefits payable and the duration of such benefits are set by statute and vary by state and with the nature and severity
of the injury or disease and the wages, occupation and age of the employee.

Workers’ compensation insurance policies obligate the carrier to pay benefits that the insured employer may
become obligated to pay under applicable workers™ compensation laws. Each state has a regulatory and adjudi-
catory system that quantifies the level of wage replacement to be paid, determines the level of medical care required
to be provided and the cost of permanent impairment, and specifies the options in selecting healthcare providers
available to the injured employee or the employer.

State laws generally require two types of benefits for injured employees: medical benefits and indemnity
payments. Medical benefits include expenses related to diagnosis and treatment of the injury and any required
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rehabilitation. Indemnity payments consist of temporary wage replacement, permanent disability payments and
death benefits to surviving family members. To fulfill this mandated financial obligation, employers may purchase
workers’ compensation insurance from a private insurance carrier, a state-sanctioned assigned risk pool or a self-
insurance group (an entity that allows employers to obtain workers” compensation coverage on a pooled basis,
typically subjecting each employer to joint and several liability for the entire fund} or, if permitted by their state,
may self-insure, thereby retaining all risk.

Primary Insurance Segment
Overview

Our primary insurance segment includes the underwriting of workers’ compensation insurance products
offered through Majestic, our California domiciled insurance company. We offer primary workers’ compensation
insurance through independent insurance brokers and agents to various size businesses and excess and frequency
coverage policies to self-insured entities. We acquired Majestic in November 2006. Before the acquisition, Majestic
also provided coverage under the United States Longshore and Harbor Workers’ Compensation Act (“USL&H
Act™), although we have since decided to no longer offer this type of coverage. We believe that Majestic’s
experience in underwriting complex risks allows it to target potential accounts with attractive premiums relative to
exposure, good employee relations and effective risk management policies.

Majestic is currently rated “A—" (Excellent) by A.M. Best Company, Inc., or A.M. Best. This rating was
upgraded from “B++" (Very Good) following our acquisition of Majestic, and the upgraded rating has provided us
with the ability to bid on business that had previously been unavailable to Majestic due to minimum rating
requirements by some employers and brokers.

Our long-term strategy in the primary workers’ compensation segment is to attract policyholders requiring
quality services based on adequate premium rates for the exposure. During periods of intense competition or other
adverse industry conditions, Majestic’s premium revenue may be reduced as employers buy elsewhere because we
adhere to a long-standing operating principle that we will not compromise the adequacy of our premium rates in
order to achieve revenue or market share objectives, OQur value proposition is that our services, including our claims
handlings and loss control, over the long-run, provide employers the opportunity to reduce their experience
modification factor and thereby, their long-term workers’ compensation costs.

Majestic seeks to underwrite better than average risks in a diversity of classifications which have been in
business no less than three years. While not limited to a specific list of classification codes, Majestic focuses on
contractors, transportation, healthcare, wholesale and retail, manufacturing, auto dealers, hospitality, physicians
and dentists, colleges and universities, banks and other classes on a case by case basis. As of December 31, 2007,
Majestic had more than 1,094 policyholders with an average annual workers’ compensation policy premium of
$122 thousand. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, our ten largest policyholders accounted for 22% and 18%,
respectively, of our gross premiums. Our policy renewal rate on voluntary business that we elected to quote for
renewal was 83% and 73% in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Majestic is licensed to write workers’ compensation insurance in 16 states: Alaska, Arizona, California,
Florida, Hawaii, ldaho, [llinois, Montana, Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, Oregon, Utah, Virginia
and Washington. During 2007, we wrote workers” compensation insurance in 10 states. Prior to our acquisition,
Majestic issued policies primarily to businesses located in California. After our acquisition, however, we expanded
Maijestic’s coverage to include excess and frequency coverage to self-insured groups beginning in January 2007,
New Jersey for primary workers’ compensation policies beginning in April 2007, and New York and Florida for
primary workers’ compensation policies beginning in October 2007. The following table sets forth Majestic’s direct
premiums written by state and as a percentage of total direct written premiums for the last two fiscal years, as
Majestic was not included in our results of operations prior to our November 2006 acquisition:




Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
(Dollars in thousands)
California . ... ... ... . . e e, $106,153 64% $61,269 92%
New York . .. ... ... e, 48,617 29% — 0%
New Jersey ... ..o 0,464 4% — 0%
AMZONA. « . o it it e e e 1,733 1% 435 1%
AlasKa ... e e e 885 1% 1,664 2%
Nevada . .. ... .o i e e e e e 554 0% 124 0%
Washington. ... ..., .. .. e 1,130 1% 3,108 5%
L0 11 1 1= - 127 0% 5y _ 0%
Total .. ... . e $165,663 100% 66,585 100%

On June 28, 2007, we consummated an agreement with NY Marine & General Insurance Company, which we
refer to in this annual report as the “Novation Agreement.” Under the terms of the Novation Agreement, Majestic
was substituted as the insurance company for almost all of the excess policies previously issued by NY Marine &
General to certain of the self-insured groups we manage. NY Marine & General transferred and assigned to Majestic
all of its respective rights, duties and obligations under the excess workers’ compensation policies issued to certain
of our self-insured groups during the policy years 2003 through 2006. In connection with this, NY Marine &
General also transferred and assigned its rights, duties and obligations to Majestic under two quota share
reinsurance agreements between NY Marine & General and Twin Bridges, which are discussed below under
the heading “Business — Primary Insurance Segment — Reinsurance — Quota Share Reinsurance.”

Production of Business

We sell our primary workers’ compensation insurance solutions through independent agents and brokers.
Majestic currently maintains a marketing presence in California, New Jersey, New York, Arizona, Nevada,
Washington and Florida and policies are currently placed through approximately 184 independent agents and
brokers. In evaluating Majestic’s agent and broker relationships, we give strong consideration to the business
segments in which an agent or broker operates and we are careful to limit the geographic overlap of our agents and
brokers, We also monitor premium and account loss activity on a monthly basis and conduct an annnal review of all
of our brokers on the basis of production and loss results, We compensate these independent agents and brokers by
paying a commission based on the premium collected from the policyholder. Our independent agents and brokers do
not have the authority to underwrite or bind coverage. Majestic’s ten largest independent agents and brokers
produced approximately 38% and 49% of its premiums in-force as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Underwriting and Pricing

QOur underwriting strategy for primary workers’ compensation insurance is to underwrite individual risks as
opposed to focusing on a specific group of industries. We seek to identify businesses with, among other things,
above average wage and benefit levels, below average employee turnover, low claims frequency and existing loss
control and return-to-work programs.

Majestic offer four types of workers’ compensation insurance products and services:

Guaranteed Cost Plans. These plans are fixed-cost insurance products in which the policy’s premium
charges do not vary as a result of the loss experience of the insured. Premiums are developed by: (1) applying the
applicable industry rate to the policyholder’s aggregate payroll; (2) adjusting for the historical modification factor
applicable to the policyholder; (3) making further adjustments based on the policyholder’s loss history; and
{4) adjusting for our premium/discount factors based on considerations such as the insured’s safety record, length of
time in business and other underwriting metrics.




Risk-Sharing Products. Majestic’s risk-sharing products generally consist of retrospective rate plans and
large deductible plans. With retrospective rate plans, our premiums are adjusted based upon the actual loss
experience of the policyholder during the policy period. The policyholder will receive returned premium if the
actual loss experience is lower than expected or pay additional premium if the actual loss experience is higher than
expected, subject to minimum and maximum premium. With respect to large deductible plans, we provide claims
handling, risk control and other administrative services; however, we only pay policyholder claims in excess of a
deductible. The deductible level is typically intended to cover a large majority of estimated losses.

Loss Mitigation Program.  This program is subscribed for by a policyholder in conjunction with its workers’
compensation coverage. The program, which we refer to as the “HealthCare Organizational Plan,” is designed to
provide employers with better control of workers’ compensation losses while ensuring long-term quality treatment.
The plan is designed 1o return injured workers to work faster, close claims sooner and reduce associated litigation.

Excess and Frequency Coverage. Self-insured groups and entities are generally required to purchase excess
and frequency workers’ compensation coverage from U.S. admitted insurers. This “‘excess coverage” insures the
self-insured group or entities for claims that exceed a minimum level of retention. The self-insured groups or
entities also purchases coverage to insure against the risk that a large number of claims will occur and result in losses
that are each less than retention level but in the aggregate result in such losses that could exhaust their resources.
This “frequency coverage” is triggered in the event that the aggregate amount of losses and loss adjustment
expenses during the coverage period exceeds a percentage of the premiums paid to the groups by their members. If
triggered, the frequency coverage will insure up to a specified amount of losses and loss adjustment expenses of the
group during the coverage period.

Risk Assessment and Loss Control Services

We place a strong emphasis on our loss control function as an integral part of the underwriting process as well
as a competitive differentiator. Majestic’s loss control department delivers risk level evaluations to our underwriters
with respect to the degree of an employer’s management commitment to safety and acts as a resource for our
customers to support the promotion of a safe workplace. We believe that this experience benefits us by allowing us
to serve our customers more efficiently and effectively. Our loss control staff evaluates each prospective customer’s
safety program elements and key loss control measures, supported with explanations in an internal report to the
appropriate underwriter. Our loss control staff develops detailed policyholder service plans outlining corrective
actions needed to address potentially hazardous conditions or safety program deficiencies and proactively monitors
policyholder actions to ensure compliance.

Claims Management

Our claims management services involve the administration and management of a claim from the time it is
brought to our attention until the claim is finally setiled. We have established procedures to record reported
insurance claims, regardless of size, in a claims database upon receipt of notice of the claim. We attempt to make
contact with the injured worker, treating physician and employer within 24 hours after receiving a claim. This focus
on timely reporting and follow-up allows us to mitigate claims and loss adjustment expenses and identify potential
fraud. Majestic periodically updates its database for any developments affecting a claim.

Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

We record reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses (“loss reserves”) under insurance policies that
Majestic writes. These loss reserves are balance sheet liabilities representing estimates of future amounis required
to pay losses and loss adjustment expenses for claims that have occurred at or before the balance sheet date and
reported to us or incurred but not yet reported to us. Loss reserves are required under applicable insurance laws and
regulations and GAAP.

Loss reserves do not represent an exact calculation of liability, but instead represent management’s best
estimates, generally utilizing actuarial expertise and projection techniques, at a given accounting date. Reserves for
losses and loss adjustment expenses are estimates and are inherently uncertain; they do not and cannot represent an
exact measure of liability. Several factors contribute to the uncertainty in establishing these estimates. J udgment is
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required in actuarial estimation to ascertain the relevance of historical payment and claim settlement patierns under
current facts and circumstances. Key assumptions in the estimation process are the average cost of claims over time,
which is referred to as severity trends, including the increasing level of medical, legal and rehabilitation costs,
frequency risks, fluctuations in inflation, prevailing economic, social and judicial trends, legislative changes, third
party claims handling procedures and costs associated with fraud or other abuses of the medical claim process. In
addition, there may be a significant delay between the occurrence of the insured event and the time it is actually
reported to us. The time period between the occurrence date and payment date of a loss is referred to as the “claim-
tail.” Workers® compensation claims are generally considered to have long claim-tails, occasionally extending for
decades, which adds greater uncertainty to determining the ultimate liability.

Loss reserves fall into two categories: (1) “case reserves” and (2) reserves for “incurred-but-not-reported.”
When losses are reported to us, Majestic establishes, individually, a “case reserve” for the estimated amount of its
uliimate settlement and its estimated loss adjustment expenses. Case reserves are established for reported tosses and
loss adjustment expenses associated with a specific reported insured claim They are established based upon the
amount of claims reported and may subsequently be supplemented or reduced, as Majestic’s claims department
deems necessary. In addition to our case reserves, at the end of any financial reporting period, there are a number of
claims that have not yet been reported but will arise out of accidents that have already occurred. These are referred
to in the insurance industry as “incurred-but-not-reported,” or IBNR. We rely upon actuarial estimates to establish
our IBNR reserves for loss amounts, including expected development of reported claims. These IBNR reserves
include estimated loss adjustment expenses. Qur actuaries calculate IBNR reserves by using generally accepted
actuarial techniques, relying on the most recent information available, including pricing information, industry
informaticn and our historical losses and expenses and revise these reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses
as additional information becomes available and as claims are reported and paid.

Our actuaries produce a point estimate for Majestic’s loss reserves using the results of various methods of
estimation. Majestic’s actuaries prepare reserve estimates using Majestic’s own historical claims data and based
upon many of the common actuarial methodologies for estimating loss reserves, such as paid development methods,
incurred development methods, Bornheutter-Ferguson indications and claim count methods. Majestic’s actuaries
use these actuarial methods to determine reserve estimates for each accident year. The actuarial point estimate is
based on a selection of the results of these various methods depending upon the age of the occurrence, the
geographic state of the injury and the line of business (primary workers’ compensation versus USL&H). Majestic’s
actuaries have historically assigned a 5% materiality factor below the point estimate and a 10% materiality factor
above the point estimate. If Majestic’s reserves as reflected on its balance sheet are within this range, we consider
the estimates to be reasonable.

In order to refine our loss reserve estimates, we analyze Majestic’s claims data using actuarially acceptabie
methods of predicting future liabilities based upon historical resulis, In doing so, we rely on the analysis of our more
than 54 thousand claims in our 21-year history, These methods look at historical paid losses at various points in
time, claim counts and average costs of incurred losses, counts and average values of unpaid losses, as well as
variations of such techniques. Estimates of ultimate claims liability for each accident year are derived using such
techniques and Majestic adjusts the ultimate estimated claims liability for prior accident years during the year, only
to the extent that there is enough overall evidence that a material change has occurred that would result in a material
change in its prior year-end estimate of ultimate claims liability.

In addition, for the most current accident year, Majestic uses a loss ratio method that starts with the projected
loss ratios for the prior accident year, adjusted for projected wage inflation, loss cost inflation, and pricing
adjustments. This adjusted loss ratio is applied to the earned premium for the current accident year to derive the
ultimate estimated claims liability for the current accident year which becomes one of the components of the overall
estimated claims liability reflected on our balance sheet. Majestic’s estimate of the ultimate claims liability for the
current accident year is reviewed quarterly and is adjusted throughout the current year. Additional factors that
influence the incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses for a given period include the number of exposures
covered in the current year, trends in the frequency and severity of claims, or changes in the cost of adjusting claims.

Although many factors influence the actual cost of claims and the corresponding unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses estimates, we do not measure and estimate values for all of these variables individually. This is
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due to the fact that many of the factors that are known to impact the cost of claims cannot be measured directly. This
is the case for the impact on claim costs due to economic inflation, coverage interpretations and jury determinations.
In most instances, we rely on historical experience or industry information to estimate values for the variables that
are explicitly used in the unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses analysis. We assume that the historical effect of
these unmeasured factors, which is embedded in Majestic’s expetience or industry experience, is representative of
future effects of these factors. In the event that Majestic has reason to expect a change in the effect of one of these
factors, we perform analyses to quantify the necessary adjustments. It is important to note that actual claim costs
will vary from our estimate of ultimate claim costs, perhaps by substantial amounts, due to the inherent variability of
the business written, the potentially significant claim settlement lags and the fact that not all events affecting future
claim costs can be estimated.

Using techniques similar to those described above, we also estimate reductions in Majestic’s claims liabilities
as a result of reinsurance receivables and amounts recoverable through subrogation. Majestic’s reinsurance
program, in particular, significantly influences the level of net retained losses. Under Majestic’s reinsurance
program, the reinsurers assume a portion of the loss and loss adjustment expenses incurred in excess of certain loss
thresholds or share on a proportional basis in certain losses. Receivables from reinsurers are a function of estimated
loss reserves and are therefore subject to similar uncertainties. In addition, reinsurance recoverables may ultimately
prove to be uncollectible if the reinsurer is unable to perform under the contract. Reinsurance contracts do not
relieve Majestic of its obligations to its policyholders.

Our best estimate of our ultimate liability for Majestic’s total unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses as of
December 31, 2007, net of reinsurance receivables and subrogation recoveries, was $134.9 million. This amount is
expected to cover all future losses and loss adjustment expense payments for all claims that are known by Majestic
as of December 31, 2007, as well as claims where the injury has occurred but the claim has not been reported. As of
December 31, 2007, Majestic had 3,723 open claims. Majestic’s reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses
(gross and net), as well as our case and IBNR reserves, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are shown
below. The 2007 figures are shown net of elimination of intercompany loss reserves and reinsurance recoverables of
$291 thousand and $18.2 million.

As of and for the Year

Ended December 31,
2007 2006
{In thousands)
GRS TBSBIVES . o o o ottt et e e e et s e et ettt e e e $ 86,813 § 77,639
IBN R . i e e 66,720 49,739
Loss adjustment eXpenses . . .. ... ... e 21,840 20,658
Fair value adjustment of loss reserves .. ...............coivanannnn. (4,964) (6,156)
Gross unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses . . .................. 170,409 141,880
Reinsurance recoverables on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses,
0 o - (42,727)  (35,7714)
Fair value adjustment of reinsurance recoverables. .. .................. 7,240 6,861
Net unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses . .. ..........c.oou... $134922  $112,967

As discussed above, there is inherent uncertainty in estimating our reserves for loss and loss adjustment
expenses. To the extent that these estimates prove to be inadequate, we will experience unexpected increases in the
unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses and a corresponding reduction in income in future periods. To the extent
these estimates are overstated, we will have redundant unpaid losses and loss adjustment expense amounts resulting
in additional income in future periods. It is possible that our actual loss and loss adjustment expenses incurred may
vary significantly from our estimates.

There are a number of variables that can impact the adequacy of Majestic’s reserves for losses and loss
adjustment expenses, including trends in the frequency and severity of claims, changes in the legal environment,
claim inflation, the cost of ciaim settlements, and legislative reforms. While the actuarial methods employed factor
in amounts for these circumstances, they may prove to be inadequate. For example, there may be a number of claims
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where the unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses associated with future medical treatment proves to be
inadequate because the injured worker does not respond to medical treatment as expected by the claims examiner.
Another example is claim inflation, which can result from medical cost inflation or wage inflation. The actuarial
methods employed include an amount for claim inflation based on historical experience. To the extent that the
historical factors, and the actuarial methods utilized, are inadequate to recognize future inflationary trends,
Majestic’s reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses may be inadequate. The amount of any such inadequacy
would depend on the mix of medical and indemnity payments and the length of time until the claims are paid.

Reconciliation of Loss Reserves. The following table provides a reconciliation of Majestic’s beginning and
ending reserve balances, net-of-reinsurance receivables, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, to
the gross-of-reinsurance amounts reported in Majestic’s balance sheets as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
including the 2007 elimination of intercompany loss reserves and reinsurance recoverables of $291 thousand and
$18.2 million, respectively,

As of and for the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006(1) 2005(1)
{In thousands)

Grossbalance at January 1.. ... ... . ... ... ... ........ $141,880  $140,583  $142,250
Less reinsurance recoverable . .......... .. ... . . ... ..., (28,913) (35,588) (43,931)
Net balance at January 1 . ................... ... ...... 112,967 104,995 93,319
Fair value adjustment of lossreserves . .. ................. 1,192 (6,156} —
Fair value adjustment of reinsurance recoverable. .. ......... 379 6,861 —
Total fair value adjustment . . . ................ ... ...... 1,571 703 —
Incurred related to:
Current Year. . . ... ... .. e 61,915 48,160 44,039
Prioryears. .. ... . . e (6,521) (6,551) 897
Total ncurred .. ... ... e 55,394 41,609 44,936
Paid related to:
LTy (LA = 1 (11,036) (8,773) (7,533)
Prior years. . ... ... . e (23,974)  (25,569) (30,727)
Totalpald .. ... ... e e e (35,010) (34,342  (38,260)
Net balance at December 31, .. ... ... . ... ............ 134,922 112,967 104,995
Plus reinsurance recoverable. . .. ........ . ... ... .. ... ... 35,487 28,913 35,588
Gross balance — December 31 . ... ... ... .. ... . ... ..... $170,409 $l41,8.80 $140,583

(1) We acquired Majestic on November 14, 2006. The results in the table above as of December 31, 2005 and 2006
are not included in our consolidated results, except for the period from November 14, 2006 to December 31,
2006.

During 2007, Majestic benefited from a $5.0 million decrease in incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses
relating to prior accident years. The favorable development was predominantly from accident year 2006, where
reported indemnity claims and average cost per claim “developed” better than expected. As Majestic recetves new
information and updates in its assumptions over time regarding the ultimate liabilities, its loss reserves may prove to
be inadequate to cover its actual losses or they may prove to exceed the ultimate amount of its actual losses. The
amount by which estimated losses, measured subsequently by reference to payments and additional estimates, differ
from those originally reported for a period is known as “development” in the insurance industry. Development is
favorable when losses ultimately settle for less than the amount reserved or subsequent estimates indicate a basis for
reducing loss reserves on open claims. Development is unfavorable when losses ultimately settle for more than the
levels at which they were reserved or subsequent estimates indicate a basis for reserve increases on open claims,
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In previous years, a significant portion of Majestic’s policies were retrospective rating plans or risk-sharing
plans. As a result, the $5.0 million in favorable loss development in 2007 was partially offset by $2.4 million in
additional return premiums ultimately owed on retrospective policies. The market demand for retrospective policies
in California has since decreased, with these policies now representing less than 5% of Majestic’s premiums in
force.

The $5.0 million in favorable development recorded this year is similar to the $6.6 million recorded in 2006,
We believe this favorable development is due to the legislative reforms implemented in California in 2003 and 2004,
which have significantly reduced losses per payroll beginning with the 2004 accident year.

Loss Reserve Development. The table below shows the development of Majestic’s reserve for losses and loss
adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance, for years ended December 31, 1997 through 2007. The accompanying data
is not accident year data, but rather a dispiay of 1997 to 2007 year-end reserves and the subsequent changes in those
reserves. The accompanying data does not include the elimination of intercompany loss reserves and reinsurance
recoverables of $291 thousand and $18.2 million or the GAAP fair value purchase accounting adjustments that
reduced loss teserves and reinsurance recoverables by $4.9 million and $7.2 million, respectively.

Section A of the table shows the estimated liability for losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance,
recorded at the balance sheet date for each of the indicated years for all current and prior accident years. This
liability represents the estimated amount of losses and loss adjustment expenses for claims arising for all years that
are unpaid at the balance sheet date, including losses that have been incurred but not yet reported and reduced by
estimates of amounts recoverable under reinsurance contracts. Section B of the table shows the re-estimated amount
of the previously recorded liability, based on experience as of the end of each succeeding year. The estimate is
increased or decreased as more information becomes known about the frequency and severity of claims.

Sections C and G of the table show the aggregate change in the net and gross liability, respectively, from
original balance sheet dates and the re-estimated liability through December 31, 2007. Thus, changes in ultimate
development estimates are included in operations over a number of years, minimizing the significance of such
changes in any one year. The Novation Agreement with NY Marine & General resulted in the recording of
additional loss reserves for 2003 through 2007 that overstate the reserve deficiency shown in Sections C and G. The
reserve amounts related to the Novation Agreement are shown below (in thousands):

2003 2004 2008 2006
Section C: Net (Deficiency) ........ .. ..o, (106) (2,148) (4,651) (6,944)
Section G: Gross (Deficiency) . .......... .. .o o (216) (3,085 (8,132) (15,987)

Section D of the table shows the cumulative amount of net losses and loss adjustment expenses paid relating to
recorded liabilities as of the end of each succeeding year. Section E of the table shows the re-estimated liability
reduced by estimated reinsurance receivables and Section F of the table shows the re-estimated gross liability before
the reduction of reinsurance receivables through December 31, 2007.




Years Ended December 31,

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
(Dollars in thousands)

Section A. Reserve for

unpaid loss and loss

adjustment

expenses, net of

reinsurance

recoveries .. ..... $40,043 $46352 $52413 $ 63,745 $ 66999 $ 76,389 § 87613 $ 98319 §$104995 $112,262 $132,937
Section B. Reserve, net

of reinsurance

recoveries, re-

estimated as of:

One year later ., ... 37,143 46439 50,554 68,509 73,153 90,093 95,137 99,216 98444 112,735

Two years fater . ... 36464 41,212 51,608 70,883 83,038 95,533 102,636 101,313 102,252

Three years later ... 31,427 41727 52,404 74,250 87,246 101,133 105938 104,072

Four years later . ... 32,173 42022 53,668 77,158 §9.875 103,584 106,631

Five years later . ... 32,327 43,175 55275  78,57% 92448 104,993

Six years later . . ... 33332 44383 56,093 80,355 94,663

Seven years later ... 34,391 44522 57,266 82,905

Eight years tater, ... 34318 45,320 59,705

Nine years later . ... 35276 47.784

Ten years later. . . . . 37,681
Section C. Net

Cumulative

Redundancy

{Deficiency) . . . . .. 2363 (1,432) (7,291} (19,160) (27,664) (28,604) (19,018)  (5,753) 2,743 (473)
Section D. Paid, net

{comulative) as of:

One year later . . . .. 8342 15782 17422 2132 31,844 33768 31878 30729 25569 23974

Two years later , ... 17,276 24018 31,331 46,5'{0 52,008 55,410 53,239 49322 40,204

Three years later . . 21,713 30,684 39683 57,249 63,543 68.588 66,039 59,274

Four years later . ... 25371 34766 44,193 63,228 70,490 76,609 72,646

Five years later . ... 27612 36497 46,737 66,383 74,635 80,937

Six years later . . ... 28,098 38017 48,192 68,602 77,536

Seven years later ... 29,007 38664 49370 70,136

Eight years later. ... 29430 39466 50,550

Nine years later . ... 30,107 40,292

Ten years later. . .. . 30,869
Net Liability —

December 31,. . ... 40,043 46352 52413 63,745 66,999 76,38% 87613 098319 104,995 112262 132937
Receivable from

reinsurers for unpaid

losses . ......... 23830 18,347 19,547 21.827 31,384 33,037 40,757 43,931 35,588 35,774 60,908
Gross Liability —

December 31, . . ... 63,873 64699 71980 91,572 98383 109426 128,370 142250 140,583 148,036 193,845
Section E, Re-

estimated liability,

net............ 37,681 47,784 59,705 82,905 94,663 104993 106,631 104,072 102,252 112,735
Re-estimated receivable

from reinsurers for

unpaid losses. .. ... 14,680 16,089 16457 33,050 48,035 51,660 54,065 52,297 47726 53442
Section F, Re-

estimated liability,

Bross. . ......... 52361 63873 76,161 115955 142,698 156,653 160,696 156368 149978 166,177
Section G. Gross

Cumulative
Redundancy

(Deficiency) .. ... . 1,512 826 (4201) (24383) (M315) 47,227y (32,326) (14,118)  (9,395) (18,141)




Investments

We invest the funds made available by Majestic’s capital and the net cash flows from operations, with the
objective to provide income and realized gains on investments. We manage Majestic’s investment pertfolio by
considering duration, asset/liability matching, sector allocation, execution expense, credit quality and concentration
and various regulatory requirements in formulating investment strategy and selecting securities.

Majestic’s investment objective is to maximize current yield while maintaining safety of capital together with
sufficient liquidity for ongoing insurance operations. Majestic’s investment portfolio is composed of fixed-income
and equity securities. We structure Majestic’s investment portfolio giving consideration to the expected timings of
the payout of its insurance liabilities. If our payout estimates are inaccurate, we may be forced to liquidate
investments prior to maturity at a significant loss to cover such liabilities. Investment losses could significantly
decrease our asset base, which will adversely affect our ability to conduct business and could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

As of December 31, 2007, Majestic had total invested assets of $216.9 million, of which $137.4 million were
on deposit with various regulatory agencies as required by law. A one percent increase in the current market interest
rates would cause the fair value of Majestic’s investment portfolio as of December 31, 2007 to decrease by
approximately $5.4 million. The following table shows the fair market values of various categories of Majestic’s
investment portfolio, the percentage of the total market value of Majestic’s invested assets represented by each
category and the tax equivalent yield to maturity based on the fair market value of each category of invested assets as
of the dates indicated:

/ As of December 31, 2007
Description of Securities Fair Value Percent of Total Yield
(Dollars in thousands)
U.S. Treasury and government sponsored agency securities . ... $ 32,043 15% 5.5%
Obligations of states and political subdivisions ............. 107,250 50% 5.0%
Corporate and other obligations. . ................ ... ... 55,232 _25% 4.7%
Total fixed-maturity securities. .. .. ... oo in i 194,525 _90% 5.0%
Equity securities . . .. ... ... i 22,374 0% —
Total investments, available forsale ..................... $216,399 100% —

The following table shows the ratings distribution of Majestic’s fixed-income portfolio by Standard and Poor’s
rating as a percentage of total market value as of the dates indicated:

As of
December 31,
Rating _ w7
(Dollars in
thousands)
{Unaudited)
- - P $106,626 55%
- W7 S N 55,670  29%
e S 29776 15%
SBBB™ . . et e e e 2453 1%
Total fixed-maturity Securities . . .. ..ot $194,525 100%

The following table shows the composition of Majestic’s investment portfolio by remaining time to maturity as
of the dates indicated. For securities that are redeemable at the option of the issuer and have a market price that is
greater than par value, the maturity used for the table below is the earliest redemption date. For securities that are
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redeemable at the option of the issuer and have a market price that is less than par value, the maturity used for the
table below is the final maturity date.
December 31, 2007

Amortized Cost Fair Value
(Dollars in thousands)

Dueinoneyearorless.......... ... ... .0 iuiiinnnan ... $ 21,385 $ 21476

Due after one year through five years .. ... .................... 125,058 126,901

Due after five years through tenyears . ... ....0................. 34,589 35,069

Due after ten years . . ... .. .. e e 11,005 11,079

Total fixed-maturity securities . ... ........ .. ... it $192.037 $194.525
Reinsurance

We purchase reinsurance for Majestic to reduce our net liability on individual risks and to protect against
possible catastrophes. Reinsurance involves an insurance company transferring to, or ceding, a portion of the
exposure on a risk to a reinsurer. The reinsurer assumes the exposure in return for a portion of our premium.
Reinsurance does not legally discharge us from primary liability for the full amount due under our policies.
However, our reinsurers are obligated to indemnify us to the extent of the coverage provided in our reinsurance
agreements. The cost and limits of reinsurance we purchase can vary from year to year based upon the availability of
quality reinsurance at an acceptable price and our desired level of retention. Retention refers to the amount of risk
that we retatn for our own account.

Excess of Loss Reinsurance.  Under excess of loss reinsurance, covered losses in excess of the retention level
up to the limit of the program are paid by the reinsurer. Our excess of loss reinsurance is written in layers, in which
our reinsurers accept a band of coverage up to a specified amount. Any liability exceeding the limit of the program
reverts to us as the ceding company.

Effective August I, 2007, Majestic entered into a new excess of loss reinsurance treaty program that applies to
losses incurred between August 1, 2007 and the date on which the reinsurance agreementis are terminated. This
reinsurance treaty program provides $99.5 million of reinsurance protection, per occurrence, for workers’
compensation losses in excess of a $500 thousand retention limit. Majestic retains Hability for any amounts of
losses and loss adjustment expenses that exceed $100 million up to the applicable statutory limit, The reinsurers
providing coverage include: Axis Specialty Limited, Catlin Insurance Company, Dorinco Reinsurance Company,
Endurance Specialty Insurance LTD., Hannover Re (Bermuda) Ltd., Hamnover Rueckversicherung AG,
Flagstone Re. Ltd., Max Re, Litd., Munich Re America Corporation, Partner Reinsurance Company of the
U.S., Tokio Millennium Re Ltd., Validus Reinsurance, Ltd., various Lloyd’s syndicates, and Twin Bridges, our
Bermuda-based reinsurance subsidiary. Twin Bridges has a 50% participation in a layer of Majestic’s excess of loss
treaty for the loss and loss adjustment expenses in excess of $500 thousand per occurrence up to $750 thousand, but
shall not exceed 250% of earned premium, exclusive of primary business written in New York and Florida. The
treaty was amended effective October 1, 2007, to increase the amount of coverage provided by Twin Bridges for
primary workers' compensation insurance issued by Majestic in the states of New York and Florida for losses of
$1.5 million in excess of the $500 thousand retention.

Quota Share Reinsurance.  Under quota share reinsurance, the reinsurer, or assuening company, accepts a pro
rata share of the insurer’s, or ceding company’s, losses and an equal share of the applicable premiums. The assuming
company also pays the ceding company a fee, known as a ceding commission, which is usually a percentage of the
premiums ceded. Quota share reinsurance allows the ceding company to increase the amount of business it could
otherwise write by sharing the risks with the assuming company. The effect of the quota share reinsurance on the
ceding company is similar 1o increasing its capital, the principal constraint on the amount of business an insurance
company can prudently write.

Majestic and Twin Bridges entered into a 90% quota share ceded reinsurance agreement effective January 1,
2007, which we refer to in this annual report as the “90% Quota Share Agreement,” with respect te all new and
renewal excess workers’ compensation insurance coverage issued to the self-insured groups managed by CRM. In
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addition, the consummation of the Novation Agreement transferred and assigned to Majestic two quota share
reinsurance agreements previously between NY Marine & General and Twin Bridges. These policies included a
50% ceded quota share arrangement for excess policies issued between December 2003 and November 2005, which
we refer to as the “50% Quota Share Agreement,” and a 70% ceded quota share arrangement for policies issued
between December 2005 through December 2006, which we refer to as the “70% Quota Share Agreement.” For the
layers of coverage outside of the Twin Bridges quota share reinsurance agreements, NY Marine & General obtained
consent agreements from each of its other reinsurers naming Majestic as an insured party on the reinsurance
agreements.

Recoverability of Ceded Reinsurance. Reinsurance makes the assuming reinsurer liable to the ceding
company to the extent of the reinsurance. It does not, however, discharge the ceding company from its primary
liability to its policyholders in the event the reinsurer is unable to meet its obligations under such reinsurance treaty.
To reduce our risk of the possibility of a reinsurer becoming unable to fulfill its obligations under the reinsurance
contracts, we attempt to select financially strong reinsurers with an A.M. Best rating of “A~" (Excellent) or better
and continue to evaluate their financial condition and monitor various credit risks to minimize our exposure to
losses from reinsurer insolvencies.

The following table is a summary of Majestic’s ten largest reinsurance recoverable balances, net of prepaid
reinsurance premiums, by reinsurer as of December 31, 2007:

Net Amount
Recoverable as of

December 31, AM Best Rating of
Reinsurer 2007 Reinsurer

{In thousands)
Hannover RK-INS . . .. e et iia s $12,593 A
Hannover Re — Bermuda . . . ... .. o0t 6,785 A
National Union Fire Insurance Co. of Pittsburgh PA ... ... .. 4,295 A++
Dorinco Reinsurance Company .. ... ..o verv e nnoennenn. 3,349 A-
The St. Paul Fire & Marine Insvorance Company . ........... 2,067 A+
AspenInsurance — UK .................... .. ... 1,520 A
Lloyd’s Underwriters . ... ... ..o, 1,450 A
Lloyd’s Syndicate —DP Mann Ltd. . .................... 1,257 A
Max ReLtd. —Bermuda . . . ..., e 1,108 A—-
Continental Casualty Company . ..., ........... .. u... 1,001 A

Reinsurance Segment
Overview

Our reinsurance segment includes the reinsurance of workers’ compensation coverage written by other
insurance companies and self-insured entities. We offer excess of loss and quota share reinsurance products through
Twin Bridges, our Bermuda-based reinsurance company. Twin Bridges is currently rated “A—" (Excellent) by
A.M. Best

Twin Bridges was established in 2003 to underwrite reinsurance on a portion of the excess and frequency
workers’ compensation coverage purchased by the self-insured groups managed by CRM. Before our acquisition of
Majestic, Twin Bridges was solely providing quota share reinsurance to New York Marine & General, an
independent U.S. admitted insurance carrier, on a portion of the risk assumed by New York Marine & General
for the excess and frequency coverage policies purchased by the self-insured groups we managed. Beginning in
2007, Twin Bridges is providing Majestic with quota share reinsurance protection on a certain portion of this risk
under the 90% Quota Share Agreement. In addition, during 2007, Twin Bridges expanded its product offerings to
include excess of loss and quota reinsurance coverage for primary workers’ compensation insurance issued by
Majestic and other self-insured entities.
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Underwriting and Risk Management

We write Twin Bridges’ reinsurance products in the form of treaty reinsurance contracts, which are contractual
arrangements that provide for automatic reinsuring of a type or category of risk underwritten by the insurance
company. With treaty reinsurance contracts, Twin Bridges does not separately evatuate each of the individual risks
assumed under the contracts and is largely dependent on the individual underwriting decisions made by the ceding
insurance company. Accordingly, Twin Bridges reviews and analyzes the ceding client’s risk management and
underwriting practices in deciding whether to provide treaty reinsurance and in the pricing of the treaty reinsurance
contract.

With respect to excess of loss reinsurance, Twin Bridges indemnifies the ceding client against all or a specified
portion of losses and expenses in excess of a specified dollar or percentage amount. With respect to quota share
reinsurance, Twin Bridges shares the preminms as well as the losses and expenses in an agreed proportion with the
ceding client. In both types of contracts, Twin Bridges may provide a ceding commission to the client. Twin Bridges
reinsurance products may include features such as contractual provisions that require our client to share in a portion
of losses resulting from its ceded risks, may require payment of additicnal premium amounts if we incur greater
losses than those projected at the time of the execution of the contract, may require reinstatement premium to restore
the coverage after there has been a loss occurrence or may provide for refunds if the losses we incur are less than
those projected at the time the contract is executed.

Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

We establish loss reserves for Twin Bridges under its retnsurance contracts. Twin Bridges uses similar
methodologies as Majestic to determine loss reserves, with some minor exceptions that are discussed below. For a
detailed discussion of these methodologies, see “Item 1 — Business — Primary Insurance Segment — Reserves
for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses” above.

Twin Bridges’ loss reserves are based upon-estimates of the ultimate amounts payable under its reinsurance
contracts with respect to losses occurring on or before the balance sheet date. The reserve for losses and loss
adjustment expenses represent an estimate of the ultimate cost of all reported and unreported losses and loss
adjustment expenses associated with reinsured reported claims and claims incurred but not reported which are
unpaid at the balance sheet date. The liability is estimated using actuearial studies of individual case-basis
validations, statistical analyses and industry data.

Several factors contribute to the uncertainty in establishing these estimates. Judgment is required in actuarial
estimation to ascertain the relevance of historical payment and claim settlement patterns under current facts and
circumstances. Key assumptions in the estimation process are the average cost of claims over time, which is referred
to as severity trends, including the increasing level of medical, legal and rehabilitation costs, frequency risks,
fluctuations in inflation, prevailing economic, social and judicial trends, legislative changes, third party claims
handling procedures and costs associated with fraud or other abuses of the medical claims process. In addition, there
may be a significant delay between the occurrence of the insured event and the time it is actually reported to us.
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses are estimates and are inherently uncertain; they do not and cannot
represent an exact measure of liability. However, we believe that Twin Bridges’ aggregate liability for losses and
loss adjustment expenses at December 31, 2007 represent our best estimate, based upon available data, of the
amounts necessary to settle the ultimate cost of expected losses and loss adjustment expenses.

Our best estimate of our ultimate liability for Twin Bridges’ total unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses as
of December 31, 2007, was $18.4 million. This amount is expected to cover all future losses and loss adjustment
expense payments for all claims that are known by Twin Bridges as of December 31, 2007, as well as claims where




the injury has occurred but the claim has not been reported. Twin Bridges’ reserve for losses and loss adjustment
expenses (gross and net), as well as our case and IBNR reserves, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

As of and for the Year Ended

December 31,

2007 2006

(In thousands)
Case RESBIVES . . o ottt e e e e e $ 2,758 $ 1,449
BN R . oottt e 15,680 10,293
Loss adjustment eXpenses . . . ..o e i e — —
Total unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses . .................. $18,438 $11,742

Unlike Majestic, Twin Bridges has a short operating history. Since Twin Bridges began operating in December
2003, only twelve claims have been reported and there have been no paid losses. This short operating history
provides Twin Bridges with a limited loss experience and a relatively small population of underlying risks, as
compared to other insurers and reinsurers. Accordingly, Twin Bridges’ loss reserve estimates are more susceptible
to an increased likelihood that actual results may not conform to our estimates.

Annually, Twin Bridges’ actuary performs a ground-up analysis of the premiums and losses of the self-insured
groups managed by CRM and reinsured by Twin Bridges. The actuary’s expected ultimate impact of these per-
occurrence excess of loss contracts is based upon actual group experience and industry excess of loss factors. Actual
large losses and industry excess of loss factors were used to calculate the portion of ceded losses expected to be
assumed by Twin Bridges. In each case, gross losses were developed to ultimate and the portion of losses exceeding
each group’s self-insured retention was calculated.

The actuarial estimate of the losses and loss adjustment expenses of the non-affiliated seif-insured premiums
and losses ceded from Majestic to Twin Bridges are based on the net and direct analyses of Majestic’s business as
discussed above.

For all other risks assumed by Twin Bridges, the actuary’s evaluation was based on the Bormheutter-Ferguson
method, which estimates ultimate losses based on premiums, expected loss ratios, losses incurred to date, and the
assumed percentage of losses incurred as of the current valuation date.

Since Twin Bridges has limited historical experience, prior year losses were estimated based on industry data
and resulted in reinsurance loss ratios ranging from 32% to 66%. We have reevaluated the loss ratio and based on the
methodology discussed above, recognized favorable development in 2007. This favorable development arose
primarily from accident years 2005 and 2006 where actual results have been better than industry excess loss factors
initially projected.

We have decided to establish Twin Bridges’ reserve for losses and loss adjustment expense at a point within the
range of reasonable outcomes, but above the range midpoint. This moderately conservative level reflects the
uncertainty surrounding long-tail business, the lack of significant case experience, and the potential for future
development. :

The methods for making such estimates and for establishing the resulting reserves are continually reviewed
and updated. Changes in loss development patterns and claims payments can significantly affect our ability to
estimate Twin Bridges’ loss reserves. We seek to continually improve Twin Bridges’ loss estimation process by
refining our ability to analyze loss development patterns, claims payments and other information within a legal and
regulatory environment that affects development of unltimate liabilities. Future changes in estimates of claims costs
may adversely affect future period operating results. However, such effects cannot be reasonably estimated
currently.

There are also other general uncertainties that are unique to loss reserving processes for reinsurance. The
nature, extent, timing and perceived reliability of information received from ceding companies can vary widely
depending on many factors, including the contractual reporting terms, which are affected by market conditions and
practices. We believe, however, that we have minimized Twin Bridges’ exposure to these uncertainties in its loss
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reserves, because Twin Bridges is able to rely on the loss data from the self-insured groups we manage and Majestic
and minimal delay in claim reporting from the primary insurance provider. Further, Twin Bridges has established
practices in its reinsurance contracts to identify and gather needed information from the ceding companies,
including claims reviews 1o facilitate loss reporting.

As with Majestic’s loss reserves, if Twin Bridges® loss reserves develop other than expected such that Twin
Bridges’ ultimate liability proves to be greater than or less than estimated, then our future earnings and financial
position could be positively or negatively impacted. Future earnings would be reduced by the amount of any
deficiencies in the years that the claims are paid or the reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses are increased.
Any such reduction could be realized in one year or multiple years, depending on when the deficiency is identified.
Such a deficiency would also impact our financial position to the extent that our surplus is reduced by an amount
equivalent to the reduction in net income. Any deficiency is typically recognized as an unpaid loss and loss
adjustment expense liability. Therefore, it typically does not have a material effect on Twin Bridges’ liguidity
because the claims have not been paid. Since the claims will typically be paid out over a multi-year period, Twin
Bridges has generally been able to adjust its investments to match the anticipated future claim payments.
Conversely, if we experience positive development (our estimates of ultimate unpaid Josses and loss adjustment
expenses prove to be redundant), then our future earnings and financial position may be improved.

Reconciliation of Loss Reserves. The table below shows the reconciliation of reserves of our reinsurance
segment for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, reflecting changes in losses incurred and paid
losses for such periods:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
{Dollar amounts in thousands}
Balance at January 1 .. ... ... ... ... .. .. e $11,742 % 6280 $2,696
Incurred related to:
Currentperiod . . . ... ... . i e e 9,449 7,349 3,584
Prior periods . . ... ... . e (2,752) (1,887) —_—
Total incurred . ............ . .. .. . e 6,697 5,462 3,584
Paid related to:
Current period . . . . ... i e — — —
Priorperiods . . ... . i e — — —
Totalpaid ... .. ... . — — —
I [ A 1 o) (T V=0 6,697 5,462 3,584
Balance atend ofperiod ... ... .. ... .. oL $18430  §11,742 $6,280

Our claims reserving practices are intended to establish reserves that in the aggregate are adequate to pay all
losses and loss adjustment expenses at their ultimate settlement value. QOur reserves are not discounted.

Loss Reserve Development.  The table below shows the development of Twin Bridges’ reserve for losses and
loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance, for years ended December 31, 2003 through 2007. Section A of the
table shows the estimated liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses recorded at the balance sheet date
for each of the years indicated. This liability represents the estimated amount of losses and loss adjustment expenses
for claims arising in prior years that are unpaid at the balance sheet date, including losses that have been incurred but
not yet reported. Section B of the table shows the re-estimated amount of the previously recorded liability, based on
experience as of the end of each succeeding year, Section C of the table shows the amounts paid as of the end of each
succeeding year. Section D of the table shows the cumulative redundancy (deficiency) as of December 31, 2007. A

15

e

N

S SRR




redundancy means the original estimates were higher than the current estimates while a deficiency means that the
current estimates were higher than the original estimates.
Years Ended December 31

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
. (Dollars in thousands)

A. Reserves for Unpaid Losses . ............ $168  $2,696 $6,280 $11,742  $18,438
B. Reserve re-estimated as of:

Oneyearlater . ............cooovnneonn. 168 2,696 4,392 8,989

Twoyears Jatér .. .....ovvviernn s 168 1,716 3,169

Three years later ... ........c..oivnnns 81 1,278

Four years later . . ........... ... ....... 34
C. Paid, (cumulative) as of:

Oneyearlater ............. ..o vunn - — - —

Twoyears later ... ... ... minoaa... — —_ —

Three years later . ... ... et — —

Fouryearslater . ............. ... .coonn. —
Net Liability — December 31, .............. $ 84 $1,278 $3,169 $ 8,989 $18,438
D. Cumulative Redundancy (Deficiency). . . .. . $84 $1418 83,111 § 2,753

Investments

Similar to Majestic, we invest the funds made available by Twin Bridges’ capital and the net cash flows from
operations, with the objective to provide income and realized gains on investments. Twin Bridges’ investment
portfolio is composed primarily of shori-term government agency securities, U.S. Treasury bills, cash and money
market equivalents. Twin Bridges’ investment strategy seeks to preserve principal and maintain liquidity while
trying to maximize total return through a high quality, diversified portfolio. Our investment decision-making is
guided primarily by the nature and timing of Twin Bridges expected loss and loss adjustment expense payouts,
forecasts of our cash flows and the possibility that Twin Bridges will have unexpected cash demands, for example,
to satisfy claims due to catastrophic losses.

As of December 31, 2007, Twin Bridges’ had total invested assets of $48.4 million, of which $4.0 million were
classified as restricted investments. A one percent increase in the current market interest rates would cause the fair
value of Twin Bridges’ investment portfolio as of December 31, 2007 to decrease by approximately $0.2 million.
The following table shows the fair market values of various categories of Twin Bridges’ investment portfolio, the
percentage of the total market value of Twin Bridges’ invested assets represented by each category and the tax
equivalent yield to maturity based on the fair market value of each category of invested assets as of the dates
indicated:

As of December 31, 2007

Percent
Description of Securities Fair Value  of Total Yield
{Dollars in thousands)
U.S. Treasury and government sponsored agency securities. ......... $48,444 100%  3.9%
Total fixed-maturity securities . . .......... .o $48,444 100%  3.9%

The following table shows the ratings distribution of Twin Bridges’ fixed-income portfolio by Standard and
Poor’s rating as a percentage of total market value as of the dates indicated:
As of December 31,
2007

Rating
(Dollars in
thousands)
(Unaudited)

Ry - - O R $48 444 @%

Total fixed-maturity SECUMties . . .. ... .. oo vner et $48.444  100%




The following table shows the composition of Twin Bridges’ investment portfolio by remaining time to
maturity as of the dates indicated.

December 31, 2007

Amortized
Cost Fair Value
(Dollars in thousands)
Dueinoneyearorless ... ... . .. i e $48,429  $48,444
Total fixed-maturity Securities . . ....... ... ... . .. iiiiinn 348,420  $48.444

Fee-Based Management Services Segment
Overview

Our fee-based management services segment includes the offering of various management services to self-
insured groups in New York and California under fee-for-service arrangements. In 1999, we began our business in
New York by forming, managing, and operating workers’ compensation self-insured groups. During the first seven
months of 2007 and all of 2006, we managed eight self-insured groups in the state of New York. We presently
manage 2 groups in New York, although one or both of those groups will cease active operations in April 2008. In
2003, we expanded our business to California, and currently manage 5 groups there. Each of the groups we manage
is made up of members from within a single indusiry. In New York, we currently manage groups for the construction
and wholesale/fretail industries. In California, we manage self-insured groups for the contracting, healthcare, auto
dealer, bank, and winery industries.

We provide the groups with a broad range of services, including general management, underwriting, risk
assessment, medical bill review and case management, general record keeping and reguiatory compliance. We
provide safety and loss control services to group members to help reduce workers’ compensation risks and
expenses, [n New York, the fees we receive from our groups are based on a percentage of the workers’ compensation
rates set by the New York Workers” Compensation Board that are attributable to the members of the groups we
manage, and our fees include fees for claims management services. With respect to our groups in California, our
fees are based on a percentage of premiums paid to the groups we manage by their members. Qur groups in
California pay the fees for claims management services directly to third party administrators, We also receive fees
for medical bili review and case management services, along with commission income from insurers by acting as a
broker and placing the excess coverage and surety bonds which the groups are required to obtain.

Workers’ compensation rates in New York have experienced significant pricing pressure because of declines in
the regulatory rates. Following almost two years of relatively stable rates, on July 11, 2007 the New York State
Superintendent of Insurance ordered that overall policyholders’ costs for workers’ compensation were o be reduced
by 20.5% effective October 1, 2007. This 20.5% reduction included both changes in the workers’ compensation
rates set by the New York State Workers’ Compensation Board as well as a change to the New York State
Assessment. The rate reduction was based upon an analysis of the impact of the reforms and market trends
associated with New York's 2007 Workers’ Compensation Reform Act signed into law in March 2007, which was
intended to create a significantly less expensive system of workers' compensation in New York while increasing the
weekly benefits paid to injured workers. The last change to the New York Workers” Compensation rates, prior to this
rate reduction, was an increase in July 2005 averaging 5% across all industry groups that took effect in October
2005.

We believe that the self-insured group product that is offered by the self-insured groups which we manage is
not as attractive during pertods of low premium rates and excess underwriting capacity, as we are currently
experiencing in New York, because of the risks associated with the joint and several liability of the members as well
as for former members of New York group self-insured programs. This increased market competition and pricing
pressure were significant factors, among others, that contributed to seven of our New York self-insured groups
electing to voluntarily terminate their active operations during the second half of 2007. We have ceased to manage
these self-insured groups which are now being managed by a third-party administrator appointed by the New York
Workers” Compensation Board. Additionally, in the course of run-off, our New York self-insured groups that have
ceased active operations may undergo forensic audits and depending on the results of such audits, the groups’
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former members may be assessed for any deficits, in which case we may be subject to claims by the groups or their
former members regarding our prior management.

There can be no assurance that the remaining New York self-insured group which we manage will not elect to
cease active operations, particularly in the event that the price erosion in New York becomes more widespread. We
expect that revenues from our fee-based management services in New York will be significantly reduced in 2008.
We do not currently intend to form any additional self-insurance groups in New York nor are we actively seeking to
add additional members to our remaining New York group.

We are currently in the process of mitigating the impact of these trends by constantly seeking out profitable
opportunities through further business diversification. This includes the geographic expansion of our primary
insurance business into New York, by leveraging our strong broker distribution network to offer primary insurance
policies for both new businesses as well as for former members of group self-insured programs. In instances where a
member or a broker representing a member or former member requests a quote from our Majestic subsidiary, we are
able to offer such a quote to businesses which meet Majestic’s underwriting profile. In this manner, we are able to
retain as customers certain of the membership of our former self-insured groups who would otherwise seek
insurance coverage from other insurance providers.

In connection with adverse claims development experienced by the Healthcare Industry Trust of New York, or
HITNY, prior to the group’s ceasing active operations, the New York Workers' Compensation Board conducted an
inquiry into the actuarial work done by a third-party actuary retained by HITNY. We provided testimony and copies
of the underlying data that was submitted by the actuary to the New York Workers’ Compensation Board. The New
York Workers” Compensation Board also received testimony from the third-party actuary. We also understand that
the actuary provided the New York Workers’ Compensation Board with a written independent report from another
qualified independent actuary that specializes in performing such reviews. This report verified that all actuarial
methods used and actuarial judgments made were in accordance with sound actuarial principles and standards. As
of the date of this annual report, all testimony and discovery have been completed in the inquiry, we are awaiting a
final decision from the New York Workers’ Compensation Board and cannot predict the ultimate outcome of the
inquiry. However, as a result of this inquiry, the New York Workers” Compensation Board required that the loss
reserves for each of the self-insured groups that were reviewed by the third party actuary, including HITNY, undergo
an actuarial review by an independent actuarial firm engaged by the New York Workers’ Compensation Board.

After an exchange of correspondence in which the New York Workers' Compensation Board expressed
dissatisfaction with our response to a request for certain information refating to the audit of the loss reserves for
HITNY, the New York Workers’ Compensation Board notified us on February 8, 2008 that a referral had been made
for a formal investigation into whether disciplinary action should be taken with regard to our third-party
administrator license. We vigorously disagree with the characterizations made by the New York Workers’
Compensation Board. The procedure initiated by the New York Workers’ Compensation Board is in an investigative
stage. We are not able at this time to determine what the outcome of the investigation may be nor what, if any,
financial or operational consequences may result form the proceeding. However, in the event that the New York
Workers' Compensation Board imposes any restrictions with respect to our ability to manage self-insured groups
within the state of New York as a result of either of the investigations discussed above, our ability to continue
manage our remaining New York self-insured group or effectively re-enter the New York self-insurance group
market in the future if market conditions improve may be materially impaired. Additionally, our reputation as a
manager of self-insurance groups generally may be negatively impacted in such an event.

Production of Business

All of our self-insured group management business is generated by independent agencies and brokers, who
receive a commission usually equal to a percentage of gross premiums the groups charge their members. These
commissions are generally uniform based on the industry and group involved. We carefully screen the agents and
brokers that place business with our self-insured groups. No agent or broker produces more than 10% of the business
underwritten by the groups that we manage based on the aggregate annualized premiums paid or attributable to the
groups we manage. As of December 31,2007, we had relationships with over 238 independent agencies and brokers
in New York and over 55 independent agencies and brokers in California.
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Our management and underwriting officers generally have excellent relationships with these agents and
brokers and both value and place a strong emphasis on maintaining these relationships. We offer brokers and agents
competitive commissions for coverage placed by our groups and we provide training programs to brokers and
agents in order to educate them regarding the benefits of workers’ compensation self-insured groups. We believe
that these strong relationships enhance our ability to attract and retain members of our groups and provide us with an
advantage over many of our competitors.

Underwriting

Our management services include underwriting services. The underwriting process involves an estimation of
the amount of premiums that are sufficient to cover the expected losses and loss adjustment expense and fixed costs
of the self-insured groups. Our underwritings attempt to determine the appropriate level of premium for each
member of a group by adjusting base premium rates based on: (1) the historical modification factor applicable to the
member; (2) the member’s loss history for the past three years; and (3) our loss control and risk assessment of the
member. By individually analyzing the appropriate premium for each member of a group, we distinguish ourselves
from other self-insurance services that typically maintain common pricing among group members.

Risk Assessment and Loss Control Services

We have structured our risk assessment and loss control services to provide high level, customized service to
the members of each group. Our services include on-site assessments of safety issues for all members, annual
service plans, compliance reviews and safety score card and training programs to assess development. Our model
focuses on employee training and behavior modification in an effort to minimize losses on a prospective basis. We
believe that the industry practice involves inspection-based loss control on a reactive basis.

Unlike many of our competitors in the insurance induostey, our risk assessment and loss control services are
performed by our employees. Nearly all of our loss control employees have met a minimum educational
requirement of a bachelor’s degree or better, and each possesses one or more of three nationally recognized
professional accreditations and has a minimum of five years of multi-line carrier loss control experience. We
provide dedicated service consultants, which gives us greater control of the work product. We do not provide risk
assessment and loss control services based on premium size, and we do not bill any members of a group separately
for these services. Instead, we allocate our service resources based on need for improvement, not premium size. By
targeting the accounts that need professional assistance the most, our loss control function improves the overall
quatity of the business by reducing the aggregate number of workers’ compensation claims made by the members of
our managed groups. The loss control personnel also address workplace safety issues by identifying and correcting
the behavier or condition that resulted in a claim. Our risk assessment and loss control services are training-
intensive, personal and seek to ensure accountability for workplace safety among all levels of the member’s
management structure.

Claims Management and Group Reserving

Our claims management services involve the administration and management of a claim from the time it is
brought to our attention until the claim is finally settled. We currently perform these services for our New York
groups. We do not perform claims services for our California groups because California law prohibits self-insured
group managers from providing claims management services.

We have established procedures to record reported insurance claims, regardless of size, in a claims database
upon receipt of notice of the claim. We attempt to make contact with the injured worker, treating physician and
employer within 24 hours after receiving a claim. This focus on timely reporting and follow up allows us to mitigate
claims and loss adjustment expenses and identify potential fraud, We periodically update our database for any
developments affecting a claim. Qur claims personnel divide claims into three categories: claims involving only
medical expenses, claims involving medical expenses and up to an estimated 16 weeks of disability and claims
involving medical expenses and longer periods of disability, The more serious claims are atlocated to more senior
employees who typically have a lighter case load. These teams investigate, evaluate and monitor the claims and
each claim is reviewed continually. We employ a number of resotution adjustors whose sole job is to resolve these
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claims and obtain any approval required by the relevant regulatory authority. As a potential insurance claim
develops, the claims teams will draw on all available resources to manage and settle the claim.

As required by California law, our California groups retain an independent claims handling company. Four of
our California groups currently retain Matrix Absence Management, Inc., a subsidiary of Delphi Financial Group,
Inc., to perform these services under a contract negotiated between Matrix and each group. The fifth group we
manage in California has retained Tristar Risk Management to perform these services. However, we retain claims
settlement authority, review established loss reserves and review the work performed by Matrix and Tristar on a
regular basis.

We use our claims database as an electronic workflow management tool for loss adjustment, coverage issues
and litigation and to provide each group and its board with claims and loss information and to establish claims
reserves for each group. These reserves are reviewed each year in the course of the independent audit performed for
each group. In addition, the New York groups are subject to review by the New York Workers’ Compensation Board
and the groups in California are subject to review by the California Department of Industrial Relations.

Medical Bill Review and Case Management

In 2002, we expanded our fee-based management services to include medical bill review and case management
services. The services include:

Medical Bill Review. This service reviews medical bills, reconciles them to the appropriate state fee schedule
and subsequently reduces them to the allowable amount of payment. We attempt to be competitive by providing
superior turn-around time and a quality review process which produces relatively few errors.

Independent Medical Examinations. This service provides for the scheduling of independent medical
examinations for verification of the medical diagnosis and treatment plan for injured workers. We believe that
this service is very competitive because we have assembled a high-quality physician network to provide the
members of our groups with objective medical opinions.

Medical Case Management/Utilization Review. Through this service we supplement our claims management
services by hiring registered nurses to coordinate communication among claims adjusters, treating physicians and
injured workers.

Currently, the bulk of the income we receive for these services is attributable to our self-insured groups and
Majestic.

Brokerage Services for the Groups

We also act as the insurance broker and place any excess and frequency insurance coverage and any required
surety bonds for the groups that they are required to obtain. We earn commissions from the insurance companies for
placing this coverage.

Corporate and Other Segment

Our corporate and other segment represents the holding company activities of CRM Holdings and its
consolidated holding companies, which owns, directly or indirectly, all of the capital shares and stock of our
insurance and other operating subsidiaries. The results of the corporate and other segment reflect the operating
expenses incurred in the holding company activities, such as stock exchange listing and other licensing fees,
directors’ fees, and legal, auditing and other administrative fees. Interest expense incurred on outstanding debt
pursuant to financing activities is also a part of the corporate and other segment loss.

Competition

The insurance industry, in general, is highly competitive and there is significant competition in the workers’
compensation insurance industry. Competition in the insurance business is based on many factors, including
premium rates, policy terms, coverage availability, claims management, safety services, payment terms, types of
insurance offered, overall financial strength, financial ratings assigned by independent rating organizations, such as
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AM. Best, and reputation. Qur competitors include other insurance companies, mutual insurance companies,
individual self-insured employers, state insurance pools including the State Compensation Insurance Fund in
California and the New York State Insurance Fund, safety groups and other self-insured and captive products. Many
of the insurance companies we compete with have more capital, name and brand recognition and marketing and
management resources than we have. Many of our competitors have offered, and may continue to offer, workers’
compensation insurance combined with other insurance coverage. Some of our competitors offer workers’
compensation insurance on a multi-state basis greater than ours. We may also compete with new market entrants
in the future.

Ratings

Ratings by independent agencies are an important factor in establishing the competitive position of com-
mercial insurance and reinsurance companies. Rating organizations continually review the financial positions of
insurers. Standard & Poor’s maintains a letter scale rating system ranging from “AAA” (Extremely Strong) to “R”
(under regulatory supervision). A.M. Best maintains a letter scale rating system ranging from “A++" (Superior) to
“F” {in liquidation). In evaluating a company’s financial and operating performance, A.M. Best reviews the
company’s profitability, indebtedness and liquidity, as well as its book of business, the adequacy and soundness of
its reinsurance, the quality and estirnated market value of its assets, the adequacy of its loss reserves, the adequacy of
its surplus, its capital structure, the experience and competence of its management and its market presence. This
rating is intended to provide an independent opinion of an insurer’s ability to meet its obligations to policyholders
and is not an evaluation directed at investors, The objective of S&P and A.M. Best's ratings systems is to provide an
opinion of an insurer’s or reinsurer’s financial strength and ability to meet ongoing obligations to its policyholders.

In November 2006, A.M. Best announced that it had affirmed Majestic's financial strength rating of “A~"
(Excellent). An “A—" rating is the fourth highest of 15 rating categories used by A.M. Best. The rating has a stable
outlook for Majestic, In November 2006, A.M. Best announced that it had affirmed Twin Bridges financial strength
rating of “A~"" (Excellent).

Unlike insurance companies, self-insured groups do not generaily obtain ratings from Standard & Poor’s or
A.M. Best. We do not believe that the small to mid-sized companies buying workers’ compensation from self-
insured groups, such as the ones we manage, give any material consideration to the lack of ratings of the self-insured
groups. Rather they rely on the management and boards of directors of these groups, the excess coverage obtained
by the groups and the joint and several liability of the members of the groups as security for their coverage.

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had 255 full-time employees and 13 part-time employees. We believe that our
relations with our employees are good. None of our employees is subject to a collective bargaining agreement.

Regulation

The insurance and reinsurance business is regulated in most states of the United States and countries, although
the degree and type of regulation varies significantly from one jurisdiction to another, Our primary insurance
business is regulated in California and each state in which we issue insurance policies. Our reinsurance business is
subject to regulation in Bermuda, The self-insured groups we manage in New York and California are subject to
extensive regulation under applicable statutes and regulations in those jurisdictions.

State Insurance Regulation

Insurance companies are subject to extensive regulation and supervision by the department of insurance in the
state in which they are domiciled and, to a lesser extent, other states in which they conduct business. These state
agencies have broad regulatory, supervisory and administrative powers, including, among other things, the power to
grant and revoke licenses to transact business; license agents; set the standards of solvency to be met and
maintained; determine the nature of, and limitations on, investments and dividends; approve policy forms and rates
in some states; periodically examine an insurance company’s financial condition; determine the form and content of
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required financial statements including by prescribing statutory accounting standards; and periodically examine
market conduct.

Holding Company Regulation. As a member of an insurance holding company, Majestic is subject to
additional regulation by California, its domiciliary state, and the states in which it transacts business. Pursuant to the
insurance holding company laws of California, Majestic is required to register with the California Department of
Insurance. In addition, Majestic is required to periodically report certain financial, operational and management
data to the California Department of Insurance. All transactions within a holding company system affecting an
insurer must have fair and reasonable terms, charges or fees for services performed must be reasonable, and the
insurer’s policyholder surplus following any transaction must be both reasonable in relation to its outstanding
liabilities and adequate for its needs. Notice to, and in some cases approval from, the California Department of
Insurance is required prior to the consummation of certain affiliated and other transactions involving Majestic.

Change of Control.  In addition, the insurance holding company laws of California require advance approval
by the California Department of Insurance of any change in control of Majestic. “Control” is generally presumed to
exist through the direct or indirect ownership of 10% or more of the voting securities of a domestic insurance
company or of any entity that controls a domestic insurance company. In addition, insurance laws in many states
contain provisions that require pre-acquisition notification to the insurance commissioners of a change in control of
a non-domestic insurance company licensed in those states. Any future transactions that would constitute a change
in control of Majestic, including a change of control of us, would generally require the party acquiring control to
obtain the prior approval by the California Department of Insurance and may require pre-acquisition notification in
applicable states that have adopted pre-acquisition notification provisions. Obtaining these approvals may result in
a material delay of, or deter, any such transaction. These laws may also discourage potential acquisition proposals
and may delay, deter or prevent a change of control of CRM Holdings, including through transactions, and in
particular unsolicited transactions, that some or all of our shareholders might consider to be desirable.

Dividend Limitations. Majestic’s ability to pay dividends is subject to restrictions contained in California’s
insurance laws and related regulations. The insurance holding company laws in California require that ordinary
dividends be reported to the California Department of Insurance at least 10 business days prior to payment of the
dividend to shareholders. Extraordinary dividends may not be paid until 30 days after the Commissioner has
received notice of the declaration of such extraordinary dividend and has either approved the payment of such
extraordinary dividend or has not, within such 30-day period, disapproved of the payment. An extraordinary
dividend is generally defined as a dividend that, together with all other dividends made within the past 12 months,
exceeds the greater of 10% of the company’s statutory policyholders’ surplus as of the preceding December 31st or
the net income from operations of the company for the 12-month period ending the previous December 31st.
Statutory policyholders’ surplus, as determined under statutory accounting principles, is the amount remaining after
all liabilities, including loss and loss adjustment expenses, are subtracted from all admitted assets. Admitted assets
are assets of an insurer prescribed or permitted by a state insurance regulator to be recognized on the statutory
balance sheet. Insurance regulators have broad powers to prevent the reduction of statutory surplus to inadequate
levels, and there is no assurance that extraordinary dividend payments will be permitted.

State Insurance Department Examinations. Detailed annual and quarterly financial statements prepared in
accordance with statutory accounting standards and other reports are required to be filed with the departments of
insurance of the states in which we are licensed to transact business. Majestic’s financial statements and financial
condition are subject to periodic examination by these departments of insurance. Majestic is subject to periodic
examinations by the California Department of Insurance. The California Department of Insurance generally
examines each of its domiciliary insurance companies on a triennial basis. Majestic underwent an examination in
2005 that covered calendar years 2002 through 2004 and the Report of Examination contained no findings.

Guaranty Fund Assessments. In California, New York and most of the states where Majestic is licensed to
transact business, there is a requirernent that property and casualty insurers doing business within each such state
participate in a guaranty association, which is organized to pay contractual benefits owed pursuant to insurance
policies issued by impaired, insolvent or failed insurers. These associations levy assessments, up to prescribed
limits, on all member insurers in a particular state on the basis of the proportionate share of the premium written by
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member insurers in the lines of business in which the impaired, insolvent or failed insurer is engaged. Some states
permit member insurers to recover assessments paid through full or partial premium tax offsets.

Property and casualty insurance company insolvencies or failures may result in additional security fund
assessments to us at some future date. At this time, we are unable to determine the impact, if any, such assessments
may have on our financial position or results of operations. We have established liabilities for guaranty fund
assessments with respect to insurers that are currently subject to insolvency proceedings.

Federal Insurgnce Laws and Regulations

Maritime Coverage.  As Majestic used to provide maritime workers’ compensation insurance, we are subject
to the USL&H Act, which generally covers exposures on the navigable waters of the United States and in adjoining
waterfront areas, including exposures resulting from loading and unloading vessels. We are also subject to
regulations related to the USL&H Act and the Merchant Marine Act of 1920, or the Jones Act. The USL&H Act,
which is administered by the U.S. Department of Labor, provides medical benefits, compensation for lost wages and
rehabilitation services to longshoremen, harbor workers and other maritime workers who are injured during the
course of employment or suffer from diseases caused or worsened by conditions of employment. The Department of
Labor has the authority to require us to make deposils to serve as collateral for losses incurred under the USL&H
Act. The Jones Act is a federal law, the maritime employer provisions of which provide injured offshore workers, or
seamen, with a remedy against their employers for injuries arising from negligent acts of the employer or co-
workers during the course of employment on a ship or vessel,

As a condition of authorization effective August 23, 2005, the U.S. Depariment of Labor implemenied new
regulations requiring insurance carriers autherized to write insurance under the USL&H Act or any of its extensions
to deposit security to secure compensation payment obligations. The Department of Labor determines the amount
of this deposit annually by calculating the carrier’s obligations under the USL&H Act and its extensions by state and
by the percentage of those obligations deemed unsecured by those states’ guaranty funds.

Terrorism Risk Insurance. On November 26, 2002, in response to the tightening of supply in certain
insurance and reinsurance markets resulting from, among other things, the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, the
Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 was enacted, which we refer to in this annual report as the Terrorism Risk Act.
In 2007, the Terrorism Risk Insurance Program Reauthorization Act of 2007 was enacted and extended the

“Terrorism Risk Act through December 31, 2014, The Terrorism Risk Act is designed to ensure the availability of
insurance coverage for losses resulting from certain acts of terror in the United States. As extended, the law
establishes a federal assistance program through the end of 2014 to help the property and casualty insurance
industry cover claims related to future terrorism-related losses and requires such companies to offer coverage for
certain acts of terrorism. By law, Majestic may not exclude coverage for terrorism losses from its workers'
compensation policies. Although Majestic is protected by federally funded terrorism reinsurance to the extent
provided for in the Terrorism Risk Act, there are limitations and restrictions on this protection, including a
substantial deductible plus loss limitation that must be met, which could have an adverse effect on our financial
condition or results of operations. Potential future changes to the Terrorism Risk Act could also adversely affect us
by causing our reinsurers io increase prices or withdraw from certain markets where terrorism coverage is required.

Federal and State Legislative and Regulatory Changes

From time to time, various regulatory and legislative changes have been proposed in the insurance industry at
both the federal and state levels. Among the proposals that have in the past been or are at present being considered
are the possible introduction of federal regulation in addition to, or in lieu of, the current system of state regulation
of insurers and proposals in various state legislatures (some of which proposals have been enacted) to conform
portions of their insurance laws and regulations to various model acts adopted by the National Association of
Insurance Commissioners. We are unable to predict whether any of these laws and regulations will be adopted, the
form in which any such laws and regulations would be adopted or the effect, if any, these developments would have
on our operations and financial condition.
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The National Association of Insurance Commissioners

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners, or NAIC, is a group formed by state insurance
commissioners to discuss issues and formulate policy with respect to regulation, reporting and accounting of
insurance companies. Although the NAIC has no legislative authority and insurance companies are at all times
subject to the laws of their respective domiciliary states and, to a lesser extent, other states in which they conduct
business, the NAIC is influential in determining the form in which such laws are enacted. The NAIC provides
authoritative guidance to insurance regulators on current statutory accounting issues by promulgating and updating
a codified set of statutory accounting practices in its Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual. The California
Department of Insurance has adopted these codified statutory accounting practices.

California has also adopted laws substantially similar to the NAIC’s risk-based capital laws, which require
insurers to maintain minimum levels of capital based on their investments and operations. These risk-based capital
requirements provide a standard by which regulators can assess the adequacy of an insurance company’s capital and
surplus relative to its operations. Among other tequirements, an insurance company must maintain capital and
surplus of at least 200% of the risk-based capital computed by the NAIC’s risk-based capital model (known as the
«Authorized Control Level” of risk-based capital). At December 31, 2007, the capital and surpius of Majestic
exceeded 615% of the Authorized Control Level of risk-based capital.

The NAIC’s insurance regulatory information system, or IRIS, key financial ratios, developed to assist
insurance departments in overseeing the financial condition of insurance companies, are reviewed by experienced
financial examiners of the NAIC and state insurance departments to select those companies that merit highest
priority in the allocation of the regulators’ resources. IRIS identifies twelve industry ratios and specifies “usual
values” for each ratio. Departure from the usual values on four or more of the ratios can lead to inquiries from
individual state insurance commissioners as to certain aspects of an insurer’s business.

Statutory Accounting Practices

Statutory accounting practices, or SAP, are a basis of accounting developed to assist insurance regulators in
monitoring and regulating the solvency of insurance companies. SAP is primarily concerned with measuring an
insurer’s surplus. Accordingly, statutory accounting focuses on valuing assets and liabilities of insurers at financial
reporting dates in accordance with appropriate insurance law and regulatory provisions applicable in each insurer’s
domiciliary state.

GAAP is concerned with a company’s solvency, but such principles are also concerned with other financial
measurements, such as income and cash flows. Accordingly, GAAP gives more consideration to appropriate
matching of revenue and expenses and accounting for management’s stewardship of assets than does SAP. As a
direct result, different assets and liabilities and different amounts of assets and liabilities will be reflected in
financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP as opposed to SAP.

Statutory accounting practices established by the NAIC and adopted, in part, by the California regulators,
determine, among other things, the amount of statutory surplus and statutory net income of Majestic and thus
determine, in part, the amount of funds it has available to pay dividends to us.

New York and California Regulation of Self-Insurance Groups

The self-insured groups we manage are subject to state law and regulation by workers’ compensation boards or
similar authorities in New York and California, the states in which they operate. We assist the groups we manage in
complying with these laws and regulations as part of our fee-based management services, In addition, we become
subject to these same laws and regulations arising from our activities in forming and marketing these self-insured
groups.

Each self-insured group must generally meet certain minimum requirements, although such requirements vary
from state to state. For example, the members of a group must have and maintain a minimum aggregate net worth. In
New York, with the exception of groups consisting of municipal corporations, each group must have and maintain a
minimum combined annual payroll of group members, excluding payroll attributable to out-of-state employees of
the members and uncovered employees. Regarding the composition of each group, in New York, homogeneity in
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the nature of the business activities of all members of a group must exist and each group must include only
employers that have been in business for a period of time which is acceptable to the chair of the New York State
Workers’ Compensation Board. [n California, each group must be composed of employers in the same industry as
defined under the California workers® compensation statutes and regulations.

A comprehensive application must be submitted to the applicable state regulatory agencies before a new group
may be formed. These applications must include, among other things, a current payroll repont for each member of
the group and a description of the safety program, if any, proposed for the employer group. In New York, an actuarial
feasibility study directed and certified by an independent qualified actuary and a report identifying the projected
rate of contribution and assessments to be paid by each member for the first year of the group’s operation, and the
manner in which such contributions and assessments were calculated, are also required. In California, a feasibility
study prepared by an independent risk management individual or firm is required. In addition, in connection with
the formation of a new self-insured group, cach new group will be required to deposit with the applicable regulatory
agency securities, surety bonds and/or irrevocable letters of credit which may be liquidated by the regulatory agency
in the event that the group is unable to pay its liabilities.

After a group is formed, it is subject to a number of regulations with respect to its operations. Pursuant to these
regulations, each group: (1) must receive approval from the applicable state regulatory agency prior to admitting a
new member; (2) is required to purchase excess workers” compensation coverage to cover losses above levels
established by the applicable state regulatory agency; (3) must follow mandatory guidelines with respect to the
investment of the funds collected by the group and must follow additional guidelines with respect to the use of the
funds; {4) is subject to periodic audit and review of the group’s financial statements and contribution rates by the
applicable regulatory agency; and (5) must maintain assets in an amount which exceeds its liabilities. If a self-
insured group is unable to maintain assets in an amount which exceeds its liabilities, the group may be limited in the
amount of new members that it may add, may be required to assess its members in order to remedy such deficiency,
deposit additional security with the applicable regulatory agency or, in certain circumstances, be dissolved. Each
group is also subject to periodic reporting and disclosure requirements and must file with the applicable regulatory
agency audited financial statements, actuarial reports and payroll reports. In California, the self-insured groups are
required to periodically submit audited or reviewed financial statements of their members.

Both we and the groups we manage in New York are subject to cerain disclosure requirements and other
regulations with respect to the solicitation of new members and the preparation of marketing material with respect
to the groups. Also in New York, CRM is required to be licensed by the New York Workers’ Compensation Board as
a third party claims administrator. Under California law, CRM is not permitted to manage the claims of the self-
insured groups we manage. Therefore, our groups in California contract with an independent third party admin-
istrator to perform this task.

Bermuda Regulation

The Insurance Act 1978 of Bermuda and its related regulations, which we refer to collectively as the Bermuda
Insurance Act, regulates the reinsurance and insurance business of Twin Bridges. The Bermuda Insurance Act
provides that no person may carry on any insurance business in or from within Bermuda unless registered as an
insurer under the Bermuda Insurance Act by the Bermuda Monetary Authority, which is the regulatory body
responsible for the day-to-day supervision of insurers. Under the Bermuda Insurance Act, insurance business
includes reinsurance business. The Bermuda Monetary Authority, in deciding whether to register a company as an
insurer, has broad discretion to act as the Bermuda Monetary Authority thinks fit in the public interest. The
Bermuda Monetary Authority is required by the Bermuda Insurance Act to determine whether the applicant is a fit
and proper body to be engaged in the insurance business and, in particular, whether it has, or has available to it,
adequate knowledge and expertise. The registration of an applicant as an insurer is subject to its complying with the
terms of its registration and such other conditions as the Bermuda Monetary Authority may impose from time to
time. The Bermuda Monetary Authority issues four types of general business insurance licenses (Class 1, Class 2,
Class 3 and Class 4). A Class 3 license allows a company to underwrite third party risks. Twin Bridges was
registered under the Bermuda Insurance Act as a Class 3 insurer in December 2003,
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A Bermuda insurance advisory committee appointed by the Bermuda Minister of Finance advises the Bermuda
Monetary Authority on matters connected with the discharge of the Bermuda Monetary Authority’s functions and
sub-committees thereof supervise and review the law and practice of insurance in Bermuda, including reviews of
accounting and administrative procedures.

The Bermuda Insurance Act imposes on Bermuda insurance companies solvency and liquidity standards and
auditing and reporting requirements and grants to the Bermuda Monetary Authority powers to supervise, investigate
and intervene in the affairs of insurance companies. Certain significant aspects of the Bermuda insurance regulatory
framework are sct forth below.

The Bermuda Monetary Authority utilizes a risk based approach when it comes to licensing and supervising
insurance companies in Bermuda. As part of the Bermuda Monetary Authority’s risk based system, an assessment
of the inherit risks within each particular class of insurer is utilized in the first instance to determine the limitations
and specific requircments which may be imposed. Thereafter the Bermuda Monetary Authority keeps its analysis of
relative risk within individual institutions under review on an ongoing basis, including through scrutiny of regular
audited statutory financial statements, and, as appropriate, meeting with senior management during onsite visits.
The initial meetings with senior management and any proposed onsite visit will primarily focus upon companies
that are licensed as Class 3 and Class 4 insurers. The Bermuda Monetary Authority has also adopted guidance notes,
or the Guidance Notes, and statement of principles, or the Principles, in order to ensure those operating in Bermuda
have a good understanding of the nature of the requirements of, and the Bermuda Monetary Authority’s approach in
implementing, the Bermuda lnsurance Act.

Classification of Insurers. The Bermuda Insurance Act distinguishes between insurers carrying on long-term
business and insurers carrying on general business. There are four classifications of insurers carrying on general
business, with Class 4 insurers being subject to the strictest regulation. Twin Bridges is registered as a Class 3
insurer. We do not intend, at this time, to obtain a license for Twin Bridges to carry on long-term business. Long-
term business includes life insurance and disability insurance with terms in excess of five years. General business
broadly includes all types of insurance that is not long-term business.

Cancellation of Insurer’s Registration.  An insufer’s registration may be canceled by the Bermuda Monetary
Authority on certain grounds specified in the Bermuda Insurance Act, including failure of the insurer to comply
with its obligations under the Bermuda Insurance Act or if, in the opinion of the Bermuda Monetary Authority, the
insurer has not been carrying on business in accordance with sound insurance principles.

Principal Representative.  An insurer is required to maintain a principal office in Bermuda and to appoint and
maintain a principal representative in Bermuda. For the purpose of the Bermuda Insurance Act, the principal office
of Twin Bridges is at our principal executive offices in Bermuda, and Twin Bridges’ principal representative is
Quest Management Services Limited. Without a reason acceptable to the Bermuda Monetary Authority, an insurer
may not terminate the appointment of its principal representative, and the principal representative may not cease to
act as such, unless thirty days’ notice in writing to the Bermuda Monetary Authority is given of the intention to do
s0. It is the duty of the principal representative to notify the Bermuda Monetary Authority forthwith of his reaching
the view that there is a likelihood of the insurer for which the principal representative acts becoming insolvent or
that a reportable “event” has, to the principal representative’s knowledge, occurred or is believed to have occurred,
and within fourteen days of such notification, to make a report in writing to the Bermuda Monetary Authority
setting out all the particulars of the case that are available to the principal representative. Examples of such a
reportable “event” include failure by the insurer to comply substantially with a condition imposed upon the insurer
by the Bermuda Monetary Authority relating to a solvency margin or liquidity or other ratio.

Independent Approved Auditor.  Every registered insurer must appoint an independent auditor approved by
the Bermuda Monetary Authority which we refer to as an approved auditor who will annually andit and report on the
statutory financial statements, solvency certificate and declaration of statutory ratios. The statutory financial
statements and the statutory financial return of the insurer, in the case of Twin Bridges, will be required to be filed
annually with the Bermuda Monetary Authority. The approved auditor of Twin Bridges may be the same person or
firm which audits Twin Bridges’ statutory financial statements and statutory financial returns and Twin Bridges’
financia) statements prepared in accordance with GAAP.
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Loss Reserve Specialist.  As a registered Class 3 insurer, Twin Bridges is required to submit annually an
opinion of a loss reserve specialist, who must be approved by the Bermuda Monetary Authority, with its statutory
financial return and statutory financial statement in respect of its loss and loss adjustment expense provisions.

Starutory Financial Statements.  Twin Bridges is required to file with the Bermuda Monetary Authority
statutory financial statements no later than four months after its financial year end (unless specifically extended).
The Bermuda Insurance Act prescribes rules for the preparation and form of such statutory financial statements
(which include, in statutory form, a balance sheet, an income statement, a statement of capital and surplus and notes
thereto). The insurer is required to give detailed information and analyses regarding premiums, claims, reinsurance
and investments. The statutory financial staternents are not prepared in accordance with GAAP and are distinct from
the financial statements prepared for presentation to the insurer’s shareholders under the Companies Act, which
financial statements will be prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Twin Bridges, as a general business insurer, is
required to submit the annual statutory financial statements as part of the annual statutory financial return. The
statutory financial statements and the statutory financial return are retatned by the Bermuda Monetary Authority
and do not form part of the public records.

Annual Statutory Financial Return.  Twin Bridges is required to file with the Bermuda Monetary Authority a
statutory financial return no later than four months after its financial year end (unless specifically extended). The
statutory financial return for a Class 3 insurer includes, among other matiers, a report of the approved anditor on the
statutory financial statements of such insurer, the solvency certificates, the declaration of statutory ratios, the
statutory financial statements and the opinion of the approved loss reserve specialist. The solvency certificates must
be signed by the principal representative and at least two directors of the insurer who are required to certify, among
other matters, whether the minimum solvency margin has been met and whether the insurer complied with the
conditions attached to its certificate of registration. The approved auditor is required to state whether in its opinion it
was reasonable for the directors to so certify. Where an insurer’s accounts have been audited for any purpose othes
than compliance with the Bermuda Insurance Act, a statement to that effect must be filed with the statutory financial
return.

Solvency Margin and Restrictions on Dividends and Distributions. Under the Bermuda Insurance Act, the
value of the general business assets of a Class 3 insurer must exceed the amount of its general business liabilities by
an amount greater than the prescribed solvency margin. Twin Bridges is required, with respect to its general
business, to maintain a minimum solvency margin equal to the greatest of:

(A) $1,000,000

(B) Net Premium Written (“NPW™) Prescribed Amount
Up to $6,000,000 20% of net premium written (“NPW™)
Greater than $6,000,000 The aggregate of $1,200,000 and 15% of

the amount by which NPW exceeds
$6,000,000 in that year; and

(© 15% of the aggregate of the insurer’s loss expense provisions and other general business insurance
reserves.

Generally, NPW equals gross premium written after deduction of any premium ceded by the insurer for
retnsurance.

Twin Bridges is prohibited from declaring or paying any dividends during any financial year if it is in breach of
its solvency margin or minimum liquidity ratio or if the declaration or payment of such dividends would cause it to
fail to meet such margin or ratio. In addition, if it has failed to meet its minimum solvency margin or minimum
liquidity ratio on the last day of any financial year, Twin Bridges will be prohibited, without the approval of the
Bermuda Monetary Authority, from declaring or paying any dividends during the next financial year, Twin Bridges
is prohibited, without the approval of the Bermuda Monetary Authority, from reducing by 15% or more its total
statutory capital and surplus as set out in its previous year’s financial statements, and any application for such
approval shall provide such information as the Bermuda Monetary Authority may require. In addition, if Twin
Bridges at any time fails to meet its solvency margin, it will be required, within thirty days after becoming aware of
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such failure or having reason to believe that such failure has occurred, to file with the Bermuda Monetary Authority
a written report containing certain information as outlined in the Bermuda Insurance Act.

Under the Companies Act, Twin Bridges may not declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution from
contributed surplus, if there are reasonable grounds for believing that it is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due, or if the realizable value of its assets would be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium accounts.

Minimum Liquidity Ratio. The Bermuda Insurance Act provides a minimum liquidity ratio for general
business insurers. An insurer engaged in general businiess is required o maintain the value of ils relevant assets at
not less than 75% of the amount of its relevant liabilities. Relevant assets include cash and time deposits, quoted
investments, unguoted bonds and debentures, first liens on mortgage loans on real estate, investment income due
and accrued, accounts and premiums receivable, reinsurance balances receivable and funds held by ceding
reinsurers. There are certain categories of assets which, unless specifically permitted by the Bermuda Monetary
Authority, do not automatically qualify as relevant assets, such as unquoted equity securities, investments in and
advances to affiliates and real estate and collateral loans. The relevant liabilities are total general business insurance
reserves and total other liabilities less deferred income tax and sundry liabilities and letters of credit, guarantees and
other instruments (by interpretation, those not specifically defined).

Supervision, Investigation and Intervention. 'The Bermuda Monetary Authority may appoint an inspector
with extensive powers to investigate the affairs of an insurer if the Bermuda Monetary Authority believes that an
investigation is required in the interest of the insuger’s policyholders or persons who may become policyholders. In
order to verify or supplement information otherwise provided to the Bermuda Monetary Authority, the Bermuda
Monetary Authority may direct an insurer to produce documents or information relating to matters connected with
the insurer’s business.

If it appears to the Bermuda Monetary Authority that there is arisk of the insurer becoming insolvent, or that it
is in breach of the Bermuda Insurance Act or any conditions imposed upon its registration, the Bermuda Monetary
Authority may, among other things, direct the insurer:

s pot to take on any new insurance business;

- not to vary any insurance contract if the effect would be to increase the insurer’s liabilities;

* not to make certain invesiments;

« o realize certain investments;

« to maintain in, or transfer to the custody of, a specified bank, certain assets;

« not to declare or pay any dividends or other distributions or to restrict the making of such payments; and/or
e 1o limit its premium income.

Disclosure of Information. In addition to powers under the Bermuda Insurance Act to investigate the affairs
of an insurer, the Bermuda Monetary Authority may require the insurer (or certain other persons) to produce certain
information to it. Further, the Bermuda Monetary Authority has been given powers to assist other regulakory
authorities, including foreign insurance regulatory authorities, with their investigations involving insurance and
reinsurance companies in Bermuda but subject to restrictions. For example, the Bermuda Monetary Authority must
be satisfied that the assistance being requested is in connection with the discharge of regulatory responsibilities of
the foreign regulatory authority. Further, the Bermuda Monetary Authority must consider whether cooperation is in
the public interest. The grounds for disclosure are limited and the Bermuda Insurance Act provides sanctions for
breach of the staiutory duty of confidentiality.

Bermuda Guidance Notes. The Bermuda Monetary Authority has issued the Guidance Notes, on the
application of the Insurance Act in respect of the duties, requirements and standards to be complied with by
persons registered under the Bermuda Insurance Act or otherwise regulated under it and the procedures and sound
principles to be observed by such persons and by auditors, principal representatives and loss reserve specialists. In
March 2005, the Bermuda Monetary Authority issued the Guidance Notes through its web site at www.bma.bm,
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which provides guidance on, among other things, the roles of the principal representative, approved auditor, and
approved actuary and corporate governance for Bermuda insurers. The Bermuda Monetary Authority has stated that
the Guidance Notes should be understood as reflecting the minimum standard that the Bermuda Monetary Authority
expects insurers such as Twin Bridges and other relevant parties to observe at all times.

Bermuda Statement of Principles. In June 2007, the Bermuda Monetary Authority pursuant 1o section 2A of
the Insurance Act introduced the Principles. The Principles relate to the Bermuda Monetary Authority’s decisions
on whether to register an entity, to cancel the registration of a registered entity, to impose conditions upon a
registration, or to give certain directions to a registered entity. These Principles are of general application and seek
to take account of the wide diversity of registered entities that may be licensed under the Insurance Act, as well as
relevant institutional and market developments.

Controller Notification.  Each shareholder or prospective shareholder will be responsible for notifying the
Bermuda Monetary Authority in writing of his becoming a controller, directly or indirectly, of 10%, 20%, 33% or
50% of CRM Holdings and ultimately Twin Bridges within 45 days of becoming such a controller. The Bermuda
Monetary Authority may serve a notice of objection on any controller of Twin Bridges if it appears to the Bermuda
Monetary Authority that the person is no longer fit and proper to be such a controller. Twin Bridges will be
responsible for giving written notice to the Bermuda Monetary Authority of the fact that any person has become or
ceases to be 10%, 20%, 33% or 350% controller of Twin Bridges. The Notice has to be given within 45 days of
becoming aware of the relevant facts,

Certain other Considerations.  Although CRM Holdings is incorporated in Bermuda, we are classified by the
Bermuda Monetary Authority as a non-resident of Bermuda for exchange control purposes. As a result, we may
engage in transactions in currencies other than Bermuda dollars and there are no restrictions on its ability to transfer
funds (other than funds denominated in Bermuda dollars) in and out of Bermuda or to pay dividends to U.S. residents
who are holders of its common shares.

Under Bermuda law, exempted companies are companies formed with the ability to conduct business outside
Bermuda from a principal place of business in Bermuda. As “‘exempted” companies, neither we, nor our subsidiary
Twin Bridges may, without the express authorization of the Bermuda legislature or under a license or consent
granted by the Minister of Finance, participate in certain business transactions, including:

» the acquisition or holding of land in Bermuda (except land held by way of lease or tenancy agreement which
is required for its business and held for a term not exceeding 50 years, or which is used to provide
accommodation or recreational facilities for its officers and employees and held with the consent of the
Bermuda Minister of Finance, for a term not exceeding 21 years);

* (subject to certain provisos) the taking of mortgages on land in Bermuda to secure an amount in excess of
$50,000 (or whereby any such mortgage shall together with any other principal sum or sums received by any
other mortgage or mortgages held by such company from the same mortgagor or mortgagors exceed the sum
of $50,000);

* to acquire any bonds, or debentures secured on any land in Bermuda, except bonds or debentures issued by
the Government of Bermuda or a public authority of Bermuda; or

* the carrying on of business of any kind or type for which it is not licensed in Bermuda, except in certain
limited circumstances such as doing business with another exempted undertaking in furtherance of CRM
Holdings’ or Twin Bridges” business carried on outside Bermuda.

Twin Bridges is a licensed insurer in Bermuda, and it is expected that it will be able to carry on activities from
Bermuda that are related to and in support of its insurance business in accordance with its license.

Securities may be offered or sold in Bermuda only in compliance with the provisions of the Investment
Business Act of 2003, and the Exchange Control Act 1972, and related regulations of Bermuda which regulate the
sale of securities in Bermuda. In addition, specific permission is required from the Bermuda Monetary Authority,
pursuant to the provisions of the Exchange Control Act 1972 and related regulations, for all issuances and transfers
of securities of Bermuda companies, other than in cases where the Bermuda Monetary Authority has granted a
general permission. The Bermuda Monetary Authority in its policy dated June 1, 2005 provides that where any
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equity securities, which would include our common shares, of a Bermuda company are listed on an appointed stock
exchange, general permission is given for the issue and subsequent transfer of any securities of a company from
and/or to a non-resident, for as long as any equities securities of such company remain so listed. The Nasdaq Global
Select Market is deemed to be an appointed stock exchange under Bermuda law. Notwithstanding the above general
permission, the Bermuda Monetary Authority has granted CRM Heldings permission to, subject to the common
shares in CRM Holdings being listed on an appointed stock exchange, issue, grant, create, sale and transfer any of
CRM Holdings’ shares (other than our common shares), stock, bonds, notes (other than promissory notes),
debentures, debenture stock, units under a unit trust scheme, shares in an oil royaity, options, warrants, coupons,
rights and depository receipts, or collectively the Securities, to and among persons who are either resident or non-
resident of Bermuda for exchange control purposes, whether or not the Securities are listed on an appointed stock
exchange. The Bermuda Monetary Authority and the Registrar of Companies accept no responsibility for the
financial soundness of any proposal or for the correctness of any of the statements made or opinions expressed in
this annual report.

Under Bermuda law, there are no restrictions on the degree of foreign ownership, and neither we nor our
subsidiary Twin Bridges is currently subject to taxes computed on profits or income or computed on any capital
asset, gain or appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax or to any foreign exchange
controls in Bermuda.

Under Bermuda law, non-Bermudians (other than spouses of Bermudians and permanent residents) may not
engage in any gainful occupation in Bermuda without a work permit issued by the Bermuda Department of
Immigration. Such work permits may be granted or extended upon showing that, after proper public advertisement,
no Bermudian, or spouse of a Bermudian or individual holding a permanent resident certificate is available who
meets the minimum standards for the advertised position. None of our executive officers is a Bermudian. Our
officers work in Bermuda under work permits. In April 2001, the Bermuda government announced a policy that
places a six-year term limit on individuals with work permits, subject to certain exceptions for key employees.

Available Information

We maintain a website at www.crmholdingsitd.bm. We are not including the information on our website as a
part of, nor incorporating such information by reference, into this annual report. We make available all of our SEC
filings, including this annual report and any current reports on Form 8-K, through our website, free of charge, as
soon as is reasonable practicable after these materials have been filed with the SEC. In addition, our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics is available on our web site.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common shares involves a high degree of risk. Before making an investment decision, you
should carefully consider the risks described below and all of the information contained in this annual report. If any
of the risks discussed in this annual report actually occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be materially and adversely affected. If this were to happen, the price of our common shares couid decline
significantly and you may lose all or a part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Primary Insurance and Reinsurance Business Segments
Our loss reserves are based on estimates and may be inadequate to cover our losses.

We establish loss reserves in our financial statements that represent an estimate of amounts needed to pay and
administer claims with respect to insured and reinsured events that have occurred, including events that have not yet
been reported to us. Loss reserves are estimates and are inherently uncertain; they do not and cannot represent an
exact measure of liability,

Workers’ compensation claims are often paid over a long period of time. There are no policy limits on liability
for primary workers’ compensation claims, as there are for other types of insurance. Estimating reserves for
insurance and reinsurance of workers’ compensation claims may be more uncertain than estimating reserves for
other lines of insurance or reinsurance with shorter or more definite periods between occurrence of the claim and
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final determination of the ultimate toss and with policy limits for claim amounts, Accordingly, there is a greater risk
that we may fail to accurately estimate the risks associated with the businesses that we insure and that our reserves
may prove to be inadequate to cover our actual losses. Further, this risk is greater for reinsurance than for primary
insurance of worker’s compensation claims because the period of time that generally elapses between the
underwriting and pricing of our reinsurance contracts and the payment of a claim pursuant to such reinsurance
is even longer than that for primary insurance coverage and, as a resuit, our reserves are more difficult to estimate
and are even less likely to be accurate.

Loss reserve estimates are based on estimates of the ultimate cost of individual claims and on actuarial
estimation techniques. Several factors contribute to the uncertainty in establishing these estimates. Judgment is
required in actuarial estimation to ascertain the relevance of historical payment and claim settlement patterns under
current facts and circumstances. Key assumptions in the estimation of claims over time include the increasing level
of medical, legal and rehabilitation costs, frequency risks, fluctuations in inflation, prevailing economic, social and
Jjudicial trends, legislative changes, third party claims handling procedures and costs associated with fraud or other
abuses of the medical claim process. Due to the inherent uncertainty of estimating reserves, it has been, and will
continue to be, necessary to revise estimated future liabilities as reflected in our reserves for claims and related
expenses.

In states other than California, Majestic has a shorter operating history. Consequently, we must rely on a
combination of industry benchmarks, our limited experience in these states and our experience in California.
Operational changes in claims handling practices over the years may impact the interpretation of this historical data,
which can also be impacted by external forces such as legislative changes, economic fluctuations and legal trends. A
Key assumption in the estimation process for workers’ compensation reserves is severity trends, including the
increasing costs of health care and the medical claims process, If there were unfavorable changes in severity trends,
our reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses might need to be increased, which would result in a charge to
our earnings.

Since Twin Bridges has only been in existence since December 2003 and has had limited loss experience and a
relatively small popuiation of underlying risks, we rely heavily on industry data in establishing our loss reserves.
Our own experience in this line of business could run materially higher than industry loss experience and therefore
we are exposed to an increased likelihood that our actual results may not conform to our estimates.

To the extent our loss reserves for Majestic or Twin Bridges are insufficient to cover actual losses and loss
adjustment expenses, we will have to adjust our loss reserves and may incur charges to our earnings, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, Twin Bridges, our reinsurance subsidiary, reinsures some of the primary business of our Majestic
subsidiary. Consequently, we are exposed to a greater share of certain losses, since, on a consolidated basis, we are
providing as much as $2 million of net coverage for some risks. Any underestimate of our loss reserves for this risk
would have a greater impact on our results of operations and financial position. The increased overall exposure to
losses from large and/or frequent loss occurrences could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

If we do not effectively price our insurance policies, our financial results will be adversely affected.

Our primary insurance policy prices are established when coverage is initiated. Adequate rates are necessary to
generate premiums sufficient to pay losses, loss adjustment expenses and underwriting expenses, and to earn a
profit. Our prices for primary insurance coverage are based on estimates of expected losses generated from the
policies which we underwrite. We analyze many factors when pricing a policy, including the policyholder’s prior
loss history, and the loss prevention orientation of the policyholder’s management. Inaccurate information
regarding a policyholder’s past claims experience puts us at risk of mispricing our policies. When initiating
coverage on a policyholder, we rely on the claims information provided by the policyholder or previous carriers to
properly estimate future claims expense. If the claims information is not accurately stated, we may under price our
policy by using claims estimates that are too low, As a result, our actual costs for providing insurance coverage to
our policyholders may be significantly higher than our premiums, which would have a materially adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations. Besides the risks associated with under pricing risks, we
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could overprice risks, which could reduce our sales volume and competitiveness. In addition, our competitors may
adopt premium rate reductions that are greater than ours. In any of these scenarios, our business, financial
conditions, and results of operations could be materially affected. Finally, the rating actions of state regulatory
authorities have a material impact on the pricing of our policies. For a discussion of such actions, see “Drivers of
Profitability” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in this
annual report.

A downgrade in the A.M. Best ratings of our insurance subsidiaries could reduce the amount of business
we are able to write.

Third-party rating agencies assess and rate the claims-paying ability of insurers based upon criteria established
by the agencies. Both Majestic and Twin Bridges currently have a financial strength rating of “A—"" (Excellent)
from A.M. Best. These financial strength ratings are used by policyholders, insurers, reinsurers and insurance and
reinsurance intermediaries as an important means of assessing the financial strength and quality of our insurance
subsidiaries. These ratings are not evaluations directed to potential purchasers of our common stock and are not
recommendations to buy, sell or hold our common stock.

We believe that the ratings assigned by A.M. Best are an important factor in marketing our products. For
example, some of our independent agents and brokers and insureds have guidelines governing the financial strength
rating of the company providing coverage. A reduction of our A M. Best rating below “A—""would prevent us from
issuing policies to such entities. Our ratings are subject to change at any time and could be revised downward or
revoked at the sole discretion of the rating agencies. Our ability to retain our existing business and to attract new
business in our insurance operations depends largely on these ratings. Our failure to maintain our ratings, or any
other adverse development with respect to our ratings, could cause our current and future independent agents and
brokers, insureds, self-insured groups and their individual members to choose to transact their business with more
highly rated competitors. If A.M. Best downgrades our ratings or publicly indicates that our ratings are under
review, it is likely that we would not be able to compete as effectively with our competitors, and our ability to sell
our products could decline. If that happens, our revenues and earnings could decrease substantially. In addition,
because lenders and reinsurers will also use our A.M. Best ratings as a factor in deciding whether to transact
business with us, the failure of Majestic or Twin Bridges to maintain their current ratings could dissuade a lender or
reinsurance company from conducting business with us or might increase our interest or reinsurance costs.

If we are unable to obtain or collect on our reinsurance protection, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We purchase reinsurance coverage to help manage the risk assumed under our workers’ insurance compen-
sation policies issued by Majestic. Reinsurance coverage helps to protect us from the impact of large losses. It
involves an arrangement in which an insurance company, called the ceding company, transfers insurance risk by
sharing premiums with another insurance company, called the reinsurer. Conversely, the reinsurer receives or
assumes reinsurance from the ceding company. Majestic currently purchases excess of loss reinsurance. Under
excess of loss reinsurance, the reinsurer reimburses the ceding company for losses and loss expenses over a
specified dollar amount up to an agreed limit per occurrence. Majestic’s excess of loss coverage provides
reinsurance for occurrences of loss that exceed $500 thousand but are less than $100.0 million. For a detailed
discussion of Majestic’s reinsurance program, see “Primary Insurance Segment” “Reinsurance” in Item 1 above.

The availability, amount and cost of reinsurance depend on market conditions and our experience with insured
losses and may vary significantly. As a result of catastrophic events, such as the events of September 11, 2001, we
may incur significantly higher reinsurance costs, more restrictive terms and conditions, and decreased availability.
We review and renegotiate our reinsurance protection each year. We cannot be certain, however, that our
reinsurance agreements will be renewed or replaced prior to their expiration upon terms satisfactory to us. If
we are unable to renew or replace our reinsurance agreements upon terms satisfactory to us, our net liability on
individual risks would increase and we would have greater exposure to catastrophic losses. If this were to occur, our
underwriting results would be subject to greater variability and our underwriting capacity could be reduced. These
consequences could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Although we currently expect to renew Majestic’s current excess of loss treaty reinsurance program upon its
expiration, any decrease in the amount of our reinsurance at the time of renewal, whether caused by the existence of
more restrictive terms and conditions or decreased availability, will also increase our risk of loss and, as a result,
could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Majestic currently has
22 reinsurers participating in its excess of loss reinsurance program, and we believe that this is a sufficient number
of reinsurers to provide us with reinsurance in the volume that we require.

We are also subject to credit risk with respect to Majestic’s reinsurers. Reinsurance protection that Majestic
receives does not discharge its direct obligations under its insurance policies. Majestic remains liable to its
policyholders, even if we are unable to make recoveries to which we believe we are entitled under Majesiic’s
reinsurance contracts, Losses may not be recovered from the reinsurers until claims are paid, and, in the case of
long-term workers’ compensation cases, the creditworthiness of the reinsurers may change and we may not recover
amounis to which we are entitled, If we experience these problems in the future, our charges to income would
increase and our revenues would decline. As of December 31, 2007, Majestic had $42.7 million of amounts
recoverable from its reinsurers that we would be obligated to pay if the reinsurers failed to pay Majestic. These
consequences could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations,

If we are unable to realize our investment objectives, our financial condition and results of operations
may be adversely affected.

Investment income is an important component of our net income. As of December 31, 2007, our investment
portfolio, including cash and cash equivalents, had a carrying value of $301.5 million. For the year ended
December 31, 2007, we had $11.4 million of net investment income. Qur investment portfolios are managed under
investment guidelines approved by our Board of Directors. Although these guidelines stress diversification and
capital preservation, our investments are subject to a variety of risks, including risks related to general economic
conditions, interest rate fluctuations and market volatility. General economic conditions may be adversely affected
by U.S. involvement in hostilities with other countries and large-scale acts of terrorism, or the threat of hostilities or
terrorist acts.

Our investment portfolios include a significant amount of interest rate-sensitive instruments, such as bonds,
which may be adversely affected by changes in interest rates. Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors,
including governmental monetary policies, domestic and international economic and political conditions and other
factors beyond our control. Increases in interest rates will decrease the value of our investments in fixed-income
securities. If increases in interest rates occur during periods when we sell investments to satisfy liquidity needs, we
may experience investment losses. Conversely, if interest rates decline, reinvested funds will earn less than
expected.

Any significant decline in our investment income as a result of falling interest rates, decreased dividend
payment rates or general market conditions could have an adverse effect on our net income and, as a result, on our
shareholders’ equity and our policyholders’ surplus.

Our profitability may be adversely impacted by inflation.

The effects of inflation could cause the amount of each claim to rise in the future. Our reserves for losses and
loss adjustment expenses include assumptions about future payments for settlement of claims and claims handling
costs, such as medical treatments and litigation costs. To the extent inflation causes these costs to increase above
reserves established for these costs, we would be required to increase our loss reserves with a corresponding
reduction in our net income in the period in which the deficiency is identified, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Assessments and premium surcharges for state guaranty funds, second injury funds and other mandatory
pooling arrangements may reduce our profitability.

Most states require insurance companies licensed to do business in their state to participate in guaranty funds,
which require the insurance companies to bear a portion of the unfunded obligations of impaired, insolvent or failed
insurance companies, These obligations are funded by assessments, which are expected to continue in the future.
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State guaranty associations levy assessments, up to prescribed limits, on all member insurance companies in the
state based on their proportionate share of premiums written in the lines of business in which the impaired, insolvent
or failed insurance companies are engaged. Accordingly, the assessments levied on us may increase as we increase
our written premium. Some states also have laws that establish second injury funds to reimburse insurers and
employers for claims paid to injured employees for aggravation of prior conditions or injuries. These funds are
supported by either assessments or premium surcharges based on case incurred losses.

In addition, as a condition to conducting business in some states, insurance companies are required to
participate in residual market programs to provide insurance to those employers who cannot procure coverage from
an insurance carrier on a negotiated basis. Insurance companies generally can fulfill their residual market
obligations by, among other things, participating in a reinsurance pool where the results of all policies provided
through the pool are shared by the participating insurance companies. Although we price our insurance to account
for obligations we may have under these pooling arrangements, we may not be successful in estimating our liability
for these obligations. Accordingly, mandatory pooling arrangements may cause a decrease in our profits. As we
write policies in new states that have mandatory pooling arrangements, we will be required to participate in pooling
arrangements. Further, the impairment, insolvency or failure of other insurance companies in these pooling
arrangements would likely increase the liability for other members in the pool. The effect of assessments and
premium surcharges or changes in them could reduce our profitability in any given period or limit our ability to
grow our business.

We may have exposure fo losses from terrorism for which we are required by law to provide coverage.

When writing workers’ compensation insurance policies, we are required by law to provide workers’
compensation benefits for losses arising from acts of terrorism. The impact of any terrorist act is unpredictable,
and the ultimate impact on us would depend upon the nature, extent, location and timing of such an act. Majestic’s
current excess of loss reinsurance treaty program excludes coverage for acts of terrorism. Notwithstanding the
protection provided by reinsurance and the Terrorism Risk Act, the risk of severe losses to us from acts of terrorism
has not been eliminated. Accordingly, events constituting acts of terrorism may not be covered by, or may exceed
the capacity of Terrorism Risk Act and could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

Our reinsurance business is heavily dependent on Majestic, our primary insurance subsidiary, and the
self-insured groups we manage. We could be adversely affected if we are not able to maintain or increase
this business.

Twin Bridges, our reinsurance subsidiary, derives its revenues primarily from reinsurance of risk assumed by
Maijestic, our primary insurance company. Twin Bridges provides excess of loss reinsurance protection to Majestic
on a portion of the risk it assumes under its primary insurance policies. Twin Bridges also provides quota share
protection to Majestic on a portion of the risk it assumes under the excess coverage purchased by our self-insured
groups. Our groups may determine to obtain excess coverage insurance from other U.S. admitted insurers if such
insurers offer a better rate or more favorable terms than those offered by us through Majestic. These insurers in turn
may not offer Twin Bridges the opportunity to reinsure a portion of the excess coverage or may only do so in lower
amounts or on terms and conditions that are less favorable or not acceptable to us. This may occur if these insurers
are offered a better rate or more favorable terms from other reinsurers. Our reinsurance business is also dependent
upon our relationship with the self-insured groups we manage, and consequently, our reinsurance business may be
adversely affected if the self-insured groups we manage decline in premium volume or cease active business
operations.

Consequently, unless we diversify our reinsurance business, our reinsurance segment will remain heavily
dependent on our primary insurance segment. Majestic could lose or otherwise have its current licenses revoked or
fail to maintain satisfactory ratings from relevant rating agencies, thereby negatively impacting our business
operations. In turn, we could lose all or a substantial portion of our reinsurance premium revenues. Any of the
adverse developments described above would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
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We may pursue opportunities to offer other insurance products, and any failure to manage the risks
involved could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We may explore the development and offering of certain non-workers’ compensation property and casualty
insurance products. A number of risks are inherent in this strategy, including, among others the need to obtain
required licenses to issue non-workers’ compensation property and casualty products and additional regulatory
approvals, along with the potential for a greater loss exposure, especially if we fail to successfully manage or
underwrite the new products. If we are unable to effectively manage these or other potential risks inherent in the
marketing and sale of additional insurance products, there could be a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Fee-Based Segment

Due to the joint and several liability of New York and California self-insured groups, the failure of any
self-insured group in the state of New York or California could adversely affect our fee-based business.

Each member of a self-insured group has joint and several liability for the obligations of the group incurred
during the period of its membership and that group may assess the members for any short-fall, even after a member
leaves a group, if the loss was incurred during such member’s participation in the group. If a group is not able to pay
its liabilities from its assets or these assessments, the New York Workers’ Compensation Board may use the security
posted by the group and can also assess all of the other groups in New York State to pay these liabilities. In
California, each member of a self-insured group must participate as a member in the Self-Insurers’ Security Fund
established by state law. Such fund may assess each of its members a pro rata share of the funding necessary as a
result of the failure of a private self-insured employer or self-insured group to meet its compensation obligations
when the employer’s or group’s security deposit is either inadequate or not immediately accessible for the payment
of benefits. The failure of a single large self-insured group in New York or California, even if it is a group that we do
not manage, could have an adverse effect on the other groups in the state and could affect the regulation of groups by
the state. Any such developments may seriously hamper our ability to retain existing members and attract new
members to our managed groups, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and our results of operations.

If the loss reserves for the self-insured groups we manage are underestimated, our business could be
adversely affected.

The self-insured groups we manage establish loss reserves as they recognize liabilities for unpaid losses, which
represent estimates of amounts needed to pay and administer claims with respect to insured events that have
occurred, including events that have not been reported. Loss reserves are estimates and are inherently uncertain;
they do not and cannot represent an exact measure of liability.

The self-insured groups’ loss reserve estimates are based on estimates of the ultimate cost of individual claims
and on actuarial estimation techniques. Several factors contribute to the uncertainty in establishing these estimates.
Judgment is required in actuarial estimation to ascertain the relevance of historical payment and claim settlement
patterns under current facts and circumstances. Key assumptions in the estimation of claims over time include the
increasing level of medical, legal and rehabilitation costs, frequency risks, fluctuations in inflation, prevailing
economic, social and judicial trends, legislative changes, third party claims handling procedures and costs
associated with fraud or other abuses of the medical claim process.

Connected with adverse claims development experienced by the Healthcare Industry Trust of New York, or
HITNY, the New York Workers” Compensation Board conducted an inquiry into the actuarial work done by a third-
party actuary retained by HITNY, We provided testimony and copies of the underlying data that was submitted by
the actuary to the New York Workers’ Compensation Board. The New York Workers’ Compensation Board also
received testimony from the third-party actuary. We also understand that the actuary provided the New York
Workers’ Compensation Board with & written independent report from another qualified independent actuary who
specializes in performing such reviews. This report verified that all actuarial methods used and actuarial judgments
made were in accordance with sound actuarial principles and standards. As of the date of this annwal repor, all
testimony and discovery have been completed in the inquiry, we are awaiting a final decision from the New York
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Workers’ Compensation Board and cannot predict the ultimate outcome of the inquiry. However, as result of this
inquiry, the New York Workers’ Compensation Board required that the loss reserves for each of the self-insured
groups that were reviewed by the third party actuary, including HITNY, undergo an actuarial review by an
independent actuarial firm engaged by the New York Workers’ Compensation Board.

To the extent the loss reserves for any of the self-insured groups we manage, including those groups in New
York which we no longer manage as a result of their election to cease active operations, are insufficient to cover the
group’s actual losses and loss adjustment expenses, the group will have to adjust its loss reserves which could have a
material adverse effect on the groups’ financial condition and cash flows and could require the group to assess its
members. This could expose us to liability for our management of a group, have a negative impact on our future
management of groups, and adversely affect our reputation as a self-insured group manager. Additionally, in the
course of run-off, our New York self-insured that have ceased active operations may undergo forensic audits and
depending on the results of such audits, the groups’ former members may be assessed for any deficits, in which case
we may be subject to claims by the groups or their former members regarding our prior management.

We operate as a third party administrator for our New York self-insured groups, which requires a license
from the New York Workers’ Compensation Board, and our failure to maintain this license could
adversely affect our business.

Part of the services we provide our groups in New York includes acting as the group’s third party administrator,
or TPA. This requires us to be responsible for the administration and defense of the claims of the groups’ members.
We provide TPA services as part of the management fees we receive from our groups. Operating as a TPA requires
us to maintain a license issued by the New York Workers’ Compensation Board, which has discretion to deny or
revoke TPA Jicenses for various reasons. If we do not have the requisite TPA license and approval from the New
York Workers” Compensation Board or do not comply with applicable regulatory requirements, the New York
Workers' Compensation Board could preclude or temporarily suspend us from carrying on some or all of our
activities or otherwise penalize us. This could adversely affect our ability to operate our business.

After an exchange of correspondence in which the New York Workers” Compensation Board expressed
dissatisfaction with our response to a request for certain information relating to the actuarial review of the loss
reserves for HITNY, the New York Workers® Compensation Board notified us on February 8, 2008 that a referral
had been made for a formal investigation into whether disciplinary action should be taken with regard to our TPA
license. We vigorously disagree with the characterizations made by the New York Workers” Compensation Board.
The procedure initiated by the New York Workers’ Compensation Board is inan investigative stage. We are not able
at this time to determine what the outcome of the investigation may be nor what, if any, financial or operational
consequences may result form the proceeding.

If we fail to maintain our TPA license or fail to continue offering claims management services to our groups in
New York, our ability to maintain a portion of our fee-based management services business could be materially and
adversely affected. Moreover, if the New York Workers' Compensation Board decides to suspend or revoke our
TPA license, it is also possible that New York Workers’ Compensation Board could place restrictions on our ability
to perform other group administrator services for our remaining New York group. Regardless of the outcome of
New York Workers” Compensation Board's investigation, we expect that revenues from our fee-based management
services in New York will be significantly reduced in 2008. We do not currently intend to form any additional self-
insurance groups in New York nor are we actively seeking to add additional members to our remaining New York
group. If the New York Workers’ Compensation Board were to place such restrictions our ability to offer group
administrator services to our New York groups, our ability to continue manage our remaining New York self-insured
group or effectively re-enter the New York self-insurance group market in the future if market conditions improve
may be materially impaired. Additionally, our reputation as a manager of self-insurance groups generally may be
negatively impacted in such an event.
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We may be deemed to have a conflict of interest in concurrently managing self-insured groups and plac-
ing the excess coverage for these groups with Majestic and also providing primary werkers’ compensation
insurance to potential members of the self-insured groups.

We act as the insurance broker for the self-insured groups we manage to assist them with the negotiation and
purchase of the required excess and frequency coverage. In the past, this coverage for certain of the self-insured
groups we manage has been placed with Majestic and a portion of such coverage has been reinsured by Twin
Bridges. In addition, we are currently providing primary workers’ compensation insurance policies to businesses
that are potential members of the self-insured groups we manage. Although we have fully disclosed these
relationships to the board of trustees of the self-insured groups we manage, it is possible that one or more of
our groups could conclude that these relationships present an unacceptable conflict of interest. In this event, we
could lose all or a substantial pertion of our fee-based management services revenue which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our fee-based management services business may expose us to litigation and liability in excess of our
current insurance coverage.

The management of our groups exposes us to significant risks. In the past, our fee-based business subsidiaries
have been named as defendants in various legal actions in the course of their operations. We may have liability for
errors or omissions in the services we perform. We may also be liable to our groups, third parties and governmental
authorities for, among other things, fines, penalties and regulatory actions, Adverse judgments in multiple lawsuits
could require us to pay significant damage amounts in the aggregate. These liabilities may exceed our insurance
coverage and financial resources. We cannot assure you that our insurance will be sufficient to cover the liabilities
we may incur or that we will be able to maintain insurance at reasonable rates or at all. If our policies are terminated
and do not contain retroactive coverage, we will not be insured for claims made after the termination of coverage
even if these claims are based on events or acts that occurred during the term of the policy. In such an event, we
could be exposed to liability which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Risks Generally Applicable to our Business and Industry

Our revenues and results of operation may fluctuate as a result of many factors, including the cyclical
changes in the insurance and reinsurance industry, which may cause the price of our common stock to
be volatile.

The results of operations of companies in the insurance industry historically have been subject to significant
fluctuations and uncertainties. Our profitability can be affected significantly by:

* competition;
* rate increases and decreases;

+ volatile and unpredictable developments, including frequency of occurrence or severity of catastrophic and
other loss events;

 changes in the availability of reinsurance capacity and capital capacity;
« rising loss costs that we cannot anticipate at the time we or our groups price insurance products; and
* other general economic and social conditions.

The supply of insurance and reinsurance is related to prevailing prices, the level of insured losses and the level
of industry surplus, which, in turn, may fluctuate in response to changes in rates of return on investments being
earned in the insurance and reinsurance industry. As a result, the insurance and reinsurance business historically has
been a cyclical industry, characterized by periods of intense price competition due to excessive underwriting
capacity as well as periods when shortages of capacity permitted favorable premium levels. The supply of insurance
and reinsurance may increase, either due to capital provided by new entrants or by the commitment of additional
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capital by existing insurers or reinsurers, which may cause prices to decrease. Any of these factors could lead to a
significant reduction in premium rates and additional competition for business.

During 1998, 1999 and 2000, the workers’ compensation insurance industry experienced substantial pricing
competition, and this pricing competition greatly affected the ability of providers to increase premiums. Beginning
in 2001, there was a decrease in pricing competition in the industry, which enabled insurers to raise rates. More
recent legislative reforms in many states, including California Bill 899 passed in April 2004 and New York’s 2007
Workers' Compensation Reform Act passed in March 2007, however, have caused premium rates to decrease. The
pricing competition has affected our ability to raise rates on our primary workers’ compensation insurance products.
In addition, because our self-insured groups do not have capital and surplus, they do not have the ability to provide
coverage at rates that produce a loss after considering investment income and available reinsurance. As a result, our
groups may lose members and experience a reduction in their premium revenues during periods of inadequate
market pricing.

The supply of insurance may increase, either by capital provided by new entrants or by the commitment of
addition capital by existing insurers, which may cause prices to continue to decrease or remain flat. The insurance
and reinsurance market is also subject to intense competition with the rate changes. In addition to these
considerations, changes in the frequency and severity of losses suffered by insureds and insurers may affect
the cycles of the insurance and reinsurance business significantly. If rates continue to decrease and competition
continues to increase, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

We operate in a highly competitive industry and may lack the financial resources to compete effectively.

‘The workers’ compensation insurance market is highly competitive and, except for regulatory considerations,
has very few barriers to entry. We and the self-insured groups we manage compete with many companies and other
underwriting organizations in the workers’ compensation insurance business. Many of the insurance companies we
compete against have more capital, name and brand recognition and marketing and management resources than we
or the groups we manage have. Many of our competitors have offered, and may continue to offer, workers’
compensation insurance combined with other insurance coverage. Some of our competitors offer workers’
compensation insurance on a multi-state basis. We cannot assure you that we will be able to implement our
business strategy in a manner that will allow us to be competitive. If any of our competitors offer premium rates,
policy terms or types of insurance that are more competitive than ours, we could lose market share and our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected as a result.

Negative developments in the workers’ compensation insurance industry could adversely affect our finan-
cial condition and results of operations.

We offer only workers’ compensation insurance products. As a result of this concentration, negative
developments in the economic, competitive or regulatory conditions affecting the workers’ compensation insurance
industry could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Negative
developments in the workers’ compensation insurance industry could have a greater effect on us than on more
diversified insurance companies that also sell other types of insurance. If continued rate declines impair profit-
ability, in any of the states in which we operate, we may elect to reduce the amount of premiums written in such
states. If our competitors offer products at prices lower than we believe would be profitable, we may decline to
compete at those lower prices and our premium levels could be reduced. Many of our competitors are multi-line
carriers that can price the workers’ compensation insurance that they offer at a loss in order to obtain other lines of
business at a profit. As we offer only workers’ compensation insurance products, we must make a profit on this
business and will not lower our price 10 obtain business below a price that we believe will be profitable for us.

The insurance business is subject to extensive regulation that limits the way we can operate our business.

We are subject to extensive regulation by the California Department of Insurance and the Bermuda Monetary
Authority and other insurance regulatory agencies in each state in which we are licensed. The self-insured groups
we manage are subject to extensive regulation by the California Department of Industrial Relations and the New
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York State Workers’ Compensation Board. These regulatory agencies have broad regulatory powers designed
primarily to protect policyholders and their employees, not our shareholders.

Regulations vary from jurisdiction, but typically address or include:

+ approval of premium, contribution and funding rates;

+ ratios of assets to labilities, credit and risk reserves, net worth levels and standards of solvency;
* formation of self-insured groups and licensing as a third-party claims administrator;

» limits on the size and nature of risks assumed and retained;

* reserves for unearned premium, losses and other purposes;

* periodic audits and other regulatory reviews of financial statements;

« annual reporting and disclosure agreements;

* limitations on our ability to transact business with our affiliates;

« regulation of mergers, acquisitions and divestitures;

» compliance with various licensing requirements and approvals that affect our ability to do business;
« approval or rejection of policy coverage and endorsements;

= limitations on our investments and dividends;

* assessment requirements for the provision of funds necessary for the settlement of covered claims under
certain policies provided by impaired, insolvent or failed insurance companies; and

* compliance with medical privacy laws.

]

Insurance departments and state workers’ compensation or similar boards also conduct periodic examinations
of the affairs of the insurance companies and groups they regulate and require the filing of periodic, annual and other
reports relating to financial condition, approval of new members, groups and other matters. Moreover, the NAIC
and the state insurance regulators regularly reexamine existing laws and regulations, interpretations of existing laws
and proposals for new laws. Such laws, regulations or interpretations by NAIC or state insurance regulators may be
more restrictive or result in higher costs to us and the groups we manage.

Regulatory authorities have broad discretion to deny or revoke licenses or suspead underwriting of business for
various reasons, including the violation of regulations. We intend to base some of our practices on our interpre-
tations of regulations or practices that we believe are generally accepted by the insurance industry. These practices
may turn out to be different from the interpretations of regulatory authorities, If we, or the groups we manage, do not
have the requisite licenses and approvals or do not comply with applicable regulatory requirements, insurance
regulatory authorities could preclude or temporarily suspend us or the groups we manage from carrying on some or
all of our or their activities, or otherwise impose penalties. In such an event, our reputation as well as our ability to
operate our business would be materially and adversely affected.

Our ability to transact business with our affiliates and to enter into mergers, acquisitions and divestitures
involving Majestic is limited by the requirements of the insurance holding company laws in California. To comply
with these laws, we are required to file notices with the California Department of Insurance to seek its approval at
least 30 days before engaging in any inter-company transactions, such as sales, purchases, exchanges of assets,
loans, extensions of credit, cost sharing arrangements and extraordinary dividends or other distributions to
shareholders. Under these holding company laws, any change of contro! transaction also requires prior notification
and approval. Because these governmental agencies may not take action or give approval within the thirty day
period, these notification and approval requirements may subject us to business delays and additional business
expense. If we fail to give these notifications, we may be subject to significant fines and penalties and damaged
working relations with these governmental agencies.
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Twin Bridges is subject to regulation and supervision in Bermuda. Among other matters, Bermuda statutes,
regulations and policies of the Bermuda Monetary Authority require Twin Bridges to maintain minimum levels of
statutory capital, statutory capital and surplus, and liquidity, to meet solvency standards, to obtain prior approval of
certain issuances and transfers of shares as well as to submil to certain periodic examinations of its financial
condition. These statutes and regulations may, in effect, restrict Twin Bridges’ ability to assume reinsurance, to
make certain investments and to distribute funds. We cannot predict whether any change to these regulations will
materially and adversely affect our business.

Moreover, the offshore insurance and reinsurance regulatory markets have long been the subject of scrutiny by
federal and state legislative and regulatory bodies. This scrutiny has led to a number of legislative and regulatory
initiatives designed to make it more difficult for offshore companies to transact business with U.S. persons. If Twin
Bridges were to become subject to any U.S. federal or state law or regulation, Twin Bridges may be required to post
deposits or maintain minimum surplus and may be prohibited from engaging in lines of business or from writing
specified types of policies or contracts. Compliance with these laws and regulations could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations,

The effects of emerging claim and coverage issues on our business are uncertain.

As industry practices and legal, judicial, social and other environmental conditions change, unexpected and
unintended issues related to claims and coverage may emerge. These issues may adversely affect our business by
either extending coverage beyond our underwriting intent or by increasing the number or size of claims. In some
instances, these changes may not become apparent until after we have issued insurance policies that are affected by
the changes. As a result, the full extent of liability under our insurance products may not be known until many years
after the coverage is initiated. For example, medical costs associated with permanent and partial disabilities may
increase more rapidly or be higher than we currently expect, Changes of this nature may expose us to higher claims
than we anticipated when we underwrote underlying coverage.

Our geographic concentration ties our performance to the business, economic and regulatory conditions
in California and New York.

Qur primary insurance business is concentrated in California which represented 78% of our primary insurance
segment net earned premiums for the year ended December 31, 2007 Qur self-insured groups are located in New
York and California, which represented 69% and 31% of our fee based revenues, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2007. Unfavorable business, economic or regulatory conditions in either of those two states could
negatively impact our business, and, consequently, we are exposed to economic and regulatory risks that are greater
than the risks faced by insurance companies that conduct business over a greater geographic area.

The California workers’ compensation market, for example, has been characterized by strong fluctuations
during the last decade. High competition among insurers during the 1990’s led to significant rate reductions which
in turned resulted in multiple insolvencies of insurance companies focused on the California workers™ compen-
sation market and forced a large number of insurers to withdraw from the market completely. California also
increased the benefits payable to injured workers in January 2003. In response to this negative market environment,
California regulators issued a number of decisions increasing the advisory pure premium rates and the California
legislature enacted a series of reforms of the California workers’ compensation law which had a net effect of
reducing insurer loss costs. For a discussion of the current industry trends in California, see Item 7. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations below under the heading “Drivers of
Profitability — Industry Trends.”

The New York workers’ compensation market had remained relatively stable until this year with the adoption
of the 2007 Workers’ Compensation Reform Act in March 2007, This legislative change was intended to create a
significantly less expensive system of workers’ compensation in New York while increasing the weekly benefits
paid to injured workers. Following an analysis of the impact of the reforms and market trends associated with New
York’s 2007 Workers" Compensation Reform Act, the New York State Superintendent of Insurance ordered that
overall policyholders’ costs for workers’ compensation were to be reduced by 20.5% effective October 1, 2007,
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which included both changes in the workers’ compensation rates set by the New York State Workers” Compensation
Board as well as a change to the New York State Assessment.

Because our business is concentrated in California and New York, the occurrence of one or more catastrophic
events or other conditions affecting losses in these states could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operation or financial condition, We may be exposed to economic and regulatory risks or risk from natural perils
that are greater than the risks associated with greater geographic diversification.

If we cannot sustain our relationships with our independent agents and brokers, we may be unable to
operate profitably.

We market and sell our workers’ compensation insurance products solely through independent agents and
brokers. We do not have an exclusive relationship with these independent agents and brokers. They are not obligated
to promote our insurance products and may sell insurance products offered by our competitors. Many of our
competitors have longer relationships with the independent agencies that we use or intend to use. Further, we must
offer workers’ compensation insurance products that meet the requirements of these agencies and their customers
and provide competitive compensation to these agencies. We cannot assure you that we will successfully maintain
these relationships, cultivate new ones or be able to meet the future requirements of these independent agents and
brokers. In addition, consolidation in the insurance agency and brokerage industry may lead to the loss of one or
more of these relationships. The failure to maintain satisfactory relationships with the independent agents from
whom we obtain or expect to obtain our business or to develop new relationships would have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations,

We may require additional capital in the future, which may not be available on favorable terms or at all.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including state regulatory reguirements, the
financial stability of reinsurers, and our ability to write new business and establish premium rates sufficient to cover
our estimated claims. We may need to raise additional capital or curtail our growth if the capital of our insurance and
reinsurance subsidiaries is insufficient 1o support future operating requirements and/or cover claims. We are not
able to estimate the amount of additional capital we may require in the future or predict the timing of our future
capital needs. Any additional equity or debt financing, if available at ali, may be available only on terms that are not
favorable to us. If we are able 1o raise capital through equity financings, your interest in us would be diluted, and the
securities we issue may have rights, preferences and privileges that are senior to our common shares. If we raise
capital through the issuance of debt, the incurrence and repayment of any debt could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on our key executives, and may not be able to hire and retain additional key employees or suc-
cessfully integrate new members of our management team and the loss of a key employee could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

QOur success will depend largely on our continved reliance on the experience and expertise of our senior
management, which includes, among others, Daniel G. Hickey, Jr., our Chief Executive Officer, who has more than
16 years of insurance industry experience. Although we have entered into employment agreements with Mr. Hickey
and other members of our senior management team, any of our senior managers may terminate his employment
with us and seek employment with others who may seek his expertise. The loss of Mr. Hickey’s expertise or the
expertise of any of our senior management through death, disability or termination of employment could have a
material and adverse effect on cur business, financial condition and results of operations. We are not the beneficiary
of life or disability insurance covering any of our executives, key employees or other personnel,

Our ability to implement our business strategy will also depend on our success in recruiting, retaining and
successfully integrating our management team and other personnel. If we are unable to retain employees and to
attract and integrate new members of our management team, key employees or other personnel, we may be unable
to successfully implement our business strategy in a timely manner. If we are unable to do so or if we were to lose the
services of our senior executives or key employees, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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Our status as a holding company with no direct operations could adversely affect our ability to meet our
debt obligations, pay dividends, make other payments and redeploy capital among our subsidiaries.

CRM Holdings is a holding company that transacts business through its operating subsidiaries, including
Majestic, Twin Bridges and CRM. CRM Holdings’ primary assets are the capital shares and stock of its operating
subsidiaries. Dividends and other permitted distributions from our subsidiaries are expected to be our primary
source of funds to meet our ongoing cash requirements and other expenses, and to pay dividends, if any, to our
shareholders. Insurance regulations in California restrict the payment of dividends and other distributions by
Majestic. Bermuda law and regulations, including Bermuda insurance regulations, restrict the declaration and
payment of dividends out of retained earnings, and the making of distributions out of contributed surplus, by Twin
Bridges unless certain regulatory requirements are met. For a detailed discussion of these restrictions, please see
Item I. Business under the heading “Regulation” above. In addition to these regulatory restrictions, U.S. withholding
tax payable on dividends paid to CRM Holdings by our U.S. subsidiaries affects our ability to pay dividends and
redeploy capital from our U.S. subsidiaries to our Bermhuda operations. Any dividends paid from our U.S. sub-
sidiaries to us would be subject to a U.S. federal withholding tax of 30%. We therefore do not expect to receive
dividends from our U.S. subsidiaries for the foreseeable future. The inability of our operating subsidiaries to pay
dividends in an amount sufficient to enable us to meet our cash requirements could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Implementation of our growth strategies is subject to numerous risks and difficulties.

Our continuing growth strategy includes expanding in our existing markets, entering new geographic markets,
further developing our independent agency relationships, exploring potential new products, exploring and exe-
cuting potential acquisitions. Our implementation of these strategies is subject to various risks, including risks
associated with our ability to:

» identify, recruit and integrate new independent agents and brokers;

» properly design and price new and existing products and programs;

« identify profitable new geographic markets and product lines to enter;
* obtain necessary licenses and regulatory approvals;

« consider and identify, as necessary, further acquisition candidates and successfully execute and integrate
acquisitions we undertake; and

« identify, hire and train new underwriting and claims handling employees.

We may encounter other difficulties in the implementation of our growth strategies, including unanticipated
expenditures and damaged or lost relationships with customers and independent agents and brokers. Our growth
strategies include entry into geographic or business markets in which we have little or no prior experience. Any
failure by us to manage our growth and to respond to changes in our business could have a material adverse effect on
our business and profitability and could cause the price of our common stock to decline.

Our business could be adversely affected by Bermuda employment restrictions.

Under Bermuda law, non-Bermudians (other than spouses of Bermudians and holders of a Permanent
Resident’s Certificate) may not engage in any gainful occupation in Bermuda without an appropriate governmental
work permit. Work permits may be granted or extended by the Bermuda government upon showing that, after proper
public advertisement in most cases, no Bermudian (or spouse of a Bermudian) is available who meets the minimum
standard requirements for the advertised position. In 2001, the Bermuda government announced a new policy
limiting the duration of work permits to six years, with certain exemptions for key employees. We may not be able to
use the services of one or more of our key employees in Bermuda if we are not able to obtain work permits for them,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business. We have obtained non-resident work permits for our key
employees. If we are unable to renew the work permits for these employees or to obtain work permits for any new
employees, we may not be able to conduct our business operations fully or efficiently and our business, financial
condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.
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Risks Related to Qur Common Shares

Future sales of common shares by our directors, officers, affiliates and other shareholders may adversely
affect the price, and the future issues of shares under our employee incentive plans may lower the price,
of our common shares.

We cannot predict what effect, if any, future sales of our common shares, or the availability of shares for future
sale, will have on the trading price of our common shares. Future sales of common shares by our directors, officers,
affiliates and other shareholders, or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price
of our common shares and may make it more difficult for you to sell your common shares at a time and price that
you determine appropriate. In addition, additional common shares may be issuable pursuant to our 2005 Long-Term
Incentive Plan and 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, pursuant to which we have reserved an aggregate of up to
1,700,000 common shares for issuance. The issuance of shares under these plans will result in a dilution of your
investment.

Provisions in our charter documents may reduce or increase the voting power associated with our com-
mon shares and thereby affect your voting righis.

Our bye-laws generally provide that shareholders have one vote for each share held by them and are entitled to
vole, on a non-cumulative basis, at all meetings of shareholders. However, pursuant to a mechanism specified in our
bye-laws, the voting rights exercisable by a shareholder will be limited so that certain persons or groups are not
deemed to hold more than 9.9% of the total voting power conferred by our shares, In addition, our board of directors
retains certain discretion to make adjustments to the aggregate number of votes attaching to the shares of any
shareholder that they consider fair and reasonable in all the circumstances to ensure that no person will hold more
than 9.9% of the total voting power represented by our then outstanding shares. Our bye-laws provide, generally,
that any shareholder owning, directly, indirectly or, in the case of any U.S. person, by attribution, more than 9.9% of
our common shares will have the voting rights attached to such common shares reduced so that it may not exercise
more than 9.9% of the total voting rights. The reduction in votes is generally to be applied proportionately among all
shareholders who are members of the first shareholder’s control group. A control group means, with respect to any
person, all shares directly owned by such person and all shares directly owned by each other shareholder any of
whose shares are included in the controlled shares of such person. Controlled shares means all common shares that a
person is deemed to own directly, indirectly (within the meaning of Section 958(a) of the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code, or the Code) or, in the case of a U.S. person, constructively (within the meaning of Section 958(b) of the
Code). A similar limitation is to be applied to shares held directly by members of a related group. A related group
means a group of shareholders that are investment vehicles and are under common control and management. Any
reduction in votes will generally be applied proportionately among members of the shareholder’s control group or
related group, as the case may be. The amount of any reduction of votes that occurs by operation of the above
limitations will generally be reallocated proporticnately among all of our other shareholders who were not members
of these groups so long as such reallocation does not cause any person to hold more than 9.9% of the total voting
power of our shares.

The attribution rules with respect to a control group will not apply to Daniel G. Hickey, Sr. and Daniel G.
Hickey, Jr. Accordingly, the voting rights of each of Mr. Hickey, Sr. and Mr. Hickey, Jr. will be limited to 9.9% on an
individual basis and not on a joint and aggregale basis.

Under these provisions, some shareholders may have the right to exercise their voting rights limited to less than
one vote per share. Moreover, these provisions could have the effect of reducing the voting power of certain
shareholders who would not otherwise be subject to the limitation by virtue of their direct share ownership.

As a result of any reduction in the votes of other shareholders, your voting power might increase above 5% of
the aggregate voting power of the outstanding shares, which may result in your becoming a reporting person subject
to Schedule 13D or 13G filing requirements under the Exchange Act.

We also have the authority to request information from any shareholder for the purpose of determining whether
a shareholder’s voting rights are to be reallocated pursuant to the bye-laws. If a shareholder fails to respond to a
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request for information from us or submits incomplete or inaccurate information (after a reasonable cure period) in
response to a request, we, in our reasonable discretion, may reduce or eliminate the shareholder’s voting rights.

Anti-takeover provisions in our bye-laws could impede an attempt to replace or remove our directors,
which could diminish the value of our common shares.

Our bye-laws contain provisions that may entrench directors and make it more difficult for shareholders to
replace directors even if the shareholders consider it beneficial to do so. In addition, these provisions could delay or
prevent a change of control that a shareholder might consider favorable. For example, these provisions may prevent
a shareholder from receiving the benefit from any premium over the market price of our common shares offered by a
bidder in a potential takeover. Even in the absence of an attempt to effect a change in management or a takeover
attempt, these provisions may adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common shares if they are viewed
as discouraging changes in management and takeover attempts in the future.

Examples of provisions in our bye-laws that could have such an effect include the following:

« election of our directors is staggered, meaning that the members of only one of three classes of our directors
are elected each year;

« the total voting power of any sharcholder owning more than 9.9% of our common shares wiil be reduced to
9.9% of the total voting power of our common shares; and

« our directors may, in their discretion, decline to record the transfer of any common shares on our share
register if the shares have not been fully paid for, if the directors are not satisfied that all required regulatory
approvals for such transfer have been obtained, if as a result of the transfer a shareholder would own more
than 9.9% of our common shares, or if the instrument of transfer is in favor of more than five persons jointly.

U.S. persons who awn our common shares may have more difficulty protecting their interests than U.S.
persons who are shareholders of a U.S. corporation.

The Companies Act, which applies to us, differs in certain material respects from laws generally applicable to
U.S. corporations and their shareholders. In order to highlight those differences, we have set forth below a summary
of certain significant provisions of the Companies Act, including, where relevant, information on our bye-laws,
which differ in certain respects from the provisions of Delaware corporate law. Further, under certain circum-
stances, our bye-laws impose greater restrictions on us than required by the Companies Act. Because the following
statements are summaries, they do not discuss ail aspects of Bermuda law that may be relevant to us and our
shareholders.

Shareholders’ Suits. The rights of shareholders under Bermuda law are not as extensive as the rights of
shareholders in many United States jurisdictions. Class actions and derivative actions are generally not available to
shareholders under Bermuda law, However, the Bermuda courts ordinarily would be expected to follow English
case law precedent, which would permit a shareholder to commence a derivative action in the name of a company
where the act complained of is alleged to be beyond the corporate power of the company, is illegal or would result in
the violation of such company’s memorandum of association or bye-laws. Furthermore, consideration would be
given by the court to acts that are alleged to constitute a fraud against the minority shareholders or where an act
requires the approval of a greater percentage of our shareholders than actually approved it. The successful party in
such an action generally would be able to recover a portion of the attorney’s fees incurred in connection with such
action. Our bye-laws provide that shareholders waive all claims or rights of action that they might have, individually
or in our right, against any director or officer or any person appointed to any committee by the board of directors or
resident representative for any action or failure to act in the performance of his duties, except such waiver shall not
extend to any claims or rights of action that would render the waiver void pursuant to the Companies Act and arise
out of fraud or dishonesty on the part of such person or with respect to the recovery of any gain, personal profit or
advantage to which such person is not legally entitled. Conversely, class actions and derivative actions generally are
available to shareholders under Delaware corporate law, for, among other things, breach of fiduciary duty, corporate
waste and actions not taken in accordance with applicable law. In such actions under Delaware corporate law, the
court has discretion to permit the winning party to recover attorney’s fees in connection with such action.
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Indemnification of Directors and Officers. Under Bermuda law and our bye-laws, we will indemnify our
directors or officers or any person appointed to any commiitee by the board of directors and any residem
representative (and their respective heirs, executors or administrators) against all actions, costs, charges, liabilities,
loss, damage or expense, to the fullest extent permitted by law, incurred or suffered by such officer, director or other
person by reason of any act done, conceived in or omitted in the conduct of our business or in the discharge of his
duties; provided that such indemnification shall not extend to any matter invelving any fraud or dishonesty on the
part of such director, officer or other person. Under Bermuda law, a company pursvant 1o (a) the terms of its bye-
laws, or (b) a contract or arrangement between the company and any director, officer or auditor, may advance
moneys to any director, officer or auditor for the costs, charges and expenses incurred by the officer or auditor in
defending any civil or criminal proceedings against them, on condition that the officer or auditor shall repay the
advance if any allegation of fraud dishonesty is proved against them. In general, under Delaware corporate law,
LS. companies may limit the personal liability of their directors as long as they acted in good faith and reasonably
believed their actions were not opposed to the best interests of the company and, with regard to criminal actions or
proceedings, without knowing violation of law.

We are a Bermuda company and it may be difficult for you to enforce judgments against us.

We are a Bermuda company and a significant portion of our assets are or may be located in jurisdictions outside
the United States. It may therefore be difficult for shareholders to affect service of process against us or to enforce
against us judgments of U.S. courts predicated upon civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws.

There is no treaty in force between the United States and Bermuda providing for the reciprocal recognition and
enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters. As a result, whether a United States judgment would be
enforceable in Bermuda against us or our directors and officers depends on whether the U.S. court that entered the
judgment is recognized by the Bermuda court as having jurisdiction over us or our directors and officers, as
determined by reference to Bermuda conflict of law rules. A judgment debt from a U.S. court that is final and for a
sum certain based on U.S. federal securities laws will not be enforceable in Bermuda unless the judgment debtor had
submitted to the jurisdiction of the U.S. court, and the issue of submission and jurisdiction is a matter of Bermuda
{not United States) law.

In addition to and irrespective of jurisdictional issues, the Bermuda courts will not enforce a United States
federal securities law that is either penal or contrary to the public policy of Bermuda. An action brought pursuant to
a public or penal law, the purpose of which is the enforcement of a sanction, power or right at the instance of the state
in its sovereign capacity, may not be entertained by a Bermuda court. Certain remedies available under the laws of
U.S. jurisdictions, including certain remedies under U.S. federal securities laws, will not be available under
Bermuda law or enforceable in a Bermuda count, as they may be contrary to Bermuda public policy. Further, no
claim may be brought in Bermuda against us or our directors and officers in the first instance for violations of
U.S. federal securities laws because these laws have no extraterritorial jurisdiction under Bermuda law and do not
have force of law in Bermuda. A Bermuda court may, however, impose civil liability on us or our directors and
officers if the facts alleged in a complaint constitute or give rise to a cause of action under Bermuda law.

Risks Related to Taxation
CRM Holdings and its non-U.S. subsidiaries may be subject to U.S. federal income taxation.

If CRM Holdings or any of our non-U.S. subsidiaries, including Twin Bridges, were treated as engaged in a
trade or business in the United States, that entity could be subject to U.S. income and branch profits tax on ali or a
portion of the income that is effectively connected with such trade or business. We intend to operate in a manner
such that neither CRM Holdings nor any of our non-U.S. subsidiaries will be treated as being engaged in a trade or
business in the United States. Accordingly, we do not believe that CRM Holdings or any of our non-U.S. subsidiaries
are or will be subject to U.S. federal income taxation on net income. However, this determination is essentially
factual in nature, and there are no definitive standards as to what activities constitute being engaged in a trade or
business within the United States. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, or
IRS, would not find that CRM Holdings or any of our non-U.8S. subsidiaries is engaged in a trade or business in the
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United States. Any liability for income or branch profits tax resulting from such finding could materially adversely
affect our results of operations.

Even if CRM Holdings and our non-U.S. subsidiaries are not treated as being engaged in a trade or business in
the United States, we may be subject to U.S. federal income tax on certain fixed or determinable annual or
petiodical gains, profits, and income (such as dividends and certain interest on investments} derived from sources
within the United States.

Any of our U.S. subsidiaries may be deemed a “personal holding company” and subject to additional
U.S. federal income tax.

Any of CRM Holdings’ U.S. subsidiaries might be subject to additional U.S. federal income tax on a portion of
its income if it is considered a personal holding company for U.S. federal income tax purposes. This status will
depend on whether more than 50% of our shares by value could be deemed to be owned (taking into account indirect
and constructive ownership) by five or fewer individuals and whether 60% or more of such subsidiary’s adjusted
ordinary gross income consists of “personal holding company income,” which is, in general, certain forms of
passive and investment income. We believe based upon information made available to us regarding our existing
shareholder base that none of CRM Holdings’ U.S. subsidiaries should be considered a personal holdings company
for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In addition, we intend to manage our business to minimize the possibility that
we will meet the 60% income threshold. However, because of the lack of complete information regarding our
ultimate common share ownership (i.., as determined by the constructive ownership rules for personal holdings
companies), we cannot be certain that any of CRM Holdings’ subsidiaries will not be considered a personal holding
company or that the amount of U.S. tax that would be imposed in that case would be immaterial

Shareholders who are U.S. persons may recognize income for U.S. federal income tax purposes on our
undistributed earnings.

Shareholders who are U.S. persons may recognize income for U.S. federal income tax purposes on our
undistributed earnings if we are treated as a controlled foreign corporation or a passive foreign investment company
or if we have generated more than a permissible amount of related person insurance income. In addition, gain on the
disposition of our common shares may be treated as dividend income.

Controlled Foreign Corporation. Each “10% U.S. Shareholder” of a foreign corporation that is a controlled
foreign corporation for an uninterrupted period of thirty days or more during a taxable year, and that owns shares in
the controlled foreign corporation directly or indirectly through foreign entities on the last day of the corporation’s
taxable year on which such corporation was a controlled foreign corporation, must include in its gross income for
U.S. federal income tax purposes its pro rata share of the controiled foreign corporation’s “subpart F income,” even
if the subpart F income is not distributed. Subpart F income generally includes, among other things, investment
income such as dividends, interest and capital gains, and income from insuring risks located outside the insurer’s
country of incorporation. A foreign corporation is considered a controlled foreign corporation if *10% U.S. Share-
holders” own more than 50% of the total combined voting power of all classes of voting stock of the foreign
corporation, or the total value of all stock of the corporation. A 10% U.S. Shareholder is a U.S. person, as defined in
the Code, that owns at least 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the foreign corporation
entitled 1o vote. For purposes of taking into account subpart F income consisting of insurance income, a controlled
foreign corporation also includes a foreign corporation of which more than 25% of the total combined voting power
of all classes of stock (or more than 25% of the total value of the stock} is owned by 10% U.S. Shareholders, on any
day during the taxable year of such corporation, if the gross amount of premiums or other consideration for the
reinsurance or the issuing of insurance or annuity contracts generating subpart F income exceeds 75% of the gross
amount of premiums or other consideration in respect of all risks. It is expected that all of Twin Bridges’ income will
be considered subpart F insurance income. For purposes of determining whether the more-than-50% (or more-than-
25%. in the case of insurance income) and 10% ownership tests have been satisfied, and therefore whether a
corporation is a controlled foreign corporation, shares owned includes shares owned directly or indirectly through
foreign entities or shares considered owned under constructive ownership rules. The attribution rules are com-
plicated and depend on the particular facts relating to each investor.
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CRM Holdings’ bye-laws contain provisions that impose limitations on the concentration of voting power of
its shares, Accordingly, based upon these provisions and the dispersion of our share ownership, we do not believe
that we have any 10% U.S. Shareholders. It is possible, however that the IRS could challenge the effectiveness of
these provisions and that a court could sustain such a challenge.

Passive Foreign Investment Company. We do not intend to conduct our activities in & manner that would
cause us to become a passive foreign investment company. However, it is possible that we could be deemed a
passive foreign investment company by the IRS. If we were considered a passive foreign investment company it
could have material adverse tax consequences for an investor that is subject to U.S. federal income taxation,
including subjecting the investor to a greater tax liability than might otherwise apply or subjecting the investor to tax
on amounts in advance of when tax would otherwise be imposed. There are currently no regulations regarding the
application of the passive foreign investment company provisions 10 an insurance company. New regulations or
pronouncements interpreting or clarifying these rules may be issued in the future. We cannot predict what impact, if
any, this guidance would have on a shareholder that is subject to U.S. federal income taxation. We have not sought
and do not intend to seek an opinion of legal counsel as to whether or not we were a passive foreign investment
company for any year.

Related Person Insurance Income.  f Twin Bridges’ gross related person insurance income equals or exceeds
20% of its gross insurance income in any taxable year and direct or indirect insureds (and persons related to such
insureds) own (or are treated as owning directly or indirectly) 20% or more of the voting power or vaiue of the shares
of Twin Bridges and U.S. persons are considered to own in the aggregate 25% or more of the stock of Twin Bridges
by vote or value, then a U.S. person who owns any of our shares directly or indirectly through foreign entities on the
last day of Twin Bridges’ taxable year on which it is a controlled foreign corporation would be required to include in
its income for U.S. federal income tax purposes the shareholder’s pro rata share of Twin Bridges’ related person
insurance incorne for the U.S. person’s taxable year that includes the end of Twin Bridges’ taxable year determined
as if such related person insurance income were distributed proportionately to such U.S. shareholders at that date
regardless of whether such income is distributed. In addition any related person insurance income that is includible
in the income of a U.S. tax-exempt organization will be treated as unrelated business taxable income. The amount of
retated person insurance income earned by Twin Bridges (generally, premium and related investment income from
the direct or indirect insurance or reinsurance of any direct or indirect U.S. shareholder of Twin Bridges or any
person related to such shareholder) will depend on a number of factors, including the identity of persons directly or
indirectly insured or reinsured by Twin Bridges.

Although we do not expect our gross related person insurance income to equal or exceed 20% of our gross
insurance income in the foreseeable future, some of the factors which determine the extent of related person
insurance income in any period may be beyond Twin Bridges’ control. Consequently, Twin Bridges’ gross related
person insurance income could equal or exceed 20% of its gross insurance income in any taxable year and
ownership of its shares by direct or indirect insureds and related persons could equal or exceed the 20% threshold
described above.

The related person insurance income rules provide that if a shareholder that is a U.S. person disposes of shares
in a foreign insurance corporation that has related person insurance income (even if the amount of related person
insurance income is less than 20% of the corporation’s gross insurance income or the ownership of its shares by
direct or indirect insureds and related persons is less than the 20% threshold) and in which U.S. persons own 25% or
more of the shares, any gain from the disposition will generally be treated as ordinary income to the extent of the
shareholder's share of the corporation’s undistributed earnings and profits that were accumulated during the period
that the shareholder owned the shares (whether or not such earnings and profits are attributable 1o related person
insurance income). In addition, such a shareholder will be required to comply with reporting requirements,
regardless of the amount of shares owned by the shareholder. We believe that these rules should not apply to
dispositions of our shares because CRM Holdings will not itself be directly engaged in the insurance business and
because proposed U.S. Treasury regulations appear to apply only in the case of shares of corporations that are
directly engaged in the insurance business. However, the IRS might interpret the proposed regulations in a different
manner and the applicable proposed regulations may be promulgated in final form in a manner that would cause
these rules to apply to dispositions of our shares.
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Changes in U.S. federal income tax law could materially adversely affect an investment in our common
shares.

Legislation is periodically introduced in the U.S. Congress intended to eliminate some perceived tax
advantages of companies (including insurance and reinsurance companies) that have legal domiciles outside
the United State but have certain U.S. connections. For example, on September 26, 2007, the U.S. Senate
Commitiee on Finance conducted a hearing concerning the tax issues connected with the offshore reinsurance
industry. While we believe there are no currently pending legislative proposal from this hearing or otherwise which,
if enacted, would have a material adverse impact on us or our shareholders, it is possible that legislative proposals
could emerge in the future that could have an adverse impact on us or our shareholders.

CRM Holdings could be considered a U.S. corparation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and thus
subject to U.S. tax on its worldwide income (including current income of Twin Bridges), if the value of
Twin Bridges at the time of our restructuring did not exceed 20% of the fotal value of CRM, CRM CA,
Eimar and Twin Bridges at that time.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 provides that, if a foreign corporation acquires substantially all of the
assets of a U.S. corporation, and 80% or more of the stock of the foreign corporation {excluding new stock issued in
a public offering related to the acquisition) is owned by former shareholders of the U.S. corporation by reason of
their ownership of the U.S. corporation, the foreign corporation will be considered a U.S. corporation for
U.S. federal income tax purposes. In our restructuring, the former owners of CRM and Eimar contributed all
of their interests in CRM and Eimar to CRM USA Holdings in return for all of the common stock of CRM USA
Holdings. The former owners of CRM and Eimar then contributed all of their CRM USA Holdings shares to us in
exchange for 6,372,425 of our common shares. In addition, in our restructuring, the former owners of Twin Bridges
contributed all of their shares in Twin Bridges to us in exchange for 3,874,690 of our common shares. As a result of
these exchanges, the former owners of CRM, Eimar and Twin Bridges acquired 9,457,115 of our common shares
and 790,000 of our Class B shares in our restructuring.

Based on discussions with our professional advisors at the time of our restructuring, we believe that the former
owners of CRM and Eimar did not obtain 80% or more of the stock of CRM Holdings (excluding the stock sold in
our initial public offering) by reason of their ownership of CRM and Eimar (i.e., we believe that Twin Bridges was
worth more than 20% of the combined value of CRM, CRM CA, Eimar and Twin Bridges). We cannot assure you
that the IRS will agree with our conclusions. If the IRS successfully challenges our conclusions, CRM Holdings
would be subject to United States federal income tax on its worldwide income at the rate applicable to U.S. cor-
porations, which is currently 35%, rather than being subject to tax on only certain U.S. source income and income
effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business. However, in that case, dividends paid to CRM Holdings by its
U.S. subsidiaries would not be subject to any U.S. federal income tax, nor would they be subject to the 30%
U.S. federal withholding tax. The tax liability that would result if CRM Holdings is treated as a U.S. corporation for
U.S. federal income tax purposes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We may become subject to taxes in Bermuda after March 28, 2016.

The Bermuda Minister of Finance, under the Exempted Undertakings Tax Protection Act 1966, as amended, of
Bermuda has given each of CRM Holdings and Twin Bridges an assurance that if any legislation is enacted in
Bermuda that would impose tax computed on profits or income, or computed on any capital asset, gain or
appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax, then the imposition of any such tax will not be
applicable to CRM Holdings or Twin Bridges or any of their operations, shares, debentures or other obligations until
March 28, 2016. Given the limited duration of the Minister of Finance’s assurance, we cannot be certain that we will
not be subject to any Bermuda tax afier March 28, 2016. In the event that we become subject to any Bermuda tax
after such date, it would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations,

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease our principal executive offices in Hamilton Bermuda, which also houses our reinsurance operations,
Our U.S. executive offices are located in leased premises of approximately 34 thousand square feet in Pough-
keepsie, New York, which we moved into on December 17, 2007. We operaie our primary insurance east coast
operations and fee based management services from these offices. We have an option to purchase the building
during the first two years of our lease for the fair market value of the property, which will not be less than
$3.5 million plus the costs incurred by the landlord in developing and constructing the building. Our west coast
primary insurance operations are located in leased premises of approximately 26 thousand square feet in
San Francisco, California, which we moved into in October 29, 2007. We also rent additional office for our
primary insurance and fee based operations in five other locations. We believe that such leased properties are
suitable and adequate for our current business operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

After an exchange of correspondence in which the New York Workers’ Compensation Board expressed
dissatisfaction with the Company’s response 10 a request for certain information relating to the audit of loss reserves
for the self-insured groups administered by CRM, the New York Workers’ Compensation Board notified the
Company on February 8, 2008 that a referral had been made for a formal investigation into whether disciplinary
action should be taken by the New York Workers’ Compensation Board with regard to CRM’s third party
administrator’s license. We vigorously disagree with the characterizations made by the New York Workers’
Compensation Board. The procedure inittated by the New York Workers’ Compensation Board is in the inves-
tigative stage. We are not able at this time to determine what the outcome of the investigation may be nor what, if
any, financial or operational consequences may resalt form the proceeding.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matter was submitted to a vote of our shareholders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2007,

PART I

ITEM 8. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common shares began trading on December 21, 2005 on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the
symbol CRMH. As of December 31, 2007, there were approximately 11 holders of record of our common shares
and 1 holder of record of our Class B shares. Prior to December 21, 2005, there was no public market for our
common shares.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common
shares as reported on the NASDAQ Global Select Market:

2007 2006
P_el"l'iq High Low High Low
FirstQuarter . . .. ..., .. .. i et $8.98 $7.67 $15.00 $11.45
Second Quarter .. . ......... .. ... .. $8.90 $750 S$11.69 $10.10
Third Quarter ... ... . . e $7.67 $6.02 %1043 § 6.81
Fourth Quarter. . . .. ... ... . i i i, $8.35 $6.17 $10.10 § 7.25

Dividend Policy

We have never paid cash dividends on our commoen shares. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to
finance our operations and growth. As a result, we do not expect to pay any cash dividends on cur common shares
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for the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay cash dividends on our common shares will be at the
discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent on our earnings, financial condition, operating results,
capital requirements, any contractual, regulatory or other restrictions on the payment of dividends by our
subsidiaries to CRM Holdings, and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant,

CRM Holdings is a holding company and has no direct operations. Our ability to pay dividends in the future
depends on the ability of our operating subsidiaries to pay dividends to us. Our insurance company subsidiaries are
regulated insurance companies and therefore are subject to significant regulatory restrictions limiting their ability to
declare and pay dividends, which are discussed in greater derail above in Ttem 1. Business under the heading
“Regulation.” In addition to these regulatory restrictions, U.S. withholding tax payable on dividends paid to CRM
Holdings by our U.S. subsidiaries affects our ability to pay dividends. Any dividends paid from our U.S. subsidiaries
to us would be subject to a U.S. federal withholding tax of 30%.

CRM Holdings’ ability to pay dividends is subject to restrictions contained in the Companies Act. Under the
Companies Act, we may declare or pay a dividend out of CRM Holdings’ retained earnings, or make a distribution
out of contributed surplus, only if we have reasonable grounds for believing that CRM Holdings is and, after the
payment of such dividends, will be able to pay its fliabilities as they become due and if the realizable value of its
assets would thereby not be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and issued share capital and share premium
accounts

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of

Securities Remaining
Number of Available for Future

Securities to be Issuance Under
Issued Upon Exercise Weighted-Average Equity Compensation

of Outstanding Exercise Price of Plans (Excluding
Options, Warrants Outstanding Options, Securities Reflected

and Rights Warrants and Rights in Column (a))

Plan Category (a) () (c)

Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders. . .. ........ 332,764(1) — 1,241,540(2)(3)

Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders . . .. — — —
Total .. . ... 332,764(1) — 1,241,540(2)(3)

(1) The number of securities to be issued upon the exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights are
exclusively restricted shares. These awards are not reflected in column (b) as they do not have any exercise
price.

(2) As of December 31, 2007, there were 1,062,073 shares remaining of a total of 1,500,000 authorized under the
2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan. Included in the 1,062,073 shares are 83,839 of shares forfeited by former
employees of the Company. No more than 1,000,000 shares may be issued upon exercise of incentive stock
options under the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

(3) Asof December 31, 2007, there were 179,467 shares remaining of a total of 200,000 authorized under the 2007
Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

50




Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common shares with the cumulative
total return of the NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S.) Index and the NASDAQ Insurance Index. The comparison
assumes $100 was invested on December 21, 2005 in our common shares and in each of the foregoing indices and
assumes reinvestment of dividends monthly. The initial measurement point was December 21, 2005, being the first
trading day our common shares were publicly traded after our initial public offering.

COMPARISON OF 2 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among CRM Holdings Ltd., The NASDAQ Composite Index
And The NASDAQ Insurance Index
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*$100 invested on 12/21/05 in stock or 11/30/05 in index-including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected historical consolidated financial information for the periods ended and
as of the dates indicated. For the periods prior to our restructuring and initial public offering, the accompanying
financial statements include the combined financial statements of CRM, CRM CA and Eimar, which are limited
liabitity companies, and Twin Bridges. The combined financial statements for the periods prior to the restructuring are
referred to as “consolidated” in the financial statements and information included in this annual report. For periods
including and subsequent to our restructuring and initial public offering, the financial statements and information
included in this annual report include, on a consolidated basis, the accounts of CRM Holdings and its subsidiaries.

The selected consolidated income statement information for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
and the selected consolidated balance sheet information as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are derived from our audited
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report. The selected consolidated income statement
information for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the selected consolidated balance sheet information as
of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this
annual report. The selected unaudited consolidated balance sheet information as of December 31, 2002 is derived from
our unaudited financial statements not included in this annual report.

The historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in any future period. You should
read the following selected consolidated financial information in conjunction with the information contained in this
annual report, including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Oper-
ations” and the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this annual report. Many
factors may cause our actual results to differ materially from the financial information and results presented below
including, but not limited to, those factors discussed in “Risk Factors.”

Selected Consolidated

and Combined Years Ended December 31,
Income Statement Information 2007 2006 2005 04 2003
(In thousands except for per share data)
Revenues
Net premiums eamed. . .. .....veeuroncuienies $116,843  $30,702 $ 8362 $ 5110 $ 253
Fee-based management Services . . . ............. 32,356 39,997 36,495 27,656 20,821
Investment INCOME . . . .o r e et n v s e e ans 11,381 4277 (18) 54 16
Total FEVENUES . . .. .o e i 160,580 74,976 44 839 32,820 21,090
Expenses
Losses and loss adjustment expenses ............ 63,661 10,490 3,584 2,528 168
Fees paid to general agents and brokers ... ....... 10,195 10,935 11,490 9,508 7,830
Selling, general and administrative expenses. ... ... 43,928 28,937 19,847 13,440 9,240
Policy acquisition costs and other expenses. . ... ... 21,042 8,782 2,580 1,538 12]
Total EXPENSES .. .. vv v e e ar i 138,826 59,144 37,501 27,014 17,359

Income before taxes. . .. ... vvveeninniannan 21,754 15,832 7,338 5,806 3,731

Provision for income taxes . . . ... ... ..ot 1,612 1,576 63 — —_
NELINCOME « o v vt vt e ine e iee e nnane $ 20,142 $14,256 $ 7275 $ 5806 § 3,731
Basic and fully diluted earnings per share(1)....... $ 124 $ 08 $ 070 $ 057 $ 036
Pro forma cash dividends declared per common

share(1) . . ..o s $ na $ na $ 076 § 037 $ 066
Weighted average common shares outstanding(1) . .. 16,289 16,247 10,428 10,247 10,247
Weighted average fully diluted shares

outstanding(1) ...... ... .. .. o o i 16,307 16,247 10,431 10,247 10,247

(1) For the period prior to the IPO, the 10,247,115 shares of common and Class B shares of the Company issued to
the former owners of the pre-restructuring entities and Twin Bridges are assumed to be outstanding for all
period presented.
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Selected Consolidated

and Combined December 31,
Balance Sheet Information 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
ASSETS ‘
Cash and cash equivalents. . . . ................ $ 33,477 $ 21546 $67923 3% 1,584 % 767
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted . . . . ... ... .. 809 6,546 885 4,391 1,000
Investments . . ... ... .. it e e 267,212 206,768 8,185 — —
Premiums receivable. . . ...... ... . ... ... ..... 13,151 17,806 2,648 3,758 2,140
Reinsurance recoverable . . ... ................ 38,584 30,749 —_ — —
Other receivables . .. .. ..................... 7,766 7,897 2,058 4] 90
Deferred policy acquisition costs. . .. ........... 623 1,143 442 1,413 824
Deferred Income taxes . ... ... eannnnn .. 7,473 6,803 5 — —
Goodwill ... ... ... ... . .. i, 2,749 2,695 — — —
Other assets . .. ... i 7,551 4,400 1,761 1,537 1,061
Total assets. . . ... ...t $379,395  $306,353 $83,907 $12,724  § 5,882
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ AND MEMBERS EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses. .. $188,848  $153,622 356280 $269% § 168
Reinsurance payable . . . ..................... 5,001 1,538 — — o
Uneamed premiums .. ...................... 8,853 8,080 1,494 4,780 2,785
Unearned management fees and commissions , ..., 261 613 1,319 3,005 2,861
Long-term debt and other secured borrowings . . . .. 44,084 44,115 83 158 285
Accrued TPO costs . ... .. . i, — —_ 2,411 —_ —
Other accrued €xpenses. .. ... v v vneenn. 24,810 14,741 3,390 1,197 947
Total liabilities . . .. ... ................... 271,857 222,709 14,977 11,836 7,046
Members’ deficit in pre-restructuring LLCs .. ... .. —_ —_ — 947 (2,113
Common stock and paid-in capital of Twin
Bridges.............. .. ... ... ... — — — 1,000 1,000
Common stock, $0.01 par value per share,
50 billion shares authorized, 16.0 and
15.5 million common shares issued and
outstanding . . .. ...... ... . ... 160 155 155 — —
Class B shares, 0.4 and (0.8 million shares issued
andoutstanding . .. ....... ... ... ........ 4 B 8 — —
Additional paid-in capital ... ............... 68.192 66,566 66,056 — —
Retained earnings(deficit) .. ................ 37,115 16,973 2,717 835 (51)
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss), net
of AX . .. . e 2,067 (58) (6) — —
Total shareholders’ and members’ equity (deficity .. 107,538 83,644 68,930 888 (1,164)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ and members’
BOUILY . o o e $379,395  $306,353 383,907 $12,724 § 5,882
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our audited financial statements and related notes included in Item 8 of this annual report. We
caution you that our results of operation for prior periods are not indicative of the actual results that may be
achieved in future periods. In addition, some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis includes
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Many factors may cause our actual results to differ
materially from those anticipated or implied by these forward-looking statements including, but not limited o, those
discussed in “Risk Factors.” You should read the information under “Risk Factors” as presented in Item 1A for
information about material risks and uncertainties that affect us, our business and our common shares and the
cautionary note regarding “Forward-Looking Statements” which precedes Item 1 in this annual report.

Overview

We are a provider of workers’ compensation insurance products. Our main business activities include
underwriting primary workers’ compensation policies, underwriting workers’ compensation reinsurance and
excess insurance policies, and providing fee-based management and other services to self-insured entities. We
provide primary workers’ compensation insurance to employers in California, Arizona, Florida, Nevada, New
Jersey, New York, and other states. We reinsure some of the primary business we underwrite and provide excess
workers’ compensation coverage for self-insured organizations. Finally, we provide fee-based management
services to self-insured groups in California and New York.

We report our business in the following four segments: (1) primary insurance; (2) reinsurance; (3) fee-based
management services; and (4) corporate and other. Our primary insurance segment was added with our acquisition
of Embarcadero on November 14, 2006. Our consolidated financial statements include the results of CRM Holdings
and its subsidiaries. Embarcadero’s assets, liabilities and results of operations are included in our resuits beginning
November 14, 2006.

Drivers of Profitability
Industry Trends

Our business segments are affected by the trends of the workers’ compensation insurance market. The
workers’ compensation insurance market has historically fluctuated with periods of low premium rates and excess
underwriting capacity resulting from increased competition, followed by periods of high premium rates and
shortages of underwriting capacity resulting from decreased competition.

California’s Premium Rates.  Prior to the recent developments in the California market, we had experienced a
downward trending in the premium rates charged by insurers. California Bill 899 was passed in April 2004 with the
goal of reducing over time the medical and indemnity costs paid by insurance companies under workers’
compensation policies. This legislation allowed insurers to reduce rates. During 2006 and the first half of
2007, the California Insurance Commissioner approved three workers’ compensation advisory pure premium
rate decreases. The California Insurance Commissioner first approved a 16% rate decrease for policies written after
June 30, 2006, followed by a 9% rate decrease for policies written after December 31, 2006, which was followed by
another 14.2% rate decrease for policies written after June 30, 2007.

Most recently, the Workers” Compensation Insurance Rating Bureau of California, or “WCIRB,” an industry-
backed private organization that provides statistical analysis, on October 19, 2007 amended a previous filing with
the California Insurance Commissioner to recommend a 5.2% increase in advisory pure premium rates for policies
written on or after January I, 2008. The filing was based on the WCIRB’s review of insurer losses and loss
adjustment expenses incurred during 2006 and prior accident years and legislative amendments adopted during
2007. However, on November 28, 2007, the California Insurance Comitnissioner recommended no change to the
workers’ compensation advisory pure premium rates. The California Insurance Commissioner’s decision is
advisory only and insurance companies may choose whether or not (o adopt the new rates,
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New York’s Premium Rates. Workers” compensation rates in New York have experienced significant pricing
pressure because of declines in the regulatory rates. Following almost two years of relatively stable rates, on July 11,
2007 the New York State Superintendent of Insurance ordered that overall policyholders’ costs for workers'
compensation were {o be reduced by 20.5% effective October 1, 2007. This 20.5% reduction included both changes
in the workess’ compensation rates set by the New York State Workers' Compensation Board as well as a change to
the New York State Assessment. The rate reduction was based upon an analysis of the impact of the reforms and
market trends associated with New York's 2007 Workers’ Compensation Reform Act signed into law in March
2007, which was intended to create a significantly less expensive system of workers’ compensation in New York
while increasing the weekly benefits paid to injured workers. The last change to the New York Workers’
Compensation rates, prior to this rate reduction, was an increase in July 2005 averaging 5% across all industry
groups that took effect in October 2005.

We believe that the self-insured group product that is offered by the self-insured groups which we manage is
not as attractive during periods of low premium rates and excess underwriting capacity, as we are currently
experiencing in New York, because of the risks associated with the joint and several liability of the members as well
as for former members of New York group self-insured programs. The increased market competition and pricing
pressure were sighificant factors, among others, that contributed to seven of our New York self-insured groups
electing to voluntarily terminate their active operations during the second half of 2007. We have ceased to manage
these self-insured groups which are now being managed by a third-pasty administrator appointed by the New York
Workers” Compensation Board, There can be no assurance that the remaining New York seif-insured group which
we manage will not elect to cease active operations, particularly in the event that the price erosion in New York
becomes more widespread. We expect that revenues from our fee-based management services in New York will be
significantly reduced in 2008. We do not currently intend 10 form any additonal self-insurance groups in New York
nor are we actively seeking o add additional members to our remaining New York group.

Revenues
QOur revenues consist primarily of the following:

Primary Insurance Net Premiums Earned. Primary insurance gross premiums written include all premiums
billed by our primary insurance segment during a specified policy period. Premiums are earned over the terms of the
related policies. At the end of each accounting period, the portion of the premiums that are not yet earned is included
in unearned premiums and s realized as revenue in subsequent periods over the remaining terms of the policies.
Primary insurance premiums earned are the elapsed poriion of our net premiums written. Net premiums writien is
the difference between gross premiums written and premiums ceded or paid to reinsurers. Gross premiums written
is the sum of both direct premiums and assumed premiums before the effect of ceded reinsurance.

Reinsurance Net Premiums Earned. Reinsurance gross premiums written include all gross premiums
assumed during a specified policy period. Reinsurance premiums are earned over the terms of the related policies.
At the end of each accounting period, the portion of the premiums that are not yet earned is included in unearned
premiums and is realized as revenue in subsequent periods over the remaining terms of the policies. These
premiums are reported in our reinsurance segment,

Fee-based Management Services Revenue.  Our fee-based management service revenues include manage-
ment fees received from our groups for management and other services. In New York, the fees we receive from our
groups are based on a percentage of the workers’ compensation rates set by the New York Workers’ Compensation
Board that are attributable to the members of the groups we manage, and our fees include fees for claims
management services. With respect to our groups in California, our fees are based on a percentage of premiums paid
to the groups we manage by their members. Qur groups in California pay fees for claims management services
directly to third party administrators. In addition, we receive fees for medical bill review and cas¢ management
services provided to the self-insured groups we manage and other third-parties, which are based on the specific
services rendered.

Invesiment Income. Our investment income is dependent upon the average invested assets in our portfolio
and the yield that we earn on those invested assets. Our investment yield depends on market interest rates and the
credit quality and maturity period of our invested assets. In addition, we realize capital gains or losses on sales of
investments as a result of changing market conditions, including changes in market interest rates and changes in the
credit quality of our invested assets.
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Expenses
Our expenses consist primarily of the foliowing:

Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses. Losses and loss adjustment expenses reflect our best estimate, using
various actuarial analyses, of ultimate losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of any reinsurance recoverables, that
we expect to incur on each primary insurance and reinsurance contract written. Actual losses and loss adjustment
expenses will depend on actual costs to settle our claims. Our ability to accurately estimate ultimate losses and loss
adjustment expenses at the time of pricing each primary insurance and reinsurance contract will be a critical factor
in determining our profitability.

Policy Acquisition Costs. Policy acquisition costs consist principaily of commissions, premium taxes and
certain underwriting and other policy issuance costs related to the production of new and renewal business.

Fees Paid to General Agents and Brokers. Fees paid to general agents and brokers consist primarily of
commissions paid to general agents and brokers for binding the coverage of members in the seif-insured groups we
manage.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses consist pri-
marily of personnel expenses, professional fees and other operating costs.

Income Taxes. CRM USA Holdings and its U.S. subsidiaries are subject to U.S. federal, state and local
income taxes, which reduce our net income. CRM Holdings and Twin Bridges have each received an undertaking
from the Bermuda government exempting each company from ail tax computed on profits or income, or computed
on any capital asset, gain or appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax until March 28,
2016,

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are described in the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this annual report.

Our consolidated financial statements contain certain amounts that are inherently subjective in nature and
require management to make certain judgments and assumptions in the application of accounting policies used to
determine those amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. The use of different assumptions could
produce materially different estimates of the reported amounts. In addition, if factors such as those described in
“Risk Factors” cause actual events to differ materially from management’s assumptions vsed in applying the
relevant accounting policy, there could be a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations.

We believe that the following are the critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our combined
financial statements.

Consolidation Accounting

Our historical consolidated and combined financial information and statements include our accounts as well as
those of CRM USA Holdings, CRM, CRM CA, Eimar and Twin Bridges. Combined financial statements are
presented for results for periods ended prior to the restructuring, while consolidated financial statements are
presented for periods commencing after the completion of the restructuring. All such financial statements are
referred to as consolidated in this annual report. Prior to the restructuring, these entities, in substance, had common
ownership and common management. The consolidated financial statements included in this annual report have
been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. For Twin Bridges and Majestic,
this presentation differs from the basis of accounting followed in reporting to insurance regulatory authorities. All
significant inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.
Embarcadero’s assets, liabilities and results of operation are included the Company’s results beginning
November 14, 2006.
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Investments

Our fixed-maturity and equity securities are classified as available-for-sale and are reported at their estimated
fair value based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes. Unrealized investment gains and losses on securities are
recorded as a separate component of other comprehensive income or loss, net of deferred income taxes to the extent
that the underlying investment is held by a taxable entity. The cost of fixed maturity and equity securities is adjusted
for impairments in value deemed to be other-than-temporary in the period in which the determination is made.
These adjustments are recorded as investment losses. The assessment of whether such impairment has occurred is
based on our management's case-by-case evaluation of the underlying reasons for the decline in fair value. Our
management also considers the length and severity of the temporary impairment of an investment to determine
whether the impairment is other than temporary. Realized gains and losses are determined on the basis of specific
identification. Investment income is recognized when earned and includes interest together with amortization of
premiums and discounts on fixed maturity securities, dividends from equity securities, investment gains and losses
and investment expenses. '

Premiums Receivable

Premiums receivable include primary insurance and reinsurance premium amounts due from policyholders.
Premiums receivable also include retrospective premiums receivable, which represents the difference between
initial premium charges and premiums adjusted to reflect the policyholders’ actual loss experience of the insured
risk. The allowance for doubtful accounts represents our management’s best estimate of uncollectible premiums
included in premiums receivable.

At the end of the policy terms, payroll-based premium audits are performed to determine earned premiums for
that policy year. Earned but unbilled premiums include estimated future audit premiums and are subject to changes
in payrolls, economic conditions and scasonality. The estimates are continually reviewed and adjusted as
experience develops or new information becomes known. Any such adjustments are included in current operations.

Reinsurance Recoverable

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated on an individual contract basis, in a manner consistent with
the associated reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses. Included in reinsurance recoverables are paid losses
recoverable from reinsurers and prepaid reinsurance premiums to reinsurers. Such recoverables are reported net of
any allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance recoverables. We evaluate and monitor the financial
condition of our reinsurers to minimize our exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Cosis

Policy acquisition costs are comprised of ceding commissions, premium taxes and certain underwriting and
other policy issuance costs and are primarily related to the production of new and renewal business, These costs are
deferred and amortized as the related insurance and reinsurance premiums are earned or recorded. We consider
estimated investment income in determining the recoverability of these costs.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquiring a business enterprise over the fair value of the net assets
acquired. Under SFAS 142, Goodwill and Gther Intangible Assets, the Company will test the carrying value of its
goodwill for impairment at least annually or more frequently if events or circumstances, such as adverse changes in
the business climate, indicate that there may be justification for conducting an interim test.

Reserve for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses represents an estimate of the ultimate cost of all reported
and unreported losses and loss adjustment expenses insured pursuant to primary insurance and reinsurance
agreements associated with reported claims and claims incurred but not reported, which are unpaid at the
balance sheet date. The liability is estimated using actuarial studies of individual case-basis validations,
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statistical analyses and historical and industry data. We believe that our aggregate liability for losses and loss
adjustment expenses represents our best estimate, based upon available data, of the amounts necessary to settle the
ultimate cost of expected losses and loss adjustment expenses.

We currently have reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses for Majestic, our primary insurance
subsidiary, and Twin Bridges, our reinsurance subsidiary. For a detailed discussion of our reserve for losses and loss
adjustment expenses of our primary insurance and reinsurance segments, see “Item 1 — Business — Primary
Insurance Segment — Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses” and “ltem { — Business —
Reinsurance Segment — Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses”, respectively, above,

:

Deferred Taxes

The future tax consequences of temporary differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities are measured at the balance sheet dates and are recorded as deferred income tax assets and liabilities.
Valuation allowances are established when management assesses, based on available information, that it is more
likely than not that deferred income tax assets will not be realized.

Share-Based Compensation

We account for our stock-based compensation plans using the fair value accounting method prescribed by
FAS 123(R), Share-Based Payment. The fair value method requires compensation cost to be measured based on the
fair value of the equity instrument at the grant or award date. Stock-based compensation is accrued over the vesting
period of the grant or award.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Statement 159, The Fair
Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (FAS 159), which permits entities Lo elect to measure
many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. Upon adoption of FAS 159, an entity may elect the
fair value option for eligible items that exist at the adoption date. Subsequent to the initial adoption, the election of
the fair value option should only be made at the initial recognition of the asset or liability or upon a re-measurement
event that gives rise to the new basis of accounting. All subsequent changes in fair value for that instrument are
reported in earnings. FAS 159 does not affect any existing accounting literature that requires certain assets and
liabilities to be recorded at fair value nor does it eliminate disclosure requirements included in other accounting
standards. The new guidance is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007, and for interim periods within those fiscal years. We are currently evaluating the potential
impact, if any, of the adoption of FAS 159 on its consolidated financial position, and results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued FASB Statement 157, Fair Value Measurements (FAS 157), which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair
value measurements. FAS 157 applies to other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value
measurements. The new guidance is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007, and for interim periods within those fiscal years. On December 14, 2007, the FASB issued a
proposed FASB Staff Position (FSP) that would amend FAS 157 to delay the effective date of FAS 157 for all
non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, at least annually. The proposed FSP defers the effective date of FAS 157 to
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years for items within the
scope of the proposed FSP. On February 12, 2008, the FASB confirmed the aforementioned position and released
the final FSP. We are currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, of the adoption of FAS 157 on its consolidated
financial position, and results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS 141 (Revised) Business Combinations (FAS 14]R). FAS 141R
establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer in a business combination recognizes, measures and
reports the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. The
pronouncement also provides guidance for recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquired in the business
combination and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the
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nature and financial effects of the business combination, FAS 141R is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. We will adopt this pronouncement in the first quarter of fiscal 2009, and it will impact any
acquisitions consummated subsequent to the effective date,

Results of Operations

The table below summarizes certain operating results and key measures we use in monitoring and evaluating
our operations.
Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Revenues
Net primary insurance premiums earned . . .................. $91560 $ 7736 % 2 —
Net reinsurance premiums eamned . . ... ... ... ... ..., 25,283 22,966 8,362
Fee-based management services . ... ... .............vuunn. 32,356 39,997 36,495
Net INVeSIMENT INCOME. . .. ..ottt e e e e ean 11,381 4,277 (18)
Total revenues. . ... ........... .. 160,580 74.976 44,839
Expenses
Losses and loss adjustment expenses ...................... 63,061 10,490 3,584
NetIncome. ......... ... ... .. .. $ 20,142 $14256 §$ 7,275
Earnings per share—basic . . ... ....................... $§ 124 §$ 08 3% 070
Earnings per share —fully diluted . ..................... $§ 124 % 08 3% 070
GAAP combined ratio — Primary Insurance Segment
Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio{1). . ............... 62.7% 65.0% 0.0%
Underwriting expense ratio(2). . .. .. .................... 28.8% 30.4% 0.0%
GAAP combined ratio(3) ............... ... .. ...... 91.5% 95.4% 0.0%
GAAP combined ratio — Reinsurance Segment
Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio(1). ................ 26.5% 23.8% 42.9%
Underwriting expense ratio(2). . . ......... ... ... ... ... 21.7% 32.8% 34.3%
GAAP combined vatio(3) ........... ... ... ... ..., 48.2% 56.6% 77.2%

(1) The loss and loss adjustment ratio is calculated by dividing losses and loss adjustment expenses by net
premiums earned.

(2) The underwriting expense ratio is calculated by dividing underwriting and certain other operating costs,
commissions and salaries and benefits by the current year’s net premivms earned.

(3) The GAAP combined ratio is the sum of the loss and loss adjustment expense ratio and the net underwriting
expense ratio.

The following is a discussion of our consolidated results of operations for the three years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005.

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2006

Revenues from the Primary Insurance and Reinsurance Segments. Total net premiums earned increased
281%, or $86.1 million, to $116.8 for the year ended December 31, 2007, from $30.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006. Of this increase, 97% was attributable to our primary insurance segment as the results of
Majestic were not included in the primary insurance segment prior to the November 14, 2006 acquisition. The
remaining $2.3 million, or 3%, was attributable to our reinsurance segment.
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Net primary insurance premiums earned increased $83.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, to
$91.6 million from $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase was the result of our
acquisition of Majestic in November 2006. Of the $91.6 million of net primary insurance premiums earned,
$10.7 million, or 12%, was due to the Novation Agreement as described in Note 8 to the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8, while $2.2 million, or 2%, was related to net premiums earned on excess workers’
compensation policies issued by Majestic to certain of the self-insured groups we manage and other qualified third
party self-insured entities. The remaining $78.7 million, or 86%, was related 1o premiums earned by Majestic’s
primary wotkers’ compensation insurance policies.

Geographically, California was our largest market during 2007, accounting for approximately $71.4 million,
or 78%, of the total net primary insurance premiums earned for December 31, 2007, of which $3.1 million was
attributable to policies included in the Novation Agreement. Our new Northeast region is developing business in
selected states, focusing on New Jersey and New York. This new region contributed approximately $15.7 million, or
17%, of our net primary insurance premiums earned for the year ended December 31,2007, of which $7.6 million or
49% was attributable to the Novation Agreement. The remaining four states in our active operating markets
accounted for approximately $4.5 million, or 5%, of our net primary insurance premiums earned for the year ended
December 31, 2007.

Net reinsurance premiums earned increased 10%, or $2.3 million, for the year ended December 31, 2007, to
$25.3 million from $23.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Of this increase, $1.3 million, or 57%, was
due to Twin Bridges’ participation in the Majestic reinsurance treaty, the addition of third party self-insured entitics
to the 90% Quota Share Agreement and direct excess policies issued to individual self-insured groups. In addition,
five of our California and seven of our New York self-insured groups whose excess insurance policies, which had
been previously placed with NY Marine & General, were placed with Majestic during 2007. The renewal of these
policies increased the percentages of premiums ceded to Twin Bridges from 70% to 90% pursuant to the 90% Quota
Share Agreement. The increase in net reinsurance premiums was somewhat offset by rate decreases in five of our
California self-insured groups and attrition in our largest New York self insured group.

Revenues from the Fee-based Management Services Segment. Revenues from fee-based management
services decreased 11%, or $4.5 million, for the year ended December 31,2007, to $35.5 million from $40.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2006, This decrease was partially due to lower commission rates from Majestic in
2007 as compared with commission rates from NY Marine & General in 2006. The 5% commissions that were
earned on some excess placements pursuant to the 70% Quota Share Agreement in 2006 were replaced with 10%
commissions pursuant to the 90% Quota Share Agreement in 2007. In addition, 29% of the trust members
representing 34% of expired premiums of what had been the largest New York self-insured group we manage chose
not to renew on April 1, 2007. Subsequently, effective October 1, 2007, this self-insured group ceased active
business operations. California fee-based income was lower in 2007 because the rates charged by our groups to their
insured members declined by approximately 22%. The rate decline was somewhat offset by increased management
fee revenues from our contractor self-insured groups due to increased premium volume.

In 2007, five of our California and seven of our New York self-insured groups have renewed their excess
insurance policies previously placed with NY Marine & General with Majestic. Commissions earned on excess
placements that were third party commissions under the NY Marine & General agreement are earned from Majestic
under the new Majestic agreement. These commissions are reported in the fee-based management services segment
and eliminated upon consolidation. For the year ended December 31, 2007, commissions under these Majestic
policies of $2.7 million were eliminated against the primary insurance segment’s policy acquisition costs.

In the fourth quarter of 2007, Eimar and CRM commenced providing medical bill review services and claims
management services, respectively, for Majestic. Fees for these services are reported in the fee-based management
services segment and eliminated upon consolidation. For the year ended December 31, 2007, management fees
under these agreements of $414 thousand were eliminated against the primary insurance segment’s losses and loss
adjustment expenses.

Investment Income. Net investment income increased 166%, or $7.1 million, for the year ended Decem-
ber 31,2007, 10 $11.4 million from $4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase was primarily
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due to the inclusion of investment income earned at our primary insurance segment, since the results of Majestic
were not included in the primary insurance segment prior to our November 14, 2006 acquisition.

Net investment income includes $520 thousand of interest income earned by Twin Bridges on funds withheld
by Majestic under the 90% Quota Share Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2007, interest income on
funds withheld reported in the reinsurance segment was eliminated against interest expense reported in the primary
insurance segment.

Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses. Total losses and loss adjustment expenses increased $53.2 million to
$63.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, from $10.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Of
this increase, $52.4 million was attributable to our primary insurance segment, as the results of Majestic were not
included in our primary insurance segment prior to our November 14, 2006 acquisition. An increase of $1.2 million,
or 2.3%, was attributable to our reinsurance segment, and $414 thousand of intercompany losses and loss
adjustment expenses were eliminated against management fees as described above in “Revenues from Fee-Based
Management Services Segment.”

Losses and loss adjustment expenses of $57.4 million were reported in our primary insurance segment for the
year ended December 31, 2007, Within that period, Majestic recorded a $5.0 million decrease in its estimated
ultimate cost of settling claims as a result of favorable loss cost trends in the California market. The favorable
development was predominantly from accident year 2006, where reported indemnity claims have developed better
than expected. This favorable development also resulted in an estimated return of premiums on retrospectively rated
policies in the amount of $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Excluding the effects of prior year
favorable development, our loss ratio for the year ended December 31, 2007 was 68%. There is uncertainty about
whether recent lost cost trends in California will be sustained, particularly in light of current efforts to change or
repeal portions of the California legislative reforms. We will not know the full impaci of these reforms with a high
degree of confidence for several years. We have established loss reserves at December 31, 2007 that are based upon
our current best estimate of loss costs, taking into consideration recent data suggesting both paid losses and incurred
losses are trending favorably.

Losses and loss adjustment expenses in our reinsurance segment increased 23%, or $1.2 million, for the year
ended December 31, 2007, to $6.7 million from $5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase
was primarily due to the increased premiums as described above in “Revenues from Primary Insurance and
Reinsurance Segments” somewhat offset by the reduction of prior years estimated losses of $2.8 million. Based
upon continued favorable loss experience and lack of loss emergence, we have reduced our estimate of losses and
loss adjustment expenses. Approximately $1.5 million of the reserve reduction was related to the 2006 accident
year, with the remaining approximate $1.3 million spread among accident years 2003 through 2005, The reserve
reductions produced a loss ratio of 27% for 2007 in the reinsurance segment.

The methods for making such estimates and for establishing the resulting loss reserves for our primary
insurance and reinsurance segments are continually reviewed and updated, and any adjustments resulting are
reflected in curreat operations.

Policy Acquisition Costs.  Policy acquisition costs increased 108%, or $8.9 million, to $17.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007 from $8.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Of this increase,
$14.0 million was attributable to our primary insurance segment as the resulis of Majestic were not included in our
primary insurance segment prior to the November 14, 2006 acquisition. This increase was somewhat offset by
decreases of $2.5 million which were attributable to our reinsurance segment and $2.7 million of intercompany
policy acquisition costs that were eliminated against commission income as described above in “Revenues from
Fee-Based Management Services.”

Policy acquisition costs in our reinsurance segment decreased by $2.5 million primarily due to lower policy
acquisition costs prescribed by the excess insurance policies that were placed with Majestic as described above in
“Revenues from Primary Insurance and Reinsurance.” Policy acquisition costs under the 70% Quota Share
Agreement were 20.95% of direct earned premium while policy acquisition costs under the 90% Quota Share
Agreement are [5% of direct earned premiums.
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Fees Paid to General Agents and Brokers. Fees paid to general agents and brokers decreased by $740
thousand, to $10.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, from $10.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006. This decrease was primarily due to lower managed premiums in our fee-based management
services segment.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.  Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 52%,
or $15.0 million, for the year ended December 31, 2007, to $43.9 million from $28.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006. Of this increase, $9.5 million, or 63%, was attributable to our primary insurance segment, as
the results of Majestic were not included in our primary insurance segment prior to the November 14, 2006
acquisition, $4.2 million, or 28%%, was attributable to our fee-based management services segment, $951 thousand
, or 6%, was attributable to our corporate and other segment, and $401 thousand, or 3%, was attributable to our
reinsurance segment.

Selling, general and administrative expenses from our primary insurance segment for the year ended
December 31, 2007 were $10.5 million. Of this, approximately 41% was attributable to compensation and related
benefit expenses, 28% was attributable to professional fees and 10% was attributable to occupancy cOsts.

Selling, general and administrative expenses from fee-based management services increased $4.2 million, or
17%, to $28.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $24.3 millicn for the year ended December 31,
2006. This increase is primarily due to increased compensation and related benefit expenses. In addition, increases
in occupancy costs and depreciation were somewhat offset by decreases in insurance and bad debt expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses from corporate and other increased 32%, or $951 thousand, to
$4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This
increase was primarily due to payments made to our former Co-Chief Executive Officer in respect of a non-
compete/non-solicitation covenant agreement.

Selling, general and administrative expenses from reinsurance increased $401 thousand to $1.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007 from $629 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase was
primarily due to higher professional and consuiting fees, including professional fees paid to our Bermuda manager.

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased $3.4 million to $3.9 million at December 31, 2007 from the
same period last year. This increase was primarily due to the issuance of long-term debt obligations in connection
with the acquisition of Embarcadero. In November 2006, CRM USA Holdings issued $36.1 million in junior
subordinated debt in order to fund the Embarcadero acquisition and also assumed $8.0 million in senior debt of
Embarcadero. The expense, somewhat offset by the elimination of intercompany interest expense that was
eliminated against interest income as described above in “Investment Income.”

Provision for Income Taxes. Income tax expense increased $36 thousand to $1.6 million at December 31,
2007 from the same period last year. The income tax expense of $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007
represented the net income tax provision on taxable income of CRM USA Holdings and its U.S. domiciled
subsidiaries, CRM, Majestic and Embarcadero. CRM Holdings, Twin Bridges and an inactive subsidiary of
Embarcadero are domiciled in Bermuda and are not subject to U.S. income taxation. The income tax provision for
the year ended December 31, 2007 included a current tax expense of $3.9 million and a deferred tax benefit of
$2.3 million. The deferred tax benefit of $2.3 million at December 31, 2007 was primarily due to temporary
differences from net loss reserves, unearned premium reserves, deferred policy acquisition costs and net unrealized
investment gains being reported differently for financial statement purposes versus federal and state income tax
purposes.

Net Income. Net income for the year ended December 31, 2007 was $20.1 million compared to $14.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2006, an increase of 41%. Net income as a percentage of revenues was 13% for the
year ended December 31, 2007 compared to 19% for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005

Revenues from Primary Insurance and Reinsurance Segments.  Total net premiums earned increased 267% or
$22.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $8.4 million for the year ended 2005. Of this increase,
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65% was attributable to the reinsurance segment and 35% was attributable to the primary insurance segment as the
results of Majestic were reported in the primary insurance segment from the acquisition date of November 14, 2006
to December 31, 2006,

Net reinsurance premiums increased 175%, or $14.6 million, to $23.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2006 from $8.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily due to the 70% Quota
Share Agreement which increased the percentage of premiums ceded from 50% of excess coverage provided to the
groups to 70% and an increase in the number of participants in those self-insured groups. Geographically, 59% and
41% of the growth in net reinsurance premiums for the year ended December 31, 2006 was attributable to the groups
we manage in California and New York, respectively.

Revenues from Fee-based Management Services Segment, Revenues from fee-based management services
for the year ended December 31, 2006 increased 10%, or $3.5 million to $40.0 million from $36.5 million for the
comparable period in 2005. Of this increase, 66% and 36% was attributable to the growth in our self-insured groups
covering the contracting and transportation industries. Of this growth in revenues, 89% is attributable to our groups
in California as our continued new market presence gained momentum. Revenues from fee-based management
services attributable to our groups in New York increased by 1.5% to $27.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2006 from $27.0 million for the comparable period in 2005.

Investment Income. Investment income for the year ended December 31, 2006 increased to $4.3 mitlion from
a deficit of $18 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2005. Of this increase, $3.2 million or 77% was primarily
due to an increased leve] of investments held by our reinsurance and corporate segments, Investment income
attributable to Majestic was reported in the primary insurance segment from the acquisition date of November 14 to
December 31, 2006 and was $850 thousand, accounted for 21% of the tncrease from December 31, 2006 versus
December 31, 2005.

Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses. Total losses and loss adjustment expenses increased 193%, or
$6.9 million, to $10.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $3.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005. Of this increase, $5.0 million, or 73%, was attributable to our primary insurance segment and
$1.9 million, or 27%, was attributable to our reinsurance segment.

Losses and loss adjustment expenses of $5.0 million were reported in our primary insvrance segment from the
acquisition date of November 14, 2006 through December 31, 2006. Within that period, Majestic recorded a
$1.6 million decrease in its reserve for loss and loss adjustments. The favorable development in 2006 was
predominantly from the accident year 2005, where indemnity claims and average cost per claim developed better
than expected.

Losses and loss adjustment expenses in our reinsurance segment increased 52%, or $1.9 million, for the year
ended December 31, 2006 from $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase was much less
than the 175% increase in net reinsurance premiums during the same period because of the refinement of estimated
loss reserves. For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the initial estimates of losses and loss adjustment
expenses were 43% and 49% of net reinsurance premiums, respectively.

Since Twin Bridges has a very limited loss development experience, the independent external actuary has had
1o rely heavily on expected losses. These expected losses are determined by the application of an industry excess
loss factor to an average pure premium for each self insured group, which is then multiplied by the earned payroll
for the applicable policy period. This calculation produces a point estimate and a reasonable range of expected
outcomes. In view of the inherent variability of these estimates, Management has decided to establish the reserve for
losses and loss adjustment expenses at a level that approximates the mid range of the actuary’s expected outcomes,
rather than relying on the actuary’s point estimate. This methodology produced a level that is higher than the
actuary’s point estimate by approximately $1.7 million as of December 31, 2006.

Twin Bridges had eight reported claims totaling $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 which
increased the ultimate loss estimates of the self-insured groups, however, the decrease in expected losses led to
favorable developments of $1.9 million and $1.1 million for the accident years 2005 and 2004, respectively. While no
reserve development was recorded in 2005 or 2004, for the year ended 2006, management estimated has estimated the
overall loss ratio to be 32%, the actuarial midpoint, and reduced its estimate of losses on prior policy years.
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The methods for making such estimates and for establishing the resulting reserves are continually reviewed
and updated, and any adjustments resulting are reflected in current operations. .

Fees Paid to General Agents and Brokers. Fees paid to general agents and brokers decreased 5%, or $555
thousand, to $10.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $11.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005. This decrease is primarily due to the write off of $563 thousand of accrued fees paid to
agents and brokers as part of the Cornerstone settlement.

Policy Acquisition Costs. Policy acquisition costs increased 234%, or $5.8 million to $8.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006 from $2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Of this increase,
$1.3 million, or 23%, was attributable to our primary insurance segment as the results of Majestic were reported in
our primary insurance segment from the acquisition date of November 14, 2006 to December 31, 2006. The
remaining increase of $4.4 million, or 77%, was attributable to our reinsurance segment. These reinsurance policy
acquisition costs are a fixed percentage (approximately 29%) of our assumed reinsurance premiums and grew in
proportion to the 175% increase in net reinsurance premiums discussed above.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.  Sclling, general and administrative expenses increased 45%,
or $8.9 million, for the year ended December 31, 2006 to $29.0 million from $20.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005. Of this increase, $4.9 million, or 55%, was attributable to our fee-based management services
segment, $1.0 million, or 11%, was attributable to our primary insurance segment as the results of Majestic were
reported in our primary insurance segment from the acquisition date of November 14, 2006 to December 31, 2006,
$271 thousand or 3% was attributable to our reinsurance segment and $2.7 miilion, or 31%, was attributable to our
insurance segment.

Selling, general and administrative expenses from fee-based management services increased $4.9 millien, or
28%, 1o $24.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $19.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2005. Approximately $2.1 million, or 43%, of this increase was due to higher payrolls and related employee
expenses and 39%, or $1.9 million, was due to increased professional and consulting fees.

Selling, general and administrative expenses from reinsurance increased 69%, or $272 thousand, to $666
thousand at December 31, 2006 from $395 thousand at December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily due to
higher professional and consulting fees. Quest Management Services Limited, an independent management firm
based in Bermuda, is retained to perform general and administrative functions for Twin Bridges.

Selling, general and administrative expenses from corporate and other increased to $3.0 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2006 from $311 thousand at December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily due to the full year effect of
operating as a public company and expenses related to the secondary offering by certain of our selling shareholders,
including the fees related to the preparation and filing of a registration statement with the SEC.

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased $427 thousand or 400% to $533 thousand at December 31,2006
from $107 thousand at December 31, 2005. This increase is primarily due to interest expense of $501 thousand on
long-term debt obligations. In November 2006, CRM USA Holdings issued $36.1 million in junior subordinated
debt in order to fund the Embarcadero acquisition and also assumed $8.0 million in senior debt of Embarcadero.
Interest expense of $107 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2005 was derived from borrowings under credit
facilities and capital lease obligations.

Provision for Income Taxes. The income tax provision of $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006
represented the net income tax provision on taxable income of CRM, CRM CA, Eimar, and CRM USA Holdings for
the full year and the net income tax provision on taxable income of Majestic and Embarcadero from the acquisition
date of November 14, 2006 to December 31, 2006. CRM Holdings, Twin Bridges and an inactive subsidiary of
Embarcadero are domiciled in Bermuda and are not subject to U.S. income taxation. The income tax provision for
the year ended December 31, 2006 included a current tax provision of $1.9 million and a deferred tax benefit of
$331 thousand.
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Provision for income taxes of $63 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2005 represented the income tax
on taxable income of CRM, CRM CA and Eimar only for the period from December 27, 2005 to December 31,
2005. Prior to this period, CRM, CRM CA and Eimar were limited liability companies whose former owners were
taxed on their proportionate share of the limited liability companies’ taxable income. The income tax provision for
the year ended December 31, 2005 included a current tax provision of $68 thousand and a deferred tax benefit of $5
thousand.

Of the total tax provision of $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, $1.5 million was attributable
to CRM, CRM CA, Eimar and CRM USA Holdings. Prior to the restructuring and 1PQ, CRM, CRM CA and Eimar
were organized as limited liability companies where the former owners were taxed individually on their propor-
tionate share of the separate stand alone LLCs’ cash basis taxable income. Subsequent to the restructuring and [PO,
these companies are taxed on their separate GAAP basis taxable income.

Included in the pre-restructuring companies’ cash basis taxable income were commission income, manage-
ment fee income and expenses that were deferred under GAAP but taxed to the LLC owners on a cash basis. These
amounts are classified as permanent tax differences, so that income according to GAAP is not taxed in the post
restructuring entities since the income was already passed through to the former owners of the LLCs and taxed to
them individually. The remaining tax provision of $408 thousand represented the income tax on taxable income of
Majestic and Embarcadero from the date of acquisition of November 14, 2006 through December 31, 2006.

Of the total deferred tax benefit of $331 thousand at December 31, 2006, $193 thousand was attributable to
CRM, CRM CA and Eimar and was due to temporary differences from employee stock compensation and
depreciation of fixed assets being reported differently for financial statement versus federal and state income tax
purposes. The remaining tax benefit of $138 thousand was attributable to Majestic from the date of acquisition of
November 14, 2006 through December 31, 2006, and was primarily due to temporary differences from net loss
reserves, unearned premium reserves and deferred acquisition costs,

Net Income. Net income increased 96%, or $7.0 million to $14.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2006 from $7.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Net income as a percentage of revenues was 19% for
the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 16% for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We are a helding company and our operating subsidiaries are the primary source of funds for our operations.
We have two primary concerns in managing our liquidity. First, we need to ensure that there is adequate cash
available in the insurance subsidiaries to pay claims. Second, we need to ensure that our holding companies, CRM
Holdings, CRM USA Holdings and Embarcadero, which have no operating revenues, all have adequate cash to
service their debt obligations and to pay income taxes and any other expenses. The management of capital resources
is primarily concerned with ensuring that there is adequate capital to operate our insurance business within the
criteria imposed by regulatory requirements and with the criteria used by rating agencies to assign financial strength
ratings.

Liquidity

Liquidity is a measure of a company’s ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet the short- and long-term
cash requirements of its business operations. The liquidity requirements of our business have been met primarily by
funds generated from operations, asset maturities and income received on investments. We also have access to
liquidity through a $7 million line of credit. We believe that our future liquidity needs will be adequately met from
these sources.

Sources of Liguidity. Majestic and Twin Bridges, our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries, generally create
liquidity because insurance and reinsurance premiums are collected prior to disbursements for claims which may
take place may years after the collection of premiums. Collected premiumns may be invested, prior to their use in
such disbursements, and investment income provides additionat cash receipts. In periods in which disbursements
for claims and benefits, current policy acquisition costs and current operating and other expenses exceed operating
cash receipts, cash flow is negative. Such negative cash flow is offset by cash flow from investments, principaily
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short-term investments and maturities of longer-term investments. The exact timing of the payment of claims and
benefits cannot be predicted with certainty.

Our insurance subsidiaries maintain portfolios of invested assets with varying maturities and a substantial
amount of short-term investments to provide adequate cash for the payment of claims, At December 31,2007, short-
term investments and fixed maturity investments maturing within two years amounted to $69.3 million and
$48.4 million in Majestic and Twin Bridges, respectively. These securities, in conjunction with our positive cash
flow from operations, provide adequate sources of liquidity for the expected payment of our loss reserves in the near
future. We do not expect to sell securities or use our credit facility to pay our policy liabilities as they come due.

Majestic and Twin Bridges, our insurance subsidiaries, are subject to insurance regulations which restrict their
ability to distribute dividends, which are discussed in greater detail above in ltem 1. Business under the heading
“Regulation.” Based on reported capital and surplus at December 31, 2007, Majestic is permitted under California
insurance laws regulations to pay dividends to Embarcadero in 2008 in an amount of the greater of its statutory net
income for the preceding year or 10% of its unassigned surplus at the beginning of its fiscal year. At December 31,
2007, Twin Bridges, which is required to have approximately $4.2 million in statutory capital and surplus in order to
pay dividends, had approximately $63.1 million in statutory capital and surplus. In addition to these limitations, our
U.S. operating subsidiaries are subject to a U.S. federal withholding tax of 30% on any dividends paid to CRM
Holdings.

Twin Bridges is not licensed, approved or accredited as a reinsurer anywhere in the U.S. and, therefore, under
the terms of most of its contracts with U.S. ceding companies, it is required to provide collateral to its ceding
companies for unpaid ceded liabilities in a form acceptable to state insurance commissioners. Typically, this type of
collateral takes the form of letters of credit issued by a bank, the establishment of a trust, or funds withheld.

For obligations associated with liabilities ceded from Majestic, Twin Bridges generally posts collateral in the
form of funds withheld. For obligations other than Majestic, Twin Bridges generally posts collaieral in the form of
letters of credit. As of December 31, 2007, Twin Bridges has the ability to provide letters of credit through three
credit facilities. Under a formal agreement with KeyBank, which we refer to as the “Unsecured ILetter of Credit
Facility,” Twin Bridges is entitled to draw unsecured letters of credit of up to $7 million. Twin Bridges pays a fee of
1.5% of the principal amount of each letter of credit issued. The Unsecured Letier of Credit Facility’s expiration
date is June 30, 2008. All of Twin Bridges’ obligations under the Unsecured Letter of Credit Facility are secured by
a lien on substantially all of Twin Bridges’ assets and are guaranieed by CRM. The facility limits Twin Bridges’
ability to purchase or sell assets other than in the ordinary course of business, prohibits Twin Bridges from
permitting any liens on its assets, subject to customary exceptions, prohibits Twin Bridges from incurring debt for
borrowed money, including leases, except for trade debt incurred in the normal course of business and indebtedness
or leases for term loans, leases, vehicles or equipment, limits mergers and consolidations of Twin Bridges and
prohibits investments and loans by Twin Bridges. As of December 31, 2007, Twin Bridges had no letters of credit
outstanding under this facility.

Additionatly, Twin Bridges has an informal arrangement with KeyBank to obtain secured letters of credit.
Under this arrangement, Twin Bridges is able to draw secured letters of credit in amount equal to the funds posted by
Twin Bridges and pays a fee of 0.35% of the principal amount of each letter of credit issued. Any letter of credit
issued under this facility is secured by investments, cash and cash equivalents held with a carrying value in equal
amount. This arrangement was contained in a formal written agreement prior to June 30, 2007. Besides KeyBank,
Twin Bridges also has a similar informal secured letter of credit arrangement with Smith Barney Citigroup under
which Twin Bridges may obtain cash collateralized letters of credit. At December 31, 2007, letters of credit in the
principal amount of $4.0 million thousand were outstanding, all of which were outstanding under the informal
secured letter of credit arrangement with Smith Barney Citigroup.

CRM has access to an existing revolving credit facility with KeyBank under which CRM is entitled to borrow
up to $7 million, with a $2 million sub-limit for letters of credit, until June 30, 2008. Borrowings under the facility
may be used for general business purposes and are due on demand. Interest on the loans outstanding under the
facility is payable monthly at a rate per annum equal to KeyBank’s prime rate. As of December 31, 2007, CRM has a
$1.7 million tetter of credit outstanding under this facility with respect to lease obligations for our San Francisco
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offices and has no borrowings against the revolving credit facility. This revolving credit facility contains covenants
similar to the covenants in Twin Bridges’ letter of credit facility with KeyBank described above.

During 2007, CRM borrowed up to $800 thousand against this facility at a weighted average interest rate of
8.25%. There were no borrowings against this facility at December 31, 2007 or during 2006.

Consolidated Cash Flows Net cash provided by operating activities increased $68.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007 to $71.1 million from $2.6 million for the comparable 2006 period. The increase in
operating cash flows was primarily due to the full year effects of the November 2006 acquisition of Embarcadero.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $2.6 million and $11.6 million for the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively. The $9.0 million decrease was primarily attributable to an increase in premiums
receivable and cash held as collateral as a result of the growth of gross premiums in our reinsurance segment. This
decrease was somewhat offset by increases in operating cash flows as a result of the Embarcadero acquisition.

Net cash used by investing activities decreased $22.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 to
$59.2 million from $81.3 million for the comparable 2006 period. During 2006, the Company acquired
Embarcadero with net cash of $39.8 million. In addition, cash available for investing activities increased as a
result of the Embarcadero acquisition. These decreases were somewhat offset by proceeds for sales and maturities
of available-for-sale investments.

Net cash used by investing activities was $81.3 million and $8.4 million for the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively. The $72.9 million increase was primarily attributable to the acquisition of
Embarcadero. Of the $72.9 million increase, $39.8 million of net cash was used to acquire Embarcadero and
cash available for investing activities net of proceeds from sales and maturities of available-for-sales securities was
$32.8 million.

Net cash flows provided by financing activities decreased $32.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007
to $24 thousand, from $32.2 million for the comparable 2006 period. This decrease is primarily due to the 2006
issuance of junior subordinated debt that was used to finance the acquisition of Embarcadero.

Net cash flows provided by financing activities decreased $30.7 million from $63.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 to $32.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. In 2006, we funded the acquisition of
Embarcadero through the issuance of $36.1 million of junior subordinated debt. Cash flows from financing
activities in 2005 of $63.1 million included $68.7 million in net proceeds from the issuance of common stock.

Capital Resources

In our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries, Majestic and Twin Bridges, cash and liquid investments are
required to pay claims and expenses, but the amount of capital in our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries
influences how much premium we can write.

The amount of capital in our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries is maintained relative to standardized
capital adequacy measures. In the United States and Bermuda, insurers and reinsurers are required to maintain
certain minimum levels of capital and risk-based capital, the calculation of which includes numerous factors
specified by the respective insurance regulatory authorities and the related insurance regulations. Factors that affect
capital requirements generally include premium volume, the extent and nature of loss and loss expense reserves, the
type and form of insurance and reinsurance business underwritten and the availability of reinsurance protection on
terms that are acceptable to us, Majestic is required to maintain a certain minimum level of surplus on a statutory
basis. Surplus is calculated by subtracting total liabilities from total admitted assets. The NAIC has a risk-based
capital standard designed to identify property and casualty insurers that may be inadequately capitalized based on
inherent risks of each insurer’s assets and liabilities and its mix of net premiums written. Insurers falling below a
calculated threshold may be subject to varying degrees of regulatory action. As of December 31, 2007, the statutory
surplus of Majestic was in excess of the prescribed risk-based capital requirements that correspond to any level of
regulatory action.

Majestic and Twin Bridges have been assigned insurer financial strength ratings of “A—"" (Excellent) by
AM. Best. Our competitive position is partly determined by these financial strength ratings and therefore we could
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be affected by a reduction in these ratings. These ratings reflect AM. Best’s opinion of our financial strength,
operating performance and ability to meet obligations. If an independent rating agency downgrades or withdraws
either of our ratings, we could be severely limited or prevented from writing any new insurance or reinsurance
contracts, which would significantly and negatively affect our business. Insurer financial strength ratings are based
upon factors relevant to policyholders and are not directed toward the protection of investors.

We partially financed our acquisition of Embarcadero through the issuance of $36.1 million in junior
subordinated debentures to CRM USA Holdings Trust I, a newly formed Delaware statutory trust subsidiary,
in connection with the issuance of $35.0 million of trust preferred securities. The junior subordinated debentures
mature December 15, 2036 and are callable after 5 years at our option at par plus accrued interest. The interest rate
on the junior subordinated debentures is fixed until December 15, 2011 at 8.65%. Thereafter, the interest rate is
three month LIBOR plus 3.65%. We do not consolidate the interest in the statutory business trusts for which we hold
100% of the common trust securities because we are not the primary beneficiary of the trusts. Qur investment in
common trust securities of the statutory business trust is reported in investments as equity securities. We report as a
liability the outstanding subordinated debentures owed to the statutory business trusts. In addition, we assumed
$8.0 million of senior debentures through our acquisition of Embarcadero. The senior debentures mature May 23,
2033 and are callable on or after May 23, 2008. The interest rate of the senior debentures is three month LIBOR plus
4.2% and may not exceed 12.5%.

We believe we have flexibility with respect to capitalization as a result of our access to the debt and equity
markets. We may attempt to access the capital markets within the next twelve months.

Contractual Obligations

All of our outstanding financing obligations are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements and
accompanying Notes contained in Item 8 of this annual report. The table below sets forth the amounts of our
contractual obligations, including interest payable, at December 31, 2007:

Payment Due by Period

Less Than More Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
{Dollars in thousands)

Contractual Obligations . . ........... $ 7429 $1927 $3752 $1,750 % —
Long Term Debt Obligations .. ..... .. 154,362 3,898 7,798 7,798 134,868
Capital Lease Obligations ........... 1 1 — —_ —
Operating Lease Obligations . ........ 33,338 3,531 6,299 4,640 18,868
Retrospective Premiums. . ........... 1,168 — 1,168 — —
Gross Loss and LAE Reserves. ... .... 188,848 50,876 62,085 32,038 43,849
Total Contractual Obligations. .. ...... $390,144  $60,233  $81,102  $46,226  $202,583

Our gross loss reserves do not have contractual maturity dates and the exact timing of the payment of claims
cannot be predicted with certainty. However, based upon historical payment patterns, we have included an estimate
of when we expect our loss reserves (without the benefit of any reinsurance recoveries) to be paid. As more fully
discussed in “Item 1 — Primary Insurance — Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses” and “Ttem | —
Reinsurance — Reserve for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses™ above, the estimation of losses reserves is
based on various complex and subjective judgments. Actual losses paid may differ, perhaps significantly, from the
reserve estimates reflected in our financial statements. Similarly, the timing of payment of our estimated losses and
benefits is not fixed and there may be significant changes in actual payment activity. The assumptions used in
estimating the likely payments due by period are based on our historical claims payment experience and industry
payment patterns, but due to the inherent uncertainty in the process of estimating the timing of such payments, there
is a risk that the amounts paid in any such period can be significantly different than the amounts disclosed above.

Retrospective premiums are an estimate of the amounts that would be paid to policyholders if losses incurred
under their policies perform as currently anticipated.
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Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements or transactions with unconsolidated, special purpose entities.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk can be described as the risk of change in fair value of a financial instrument due to changes in _
interest rates, creditworthiness, foreign exchange rates or other factors. We will seek to mitigate that risk by a
number of actions, as described below.

Interest Rate Risk

Our fixed rate holdings are invested predominantly in high quality corporate, government and municipal bonds
with relatively short durations. The fixed rate portfolio is exposed to interest rate fluctuations; assuming all other
factors remain constant as interest rates rise, their fair values decline and as interest rates fall, their fair values rise.
We work to manage the impact of interest rate fluctuations on our fixed rate portfolio. The effective duration of the
fixed rate portfolio is managed with consideration given to the estimated payout timing of our liabilities, We have
investment policies which limit the maximum duration and maturity of individual securities within the portfolio and
set target levels for average duration and maturity of the entire portfolio. For additional information on our
investments and investment policies, see Item 1. Business under the heading “Reinsurance Segment — Invest-
ments” and “Primary Insurance Segment — Investments.”

The table below summarizes our interest rate risk. It illustrates the sensitivity of the fair value of fixed-income
investments to selected hypothetical changes in interest rates as of December 31, 2007. The selected scenarios are
not predictions of future events, but rather illustrate the effect that such events may have on the fair value of our
fixed-income portfolio and shareholders’ equity (dollars in thousands):

Hypothetical
Percentage Increase
{Decrease) in
Estimated Change in Shareholders’
Hypothetical Change in Interest Rates Fair Value Fair Value Equity
200 basis point increase . , ..., ............ $(10,646) $232,323 (6.5)%
100 basis point increase . . . ............... (5,373) 237,596 3.3)%
Nochange............. ... ... ........ — 242,969 0.0%
100 basis point decrease. . ................ 5,556 248,525 34%
200 basis point decrease. ... .............. 11,350 254,319 7.0%

We are also subject to interest rate risk on our subordinated and senior debt securities, which have quarterly
adjustable interest rates based on LIBOR plus a fixed margin. As of December 31, 2007, we had a total of
$36.1 million of outstanding floating rate debt which is outstanding subordinated debentures underlying our trust
securities issued by our wholly owned statutory business trusts and carrying an interest rate that effective 2011, will
move from an 8.65% fixed rate to 3-month LIBOR plus a 3.65% fixed spread. In addition, in November 2006, we
assumed $38.0 of senior debt whose rate is determined by reference to market interest rates. If interest rates increase,
the amount of interest payable by us would also increase.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the potential loss arising principatly from adverse changes in the financial condition of the issuers
of our fixed maturity securities and the financial condition of our retnsurers.

We currently invest in highly-rated financial instruments, primarily U.S. treasury bills and agency securities,
and money market funds. We maintain effective portfolio duration of less than 2.2 years. We address the credit risk
related to the issuers of our fixed maturity securities by investing in fixed maturity securities that are rated “BBB” or
higher by Standard & Poor’s. We also monitor the financial condition of all issuers of our fixed maturity securities.
To limit our risk exposure, we employ stringent diversification policies that limit the credit exposure to any single
issuer or business sector.
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We are subject to credit risk with respect to Majestic’s reinsurers. Although the reinsurers are obligated to
reimburse us to the extent we cede risk to them, Majestic remains ultimately liable to our policyholders on all risks
we have reinsured. As a result, reinsurance contracts do not limit our ultimate obligations to pay claims and we
might not collect amounts recoverable from our reinsurers. We address this credit risk by initially selecting
reinsurers with an A.M. Best rating of “A—" (Excellent) or better and by performing, along with our reinsurance
broker, quarterly credit reviews of our reinsurers. If one of our reinsurers suffers a credit downgrade, we may
consider various options to lessen the risk of asset impairment including commutation, novation and letters of
credit,

Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk is the risk that we may incur losses due to adverse changes in the market prices of the equity
securities we hold in our investment portfolio. We classify our portfolio of equity securities as available-for-sale and
carry these securities on our balance sheet at fair value. Accordingly, adverse changes in the market prices of our
equity securities result in a decrease in the value of our total assets and shareholders’ equity. In order to minimize
our exposure to equity price tisk, we invest primarily in mid-to-large capitalization issues and seek to diversify our
equity holdings across several business sectors. We have also implemented a procedure in which we monitor our
other than temporarily impaired equity investments. We also currently limit the percentage of equity securities held
in our investment portfolio to a range of 5% to 10% of our investment portfolio at the end of the most recent fiscal
year. As of December 31, 2007, the equity securities in our investment portfolio had a fair value of $22.4 million,
representing 10% of our available-for-sale portfolio on that date.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
CRM Holdings, Lid.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CRM Holdings, Ltd. as of December 31, 2007
and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ and
members’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007. Our audit
also included the financial statement schedules included in the index at Itern 15. We also have audited CRM Holdings,
Ltd.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis-
sion (COSO). CRM Holdings, Ltd.’s management is responsible for these financial statements and financial staterent
schedutes, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and an
opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of CRM Holdings, Lid. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, such financial statement schedules, when
considered in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information
set forth therein. Also in our opinion, CRM Holdings, Ltd. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

/s/  JOHNSON LLAMBERT & CO LLP

Falls Church, Virginia
March 5, 2008
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CRM Holdings, Ltd.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,
20017 2006
{Dollars in thousands)
ASSETS
Investments:
Fixed-maturity securities, available-for-sale (amortized cost $240,467 and
BEO3, 407, . e e e $242969 $193,208
Equity securities, available-for-sale (cost $21,704 and $11,904), .. ............. 22,374 12,089
Short-term INVESIMENS , . . . ... it e ot sttt e et e crr et 786 388
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiary .. ....... ... ... ... ... .. ..o L. 1,083 1,083
Total INVESUMENLS . . . . . .. . ittt e e et e 267,212 206,768
Cash and cash equivalents . ... ... ... ... it it 33477 21,546
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted ... ...... ... . ... .. ... . .. .. ..., 809 6,546
Accrued interest receivable. . . ... ... e e 2,766 2,325
Premiums receivable, net . . .. ... ... . . e 13,151 17,806
Reinsurance recoverable. . . .. .. ... . e e 38,584 30,749
ACCOUNIS TECEIVADIE . . . . e e e e e e 5,000 5,572
Deferred policy acquisition COSIS ... ... ... .t e e e 623 1,143
Net deferred tax aSSet . . . . oottt e e e 7473 6,803
Goodwill . . .o e e e 2,749 2,695
Prepaid eXpenses . . ... ... .. e e e 3,075 2,636
L1 T g Y30 - J R 4476 1,764
Total ASSES. . . . . . o e e e e $379,395  $306,353
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses . . ... ... ... ... c.iuennen. .. $188,848 $153,622
Reinsurance payable .. .. .. ... . . ... . 5,001 1,538
Unearned premitms. . . ... ... ittt e e e e 8,853 8,080
Unearned management fees and commissions . ... ........................... 261 613
Long-term debt and other secured borrowings. ... ........ ... . .. 44,084 44,115
AcCrued EXPEISES . . . .ot e e e 24,810 14,741
Total Habilities . . . .. e e 271,857 222,709
Common shares
Authorized 50 billion shares; $.01 par value; 16.0 and 15.5 million common shares
issued and outstanding . . . . ... ... L e e, 160 155
0.4 and 0.8 million Class B shares issued and outstanding . . . .......... ... .... 4 8
Additicnal paid-incapital . . . ... ... .. e 68,192 66,566
Retained earnings . ... ... ... .. . i e e 37,115 16,973
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss), netof tax, . ..................... 2,067 (58)
Total shareholders” equity. . .. ... ... ... 107,538 83,644
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity . . ............................... $379,395  $306,353

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CRM Holdings, Ltd.

Consolidated Statements of Income
And Comprehensive Income

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(Amounts in thousands, except per
share data)

Revenues
Net premioms earned . ... ... ..ottt e $116,843  $30,702 % 8,362
Fee-based management SErvices .. ....... ... itvrinnrinaennennas 32,356 39,997 36,495
INVESUMENT INCOMIE . . . . . oottt v et e e e aeae e am e et eantanens 11,381 4277 (18)

TOtAl TEVEIUSS .« o v v o vt vt et e e te i mr e e e e ettt e 160,580 74 976 44,839
Expenses
Losses and loss adjustment eXpenses. . . ... .. .. ... i an s 63,661 10,490 3,584
Fees paid to general agents and brekers ............ ... .. ... ... .. 10,195 10,935 11,490
Policy acquisition costs ... .. ...... ... i e 17,125 8,249 2,473
Selling, general and administrative expenses . . ...... ... ... .. ol 43,928 28,937 19,847
TNEErESt EXPEIISE o . v o oo v et it e e e 3917 533 107

Total EXPENSES . .. o o i v et 138,826 59,144 37,501
Income before taxes . ... ..ottt e e 21,754 15,832 7,338

Provision for inCome taxes .. ... ...ttt naaenan 1,612 1,576 63
NEt EICOMIE . . o oot e et e et e e et et e e e e $ 20,142 $14256 §$ 7,275
Earnings per share:

3 T $ 124 % 08 3 070

Dilated. . . . e $ 124 % 088 § 070
Weighted average shares outstanding:

BasiC . .o e e 16,289 16,247 10,428

DAlUted. . . . i e e 16,307 16,247 10,431
Comprehensive Income
NEt ICOMIE .« o ottt et e e e e e e e et e et e $ 20,142 $14256 % 7,275
Other comprehensive gain (loss):

Gross unrealized investment holding gains (losses) arising during the

PErIO. . o e 4,001 (82) 20
Less reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses included in net
IMCOIMIE . . . ottt et e e e et e e e e e e (756) 14 (26)

Income tax provision on other comprehensive income . .............. (1,120) 16 —
Total other comprehensive gain (loss) .. .............. ... ... ....... 2,125 (32) (6)
Total comprehensive income. . . ... ... ... ... .. ool $ 22267 $14204 $ 7,269

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balances at December 31, 2004 . .
Net income
Unrealized holding losses arising
during the period. ... ... . ...
Distributions to members of pre-
restructuring LE.Cs
Amortization of unearned
compensation
Reclassification of members’
deficit and common stock and
paid-in capital of pre-
restructuring entities
Issuance of common stock in
connection with formation of
the Company. . ............
Repurchase and retirement of
common shares . . ..........
Issnance of common stock in
initial public offering, net of
offering costs

Balances at December 31, 2005 . .

Net income
Unrealized holding losses arising
during the period. ... .......
Amortization of unearned
compensation
Retirement of common shares and
paid-in capital . . .. .........

Balances at December 31, 2006 . .

Net income
Unrealized holding gains arising
during the period. .........,
Conversion of Class B to
Common shares. ... ........
Amortization of unearned
compensation
Retirement of common shares and
paid-in capital . . .. .........
Issuance of common shares —
restricted stock and employee
stock option purchase plans . . .

Balances at December 31, 2007 . .

CRM Holdings, Ltd.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Shareholders’ and Members’ Equity

Members’  Common
Equity Stock and
{Deficit) in Paid-in Accumu-
pre- Capital of Additional Lated Other
Restructuring  Twin @~ Common Class B Paid-in = Retained Comprehensive
LLCs Bridges Stock  Shares  Capital  Earnings  Gain (Loss) Tota!
(Dollars in thousands)
$ 947y $1000 $— $— $§ — § 85 § — § 888
5,393 — — _ — 1,882 —_ 7,275
- - - - = - (©) ©)
(7,943) — — — — — — (7,.943)
—_ S — 13 — — 13
3497 (1000) — —  (2497) @ — — _
— — 12 = — — — 12
— - (1) - — — — (12)
— — 155 8 68540 — — 68703
— — 155 _8 66056 _ 2717 (6) 68,930
— — — — — 14,256 — 14,256
— - - - - - (52) (52)
— - 540 — — 540
- - = = _0y_ - (30)
— — 155 8 66566 16973 (58) 83,644
— — — — — 20,142 — 20,142
— — — — — — 2,125 2,125
— —_ 4 ) —_ — — —
—_ — — — 1,571 — — 1,571
— - = = (90) — — (90)
$§ — $§ — 8160 $4 368,192 $37,115 $2067  $107,538

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CRM Holdings, Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NELIMCOMIE . . o o oottt e e et e e ettt e e
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization of other assets . ... ............ .o v
Amortization of unearned compensation, restricted stock ... ... ... ...
Amortization of premiums and discounts on available-for-sale investments . ... ...
Net realized (gains) losses on sale of investments . .......................
Deferred income tax benefit . . ... ... ... .. i

Changes in:
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted . . ... ...... ... ... ...
Accrued interest receivable . . . . ... ... ...
Premiums receivable . .. .. ... .
Reinsurance recoverable. . . . ... ... e
Accounts receivable. . ... ...
Policy acquisition COStS . ... ... .
Prepaid EXPENSES. . . . o o o vt
OhEr 855EIS . o v vt tv e e e et e e e
Reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses. . .. ..... ... ...
Reinsurance payable .. ... . . .
Uneamed Premiums. . . ..o v v vt e e
Unearned management fees and commissions . .................... ...
Other accrued EXPEISES . . . o« v vttt

Net cash provided by operating activities. . .. ......... ... ..t

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of available-for-sale investments . . ... ... ...
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale investments .. .......................
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale investments . . .. ...... ............
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cashreceived. ... ... ... .. ... ...
Net sales and maturitics of short-term investments . . ... ... coonu i
Purchases and disposals of fixed assets, net. . ... . ... . o
(Advances of) payments on loans receivable, net ... ... .. .. ...l

Net cash used in investing activities . . . .. ... ... it

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issuance of commonstock . ... ... ... i
{Decrease) increase in IPQ costspayable . .......... .. ... ... ... ol
Repayments under long-term debt and credit facilities. . ........ ... .. ... o0
Issuance of junior subordinated notes . . . .. ... .. .. o
Junior subordinated debt iSsuUance COSIS. . . .. ... e e
Issuance of common shares — employee stock purchase plan. . . ......... ... ... ..
Retirement of common shares — share-based compensation. . . ..................
Distributions paid to LLC Members. . .. ... ... o i

Net cash provided by financing activities . ......... ... ... .. ... ..

Net increase (decrease} incash . . ........ ... ... .o i,
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning . . . ... co o e

Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures
Income taxes paid. . . . .. .. L

Inferest paid .. ... ... e

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Years Ended December 3i,

2007

2006

2005

(Dollars in thousands)

$ 20,142 § 14256 § 7275
936 280 226
1,571 540 13
879  (1,966) (49)
(756) 14 (26)

(1,792) (498) (5)
5737 (5215 3506
(442) (559) (34)
4654 (1073 1110
(7835  (1,977) —
s (00 (2020
520 (701) 972
(64) (888)  (151)
(420) - —
35,219 8130 3,584
3,463 334 —
773 1449 (3,286)
(352) (707)  (1,685)
10,072 2854 2,202
71,117 2,588 11,626
(204019)  (221,328)  (10,611)
81,199 58131 2494
67655 122,278 —
(54)  (39,759) —
(398) (300) —
(3.364) (719) (289
(229) 376 19
(59210) _ (81.321) _ (8.383)
- — 68704
— 41D 2411
€1)) (50) (76)
— 36083 —
—  (1236) —
145 - —
(90) (30) —
— — (1943
24 32356 63,096
11931 (46377 66339
2546 67923 1584

$ 33477 § 21,546 §67.923

$ 3,700 94 §  —

$ 3916 50 $ 107




CRM Holdings, Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies
Organization

CRM Holdings, Ltd. (“CRM Holdings™ or the “Company”) is a Bermuda holding company and 100% owner of
CRM USA Holdings, Inc. (“CRM USA Holdings™), a United States holding company, and Twin Bridges (Bermuda)
Ltd. (“Twin Bridges”) a Bermuda company. The Company’s legal domicile is Bermuda, the jurisdiction in which it
is incorporated.

CRM USA Holdings has four principal operating subsidiaries, Compensation Risk Managers, LLC (“CRM"),
Compensation Risk Managers of California, LLC (“CRM CA™), Eimar, LLC (“Eimar”) and Embarcadero
Insurance Holdings, Inc. (“Embarcaderc”). Embarcadero has one principal operating subsidiary, Majestic Insur-
ance Company (“Majestic”) and two dormant subsidiaries, Great Western Insurance Services, Inc, (“Great
Western™) and Redhorse Insurance Company, Ltd. (“Redhorse™).

Acquisitions

On October 1, 2007, the Company acquired the assets of Medical Expense Management Incorporated whose
operations were merged into Eimar. The acquisition was deemed to be an immaterial acquisition under Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB"™) Statement (“FAS™) 141, Business Combinations, and as such, additional
disclosures have been omitted.

On November 14, 2006, CRM USA Holdings acquired all of the outstanding shares of Embarcadero, for a cash
purchase price of $46.3 million, as more fully described in Note 2. Embarcadero’s assets, liabilities and results of
operations are included in the Company’s results beginning November 14, 2006,

Restructuring and Initial Public Offering

The Company completed an initial public offering (*IPQ”) on December 27, 20035, listing its shares on the
NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “CRMH”. The Company sold 6 million shares of common stock,
par value $.01 per share, at a price of $13.00. The proceeds to the Company were $68.7 million, net of underwriting
and offering expenses of $9.3 million.

Effective December 27, 2005, immediately prior to the closing of the IPQ, the former owners of CRM, CRM
CA, Eimar {collectively, the “Pre-restructuring LLCs™) and Twin Bridges contributed all of their interests in these
entities to the Company in a series of transactions (the “Restructuring”). The former shareholders of Twin Bridges
and members of the Pre-restructuring LLCs ultimately received a total of 9.5 million common shares and 0.8 million
Class B shares in exchange for, and in the same proportion as, their ownership interests in the pre-restructuring
LLCs and Twin Bridges. Total shares issued and outstanding as a result of the 1PO and the restructuring were
15.5 million common shares and 0.8 miltion Class B shares.

Basis of Accounting and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. For periods including and subsequent to the
restructuring and IPO, the accompanying financial statements include, on a consolidated basis, the accounts of
CRM Holdings, Ltd. and subsidiaries. All significant inter-company transactions and balances have been elim-
inated upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to adopt accounting policies and make estimates and assumptions that affect
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CRM Holdings, Ltd.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

certain reported amounts and disclosures. These estimates are inherently subject to change, and actual results may
ultimately differ materially from those estimates.

Reclassification

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the basis of presentation used in 2007.

Investments

The Company’s principal investments are in fixed maturity and equity securities, short-term investments and
an investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary. The accounting policies related to each are as follows:

Fixed-Maturity and Equity Securities

The Company’s fixed-maturity and equity securities are classified as available-for-sale and are reported at their
estimated fair value based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes. Unrealized investment gains and losses on
these securities are recorded as a separate component of other comprehensive income or loss, net of deferred income
taxes to the extent the underlying investment is held in a taxable entity. Investment gains and losses are determined
on the basis of specific identification.

Investment income is recognized when earned and includes interest together with amortization of premiums
and discounts on fixed-maturity securities, dividends from equity securities, investment gains and losses and
investment expenses.

The cost of fixed-maturity and equity securities is adjusted for impairments in value deemed to be other-than-
temporary in the period in which the determination is made. These adjustments are recorded as investment losses.
The Company does not change the revised cost basis for subsequent recoveries in value. The assessment of whether
such impairment has occurred is based on management's case-by-case evaluation of the underlying reasons for the
decline in fair value. The Company also considers the length and severity of the temporary impairment of an
investment to determine whether the impairment is other than temporary.

Certain investments have been pledged as security under certain credit facilities, as more fully described in
Note 9 and Note 10.

Short-term Investments

Short-term investments include investments with remaining maturities of one year or less, but greater than
three months, at the time of acquisition and are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value.

Investment in Unconsolidated Subsidiary

The Company does not consolidate its interest in CRM USA Holdings Trust T (*Trust”), for which the
Company holds 100% of the common trust securitics because the Company is not the primary beneficiary of the
Trust in accordance with FASB Interpretation 46 (R) (“FIN 46(R)”}. As more fully described in Note 11, the
Company's investment in the Trust is reported in investments at equity. The Company reports the outstanding junior
subordinated debentures owed to the Trust as a liability.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes currency on hand and demand deposits with financial institutions. The Company considers all
highly liquid debt instruments purchased with maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. At times, management maintains
cash balances in excess of insured limits and believes they do not represent a significant credit risk to the Company.
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Certain cash and cash equivalent balances have been pledged as security under certain credit facilities, as more fully
described in Note 9 and Note 10.

Premiums Receivable

Premiums receivable include primary insurance and reinsurance premiums duee from policyholders and
insurance carriers who cede premium to the Company. Premiums receivable also include retrospective premiums
receivable, which represents the difference between initial premium chargeé and premiums adjusted to reflect the
policyholders’ actual loss experience of the insured risk. The allowance for doubtful accounts represents the
Company’s best estimate of uncollectible premiums included in premiums receivable, and amounted to $203
thousand and $163 thousand as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. No allowance was deemed necessary
as of December 31, 2005. Premium receivables of $125 thousand were written off in 2007. No premiums receivable
balances were written off during 2006 and 2005.

At the end of the policy terms, payroll-based premium audits are performed to determine eamed premiums for
that policy year. Earned but unbilled premiums include estimated future audit premiums and are subject to changes
in payrolls due to growth, economic conditions and seasonality. The estimates are continually reviewed and
adjusted as experience develops or new information becomes known, Any such adjustments are included in current
operations, ‘

Reinsurance Recoverable

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated on an individual contract basis, in a manner consistent with
the associated reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses. Included in reinsurance recoverables are paid losses
recoverable from reinsurers and prepaid reinsurance premiums to reinsurers. Recoverables are reported net of any
allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance recoverables. No allowance was deemed necessary as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006. No reinsurance recoverable balances were written off during 2007, 2006 and
2005. The Company evaluates and monitors the financial condition of its reinsurers to minimize its exposure to
significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist primarily of assessments from primary insurance policyholders, billed and
unbilled management fees and other services receivable from the self-insured groups managed by CRM and CRM
CA, and billed and unbilled commissions on excess insurance policies placed on behalf of these groups. Accounts
receivable are carried at face value less any allowance for doubtful accounts. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, no
allowance was deemed necessary. Receivable balances of $142 thousand and $372 thousand were written off during
the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. No receivable balances were written off during the year
ended December 31, 2005

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Deferred policy acquisition costs include commissions, premium taxes and certain underwriting and other
policy issuance costs and are primarily related to the production of new and renewal business. These costs are
deferred and amortized as the related insurance and reinsurance premiums are earned or recorded. Deferred policy
acquisition costs are evaluated to determine if recorded amounts exceed estimated recoverable amounts after
allowing for anticipated investment income. Premium deficiency, if any, is recorded as amortization of deferred
policy acquisition costs. The Company believes that these costs are fully recoverable at December 31, 2007 and
2006.
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquiring a business enterprise over the fair value of the net assets
acquired. Under FAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, the Company tests the carrying vale of its
goodwill for impairment at least annually or more frequently if events or circumstances, such as adverse changes in
the business climate, indicate that there may be justification for conducting an interim test. If the carrying value of a
reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its fair value, the excess will be recognized as impairment and recorded as a
charge against net income. There was no impairment of goodwill at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Other intangible assets have definite lives and their value is amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful
lives, ranging from three to five years. Other intangible assets will be tested for potential impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances suggest that an asset’s or asset group’s carrying value may not be fully
recoverable in accordance with FAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long Lived Assets. Other
intangible assets are included as a component of other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets include automobiles, furniture, fixtures and equiptment, computer software, and leasehold
improvements and are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization.

We capitalize costs related to computer software developed for internal use during the application develop-
ment stage of software development projects in accordance with Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the
Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. These costs generally consist of external
direct costs of material and services used. The Company begins amortization of these costs once the project is
completed and ready for its intended use. Amortization is on a straight-line basis and over a useful life of three to
five years. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of fixed assets,
generally three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated amortization, and are
amortized over their estimated useful lives or lease terms, whichever is shorter.

Fixed assets are tested for potential impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances suggest that an
asset’s or asset group’s carrying value may not be fully recoverable in accordance with FAS No. 144. Fixed assets
are included as a component of other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Reserve for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses represents the ultimate cost of all reported and unreported
losses and loss adjustment expenses associated with reported claims and claims incurred but not reported which are
unpaid at the balance sheet date. Anticipated recoveries on salvage and subrogation are deducted from liabilities for
unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses. Liabilities for reserves are determined by many variables, including
case evaluation for reported losses, actuarial studies, statistical analysis, industry data and other factors. Man-
agement believes that the aggregate liability for losses and loss adjustment expenses at year-end represents its best
estimate, based on available data, of the amounts necessary to settle the ultimate cost of expected loss and loss
adjustment expenses.

These estimates are also subject to the effects of trends in loss severity and frequency and other trends such as
fluctuations in inflation, prevailing economic, social and judicial trends, legislative changes and internal and third
party claims handling procedures. There also may be a significant delay between the occurrence of the insured event
and the time it is actually reported to the Company. Accordingly, the ultimate settlement of losses and related loss
adjustment expenses may vary significantly from the estimates included in the Company’s financial statements,
These estimates are reviewed regularly and are adjusted as experience develops or new information becomes
known. Any such adjustments are included in income in the period in which they become known.
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Guaranty Fund and Other Assessments

The Company is subject to guaranty fund and other assessments by the states in which it writes business. These
assessments are for the general welfare and protection of workers’ compensation policyholders. Guaranty fund
assessments are accrued at the time premiums are written. Other assessments are accrued either at the time of
assessment, or, in the case of premium-based assessments, at the time the premiums are written, or, in the case of
loss-based assessments, at the time the losses are incurred. Liabilities for guaranty funds and other insurance-related
assessments are not discounted and are included as part of Accrued Expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company is permitted by the insurance departments to pass certain assessments through to the policy-
holders. Assessment receivables are billed to the policyholders as the assessments become due and are included in
Accounts Receivable as discussed above.

Primary Insurance Premiums

Premiums written are recognized in income ratably over the term of the policy. The portion of billed premiums
in excess of premiums earned at the balance sheet date is recorded as unearned premiums. In respect to most of the
policies written by Majestic, premiums are based on the estimated payroll and loss experience of an employer and
Majestic’s applicable premium rates, A portion of Majestic’s premiums are written on an adjustable basis.
Premiums from those policies can be adjusted retrospectively in accordance with the actual loss experience of
the policyholders’ claims arising during the policy term. These retrospective premium adjustments are periodicalty
made to the net premivms earned 1o reflect the changes in the estimation of the policyholders’ ultimate losses as
more information becomes available over time.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, 78% and 17% of Company’s net earned premiums from primary
insurance were from California and New York/New Jersey policyholders, respectively. For the period November 14,
2006 through December 31, 2006, 91% of the Company’s net earned premiums from primary insurance were from
California. The Company did not write primary insurance prior to the November 14, 2006 Embarcadero acquisition.

Reinsurance Premiums Assumed and Ceded

Through treaty, quota share, and facultative reinsurance agreements, the Company cedes a share of the risks it
has underwritten to other affiliated and third party insurers. Assumed reinsurance refers to the Company’s
acceptance of certain insurance risks that other affiliated and third party insurers have underwritten.

Reinsurance accounting is followed for ceded and assumed transactions when the risk transfer provisions of
FAS 113, “Accounting and Reporting for Reinsurance of Short-Duration and Long-Duration Contracts,” have been
met. To meet risk transfer requirements, a reinsurance contract must transfer insurance risk, consisting of both
underwriting and timing risk, and bear a reasonable possibility of a significant loss to the reinsurer. Management has
evaluated its reinsurance agreements and has determined that they are short-duration prospective contracts.

Reinsurance premiums assumed are accounted for on a basis consistent with the terms of the reinsurance
contracts. The portion of reinsurance premiums ceded that relate to the remaining terms of the reinsurance policies
at the balance sheet date are recorded as unearned premiums.

Premiums ceded are reported as a reduction of premiuvms writien. The portion of the reinsurance premiums
assumed that relate to the remaining terms of the reinsurance policies at the balance sheet date are recorded as
prepaid reinsurance premiums and included in Reinsurance Recoverable as described above.

Reinsurance premiums are subject to adjustment based upon modification to the premivms charged on the
underlying policies. Such adjustments are reflected in current operations when estimable.
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Fee-Based Management Services

Revenues from fee-based management services include management fees received from self-insured groups,
which are based on a percentage of the premiums of the self-insured groups. The portion of such fees that relate to
fees paid to general agents and brokers is recorded as revenue when payable by the group, which is the same time
that the obligation for fees paid to general agents and brokers is recorded. The balance of such fees is earned ratably
over the period to which they apply. The portion of management fees that relate to future periods at the balance sheet
date is recorded as unearned management fees. :

Our fee-based management services also include management fees received for medical bill review and case
management services. These services are provided to the self-insured groups managed by CRM and CRM CA, and
also to third parties and Majestic policyholders. Fees from medical bill review and case management services are
recognized as the services are performed.

The Company also receives commissions for excess insurance coverage it places for these groups, including
commissions from Majestic and NY Marine & General as more fully described in Note 9. Such commission income
is earned ratably over the terms of the underlying insurance coverage. The portion of commission income that
relates to the remaining term of the underlying insurance coverage at the balance sheet date is recorded as unearned
commission income. Commissions received for surety bonds that the Company places for the self-insured groups
are earned upon receipt.’

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company provided management and other
related services to 15, 15 and 14 self-insured groups, respectively. For the years ended December 2007, 2006 and
2005, 69%, 69% and 74% of fee-based management services revenues were from self-insured groups located in
New York. The remaining balance of such revenues was from groups located in California.

One self-insured group accounted for 15%, 23% and 27% of the Company’s fee-based management services
revenues for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively. For the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, three of the largest groups, two of which are located in New York and one in California,
accounted for 57%, 59% and 60% of the total fee-based management services revenue, respectively.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs, including selling and marketing expenses, are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs
totaling $1.1 million, $1.4 million and $940 thousand were included in selling, general and administrative expense
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. ;

Share-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for share-based compensation plans using the fair value accounting method prescribed
by FASB Statement 123(R), Share-Based Payment (“FAS 123(R)"). The fair value method requires compensation
cost to be measured based on the fair value of the equity instrument at the grant or award date. Share-based
compensation is accrued over the vesting period of the grant or award.

Income Taxes

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation 48 (FIN 48),
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FAS 109. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition
threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more-likely-
than-not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The amount recognized is measured as the largest
amount of benefit that is more likely than not of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The adoption of FIN 48 did
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not have an impact on cur financial position or results of operations as we have taken no significant tax positions
which would require accrual or disclosure under the new guidance.

CRM Holdings and Twin Bridges are Bermuda companies. Management believes that CRM Holdings and
Twin Bridges are not involved in the active conduct of a trade or business in the U.S. for 1J.5. tax purposes and as
such has not provided for any federal or state and local income taxes for these entities.

CRM Holdings and Twin Bridges have received undertakings from the Bermuda Minister of Finance assuring
it that if any legislation is enacted in Bermuda that would impose income or capital taxes, then the imposition of any
such tax will not be applicable to CRM Holdings or Twin Bridges or any of its operations, shares, debentures or
other obligations until March 28, 2016.

CRM USA Holdings and its subsidiaries file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return in accordance with
the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The future tax consequences of temporary
differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities are measured at the balance sheet dates
and are recorded as deferred income tax assets and liabilities. Valuation allowances are established when
management assesses, based on available information, that it is more likely than not that deferred income tax
assets will not be realized.

For the periods presented in these financial statements prior to the date of the restructuring, the pre-
restructuring LLCs were organized as limited liability companies where the members were taxed on their
proportionate share of the LLCs” taxable income. Subsequent to the restructuring, CRM, CRM CA and Eimar
elected to be taxed as U.S. corporations.

Therefore, for CRM, CRM CA and Eimar, income taxes have been provided in these financial statements only
since December 27, 2005 and not prior.

Segment Reporting

The Company manages its operations through four reportable segments: fee-based management services;
primary insurance; reinsurance; and corporate and other. Certain information about segment operations is addressed
in Note 21.

Offering Costs

Direct offering costs incurred in connection with the December 27, 2005 IPO, including certain amounts
payable for underwriting, legal, audit and printing services, were deducted from the gross proceeds of the offering.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Effective

In February 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities (FAS 159), which permits entities to elect to measure many financial instruments and certain
other items at fair value. Upon adoption of FAS 159, an entity may elect the fair value option for eligible items that
exist at the adoption date. Subsequent to the initial adoption, the election of the fair value option should only be
made at the initial recognition of the asset or liability or upon a re-measurement event that gives rise to the new basis
of accounting. All subsequent changes in fair value for that instrument are reported in earnings. FAS 159 does not
affect any existing accounting literature that requires certain assets and liabilities to be recorded at fair value nor
does it eliminate disclosure requirements included in other accounting standards. The new guidance is effective for
financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and for interim periods within those
fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, of the adoption of FAS 159 on its
consolidated financial position, and results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued FASB Statement 157, Fair Value Measurements (FAS 157), which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair
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value measurements. FAS 157 applies to other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value
measurements. The new guidance is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007, and for interim periods within those fiscal years. On December 14, 2007, the FASB issued a
proposed FASB Staff Position (FSP) that would amend FAS 157 to delay the effective date of FAS 157 for all non-
financial assets and non-financial liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, at least annually. The proposed FSP defers the effective date of FAS 157 to
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years for items within the
scope of the proposed FSP. On February 12, 2008, the FASB confirmed the aforementioned position and released
the final FSP. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, of the adoption of FAS 157 on its
consolidated financial position, and results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement 141 (Revised) Business Combinations (FAS 141R).
FAS No. 141R establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer in a business combination recognizes,
measures and reports the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the
acquiree. The pronouncement also provides guidance for recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquired in the
business combination and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to
evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. FAS 141R is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2008. We will adopt this pronouncement in the first quarter of fiscal 2009, and it will
impact any acquisitions consummated subsequent to the effective date.

Note 2. Acquisition of Embarcadero

On November 14, 2006, CRM USA Holdings completed the acquisition of Embarcadero for $46.3 million in
cash. The acquisition provides the Company with an enhanced presence in California as well as the ability to expand
its insurance and reinsurance activities to other states where Majestic is licensed as an insurer. In addition to cash on
hand, the acquisition was financed through the issuance of $36.1 million in junior subordinated debentures to a
newly formed Delaware statutory trust subsidiary in connection with the net proceeds of the issvance of
$35.0 million of trust preferred securities more fully described in Note 11.

Of the aggregate purchase price, $4 million is held in escrow for up to 18 months following the closing to cover
potential claims for breaches of certain representations, warranties and covenants, and an additional $3.2 million is
held in escrow for five years to cover indemnification claims by CRM USA Holdings with respect to reserves for
losses and loss adjustment expenses. Should any amounts become recoverable through these escrow arrangements,
they would be included in current eamings in the year of recovery.
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The application of purchase accounting requires the use of estimation techniques in determining the fair value
of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The purchase price has been allocated to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed using management’s best estimate of their fair values as of the date of acquisition. The
computation of the purchase price and its allocation to the net assets acquired based on their fair values as of
November 14, is presented below:

Determination of Purchase Price (Dollars in Thousands)

Total cash consideration paid . ... ... . ... . ...t e e e $46,292
Expenses incurred in connection with the acquisition. .. ..... ... ... ... ... ... . ... 1,945
Total purchase price and transaction eXpenses ... ... ... it n i i it it $48,237

Allocation of Purchase Price

Net book value of Embarcadero as of November 13, 2006. . ... ... ... ... . . .. $46,054

Adjustments to reflect the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
Reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses . ............... ittt 6,156
Reinsurance recoverable . . ... ... e e e (6,861)
Deferred policy acquisition COSES . . . . . .ottt i i e e e (674)
Deferred INCOME BAXES. . . . . .. ...t et et e e 770
Other deferred exPenses . .. .. . . e e {243)
Fixed assels . .. ... .t e e e (74)
Unrealized gains on inVeStMENtS . . . .. ... . u ittt ettt sttt e 453
Goodwill .. e e e e e e 2,661

Total PURChase PIICe . . .. . L. e $48,237

The Company evaluated its final allocation of the purchase price and has adjusted its deferred tax asset and
goodwill carrying value by $34 thousand. All of the goodwill resulting from the acquisition has been allocated to the
Primary Insurance segment.
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The condensed statement of net assets acquired reflects the fair value of Embarcadero’s net assets as follows:

As of November 14, 2006
(In Thousands)

Assets:
Cash and INVESUTIENLS . o v\ v v vttt et iao e aean s aanos $164,403
Premiums receivable, NEt, . . ... v u i e e 4,420
Reinsurance recoverable . . ..ot e e 28,772
Other 1eCEIVADLES . . o v vttt e ettt et 3,548
Deferred INCOME TAKXES. « « v v o v v v s e s m et et o e car sy 6,319
LT T 1211 R 2,661
Fixed assels, TIBE . . o v v vt vt n o et e ia e e 164
Total assets acquired . . ... ... vu it 210,287
Liabilities:
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment eXpenses . . . ... oo vove i 139,212
Reinsurance payable . ... ... ..ot 1,204
Unearned Premiums ... ..o vt n e et 5,137
Senior debt facility ... ... . 8,000
Other acerued Babilities. . . oo oo e e e e it 8,497
Total liabilities asstimed. . . . oot oot et e e e 162,050
Net assets acqUIred . . ... oot it $ 48,237

Note 3. Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share are calculated using the weighted average number of common and Class B shares
outstanding and excludes any dilutive effects of warrants, options and convertible securities. As of December 31,
2007 and 2006, there were 333 thousand and 210 thousand restricted shares and no warrants, options or convertible
securities outstanding, respectively.

The following tables show the computation of the Company’s earnings per share:

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2007 2006 2005

(In thousands except per
share amounts}

Net income
(Numerator for Basic and Diluted earnings per share) ... ............... $20,142 $14256  § 7,275
Weighted-average basic shares outstanding

(Denominator for basic earnings per share) .. ............ ... ..o 16,289 16,247 10,428
Dilutive effect of unvested restricted shares. . .. ...... ... . o 18 — 3
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding

(Denominator for diluted earnings pershare). .. .............. .ot 16,307 16,247 10,431
Basic earnings per Share. . . ... ..ov it $ 124 $ 088 § 070
Diluted earnings per share . ....... ... oo $ 124 $ 088 § 070
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Diluted earnings per share are calculated assuming conversion of dilutive convertible securitics and the
exercise of all dilutive stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method. For the year ended December 31,
2006, 103 thousand shares were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effects
were anti-dilutive.

Note 4. Investments

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair value of the Company’s availabie-
for-sale investments are show in the tables below:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unvealized Unrealized

As of December 31, 2007 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

{Dollars in thousands)
U.S. Treasury SECUNIHES - . .. v oo vvt ot eeinnnrean s $ 19895 § 432 $ 12§ 20315
Government sponsored agency securities .. ............. 59,709 476 13 60,172
Obligations of states and political subdivisions . . ... ..., .. 106,187 1,093 30 107,250
Corporate and other obligations . ..................... 52,994 610 55 53,549
Mortgage-backed obligations .. ...................... 1,682 14 13 1,683
Total fixed-maturity securities, available-for-sale.......... 240,467 2,625 123 242,969
Equity securities ............ ... i 21,704 2,115 1,445 22,374
Total investment securities, available-for-sale .. .......... $262,171 $4,740 $1,568 $265,343

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

As of December 31, 2006 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

{Dollars in thousands)
U.S. Treasury secUrities . .. ... .....vuvirenrnrnnnn.. $ 44,932 $ 4 $ 4 $ 44,895
Government sponsored agency securities ... ............ 27,313 2 19 27,296
Obligations of states and political subdivisions . . ......... 79,660 — 135 79,525
Corporate and other obligations . . ... ................. 40,693 6 46 40,653
Mortgage-backed obligations . .............. ... .. .. 869 — 30 839
Total fixed-maturity securities, available-for-sale. . ... ... .. 193,467 12 271 193,208
Equity securities . ...........c. vt 11,904 478 293 12,089
Total investment securitics, available-forsale . .. ......... $205,371 $490 $564 $205,297
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value of fixed-maturity securities available-for-sale at December 31,
2007 by contractual maturity are set forth below. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because
certain borrowers have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

December 31, 2007

Amortized

Cost Fair Value

{Dollars in thousands)
DUE in ONE YEAr OTIESS . .. oo v i vt e e e o $ 69,814 % 69,920
Due after one year through five years . .. ... it 125,058 126,901
Due after five years through ten years ............ ... ..o iiiaiinarean. 34,423 34,906
Due after 1N YEAIS . .o .ot e et st e 9,490 9,559
238,785 241,286
Mortgage-backed SeCurities .. ...... ...l 1,682 1,683
Total fixed-maturity securities, available forsale. .. ............ ... v $240,467  $242,969

The following table sets forth the gross unrealized losses included in accumulated other comprehensive losses
as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 related to available-for-sale fixed-maturity and equity securities. The table
segregates investments that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for less than 12 months from those
that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for twelve months or longer.

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
December 31, 2007 Fair Value Loss Fair Value Laoss Fair Value Loss
(Dollars in thousands)

U.S. Treasury securities ......... $ 2,658 $ 11 $ — $ — $ 2,658 $ 12
Government sponsored agency

SECUMtes . .. .. ... uieeerenn 19,797 13 — — 19,797 13
Obligations of states and political

subdivisions . ............ ... 4,000 25 1,696 6 5,696 _ 30
Corporate and other obligations. . . . 3,906 52 2,262 3 6,168 55
Mortgage-backed .............. — — 710 13 710 13
Total fixed-maturity securities,

available forsale............. 30,361 101 4,668 22 35,029 123
Equity securities. . ... .......... 9,280 1,277 815 168 10,095 1,445
Total investment securities,

available-for-sale. ... ......... $39,641 $1,378 $5,483 $190 $45,124 $1,568
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Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More "Yotal
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
December 31, 2006 Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss
{Dollars in thousands)

U.S. Treasury securities . ........ $ 40,426 $ 41 $— t— § 40,426 $ 41
Government sponsored agency

SECUrties . .........ovvuun.. 22,299 19 — -—_ 22,299 19
Obligations of states and political

subdivisions . .. ............. 76,901 135 — — 76,901 135
Corporate and other obligations . . . 30,440 46 — — 30,440 46
Mortgage-backed . .. ........ ... 839 30 e = 839 30
Total fixed-maturity securities,

available forsale ............ 170,905 271 — — 170,905 271
Equity securities .............. 5,702 293 — — 5,702 293
Total investment securities, :

available-for-sale ............ $176,607 $564 $— $— $176,607 $564

There were 63 and 308 investments impaired at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The Company regularly evaluates its fixed income and equity securities to determine whether impairment
represents other-than-temporary declines in the fair value of the investments, Criteria considered during this process
include, but are not limited to, the current fair value as compared to the cost of the security, degree and duration of
the security’s fair value being below cost, credit quality, current economic conditions, and our decisions to hold or
divest a security. The Company considers price declines of securities in our other-than-temporary impairment
analysis where such price declines provide evidence of declining credit quality, and the Company distinguishes
between price changes caused by credit deterioration, as opposed to rising interest rates.

Factors that the Company considers in the evaluation of credit quality include:

* Credit ratings from major rating agencies, including Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s (S&P),

* Business and operating performance trends,

* Management quality/turnover,

* Industry competitive analysis, and

» Changes in business model/strategy.

Part of our evaluation of whether particular securities are other-than-temporarily impaired involves assessing
whether we have both the intent and ability to continue to hold securities in an varealized loss position until
recovery. Significant changes in these factors could result in a charge to net earnings for impairment losses.
Impairment losses result in a reduction of the underlying investment’s cost basis.

The Company determined that the decline in fair value for all of these securities was temporary based on the
Company’s analysis of the securities, considering timing, liquidity, financial condition of the issuers, actual credit
losses to date, severity of the impairment and the Company’s ability and intent to hold the securities until they

mature.
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The sources of investment income were as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)

Interest income cn cash and cash équivalents ........................... $ 185 $1,084 §$122
Interest income on fixed-maturity SECUrities .. ... ... .o i 10,982 3,360 62
Interest income on other INVESBTIBNLS . . . .ot v. et iirnianranen 94 i2 —_
DIVIdENAS . & o vt ot e e 343 25 —
Realized gains on iNVESHNENS . . oo« .0 v v e cnae i ea e 1,875 84 26
Realized 105565 ON INVESHMENLS . . . v vt e v v v aa s v moiea e st (1,119 {98) —_
Investment income before investment Xpenses. ... ... vv v 12,360 4,467 210
INVESHMENT EXPEISES . - ¢ v\ v va s e e v e s e s s e ras e a et (979) (190)  (228)
Total INVESIMENT INCOME . . o o\ v e et e et v me e aancai e sanse i an et S11,381  $4.277 § (18)

Investments with a fair value of $137.4 million and $116.3 million, at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, were on deposit with various regulatory agencies as required by law. At December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, investments with a fair value of $4.0 million and $19.7 million have been pledged as security under
certain credit facilities as more fully described in Note 9 and Note 10,

Note 5. Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Changes in deferred policy acquisition costs are as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousandsj

Balance at beginning of period . . ... . :. .o oo % 1,143 % 442 $1.414
Policy acquisition costs deferred:

COMIMISSIONS & o v v e e v e e v e te s sa st an et e st om s . 8,725 7,329 1,450

Premitm CAXES « o o v o vt e e ee e s e aa e m e et 4,346 185 —

(07317 U U USSP 3,534 1,436 51

' 16,605 8,950 1,501

Amortization of policy acquisition costs . . ... ... ..o (17,125  (3,249) (2.473)
Netchange ... ..ovvvrinn i it (520) 701 (972)
Balance atend of period. . .. ... .. . iiii $ 623 $1,143 § 442

Note 6. Guodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In 2007, the Company recorded goodwill of $88 thousand and other intangible assets of $162 thousand related
to the acquisition of Medical Expense Management. In 2006, the acquisition of Embarcadero resulted in the
establishment of goodwill of $2.7 million.
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Changes in goodwill are as follows:

Fee-Based
Management Primary
Services Insurance
Year Ended December 31, 2007 Segment Segment Total
{Dollars in thousands)
Balance at beginning of period .. .. ... ... ... .. o L. $— $2,695  $2,695
ACQUISILONS ... . i i e e e 38 — 38
OHNET . o e e e e e e e _— (34) (34)
Balance atend of period . . . .. .. ... ... .. ... . $88 $2,661 $2,749

The Company evaluated its final allocation of the purchase price of Embarcadero and has adjusted its goodwill
carrying value by $34 thousand as of December 31, 2007.

The Company performed its annual impatrment testing of goodwill required under FAS 142 as of October 31,
2007 and determined that goodwill recorded in the primary insurance segment was not impaired. Goodwill and
other intangible assets related to the Medical Expense Management acquisition will be tested for impairment in the
fourth quarter of 2008.

Other intangible assets are classified into two categories:

“Information Technology” represents the prepaid costs for the outsourcing of entity wide information
technology function effective 2007;

“Restrictive Covenant” is a covenant not to compete for one Medical Expense Management executive.

The following table shows other intangible assets that continue to be subject to amortization and aggregate
amortization expense as of December 31, 2007:

Information Restrictive

As of December 31, 2007 Technology Covenants Total
(Dollars in thousands)
Gross CAITying amoOUNt. . .. .. ..ottt ittt $645 $162 $807
Accumulated amortization . . ... ... . ... ... e (22) (13) (35)
Net Carmying amounRt . ...ttt et et $623 - $149 $772

The cost of other intangible assets is being amortized over a range of 3 to 5 years, with a weighted average
original life of 2,7 years. Amortization expense for the year ended December 31, for 2007 was $35 thousand. There
was no amortization expense for the years ended 2006 and 2005 as there were no other intangible assets.
Amortization expense for intangible assets is estimated to be $183 thousand in 2008 and 2009, $169 thousand in
2010, $129 thousand in 2011 and $108 thousand in 2012.
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Note 7. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost Jess accumulated depreciation and amortization. Fixed assets are included in
other assets and are summarized as follows:

As of December 31, 2007 2006
(Doftars in thousands)
Furniture, fixtures and computer qUIPmMENL . . . ... ..ottt 51,028 $1,351
COmPUEEr SOFtWAIE . . . . ..ottt e et 1,987 703
ALIOIMODELES &« ot e o e et e e e e 38 101
Leasehold IMPIOVEMENS . . . . .ot v v vt tm e e e 1,966 332
5,019 2,487
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization. ... ... . i (959) (913)

$4,060 §1,574

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $859 thousand
and $280 thousand, respectively, of which $352 thousand and $60 thousand was attributable to amortization of
capitalized software. Unamortized computer software was $1.6 million and $679 thousand at December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $226. There was no
amortization of capitalized software in 2005.

Note 8. Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Activity in the reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses is as follows:

As of December 31, 2007 2006 2605
{Dollars in thousands)
Gross liability beginning of period .. ... ... ... ool $153,622 $ 6280 $2,696
Less reinsurance recoverable. . . . . ..o i i s (28,913) — —
Net liability at beginning of period . . . ....... ... 124,709 6,280 2,696
Acquisition of Embarcadero . . ........ .. i - 112,666 —
Incurred losses and LAE relating to:
CUITENE VAT - - o« o v e et it s ia e e ee s 71,363 14,012 3,584
PLIOT YEATS © o o v v v et eaa s im e a e (7,702) (3,522) —
Total incurred losses and LAE. . . ... ... i i 63,661 10,490 3,584
Paid losses and LAE relating to:
CUITENE VAT .« . oo ii vt e e m e e a e e a e (11,036) (2,129) —
PLIOT YEAIS .\ - e oot e e e iiiiae e (23,974) (2,598) —
Total paid lossesand LAE. . .. ....... ... (35,010) (4,727) —
Net liability atend of period. .. ....... ... 153,360 124,709 6,280
Plus reinsurance recoverable . . . ... ... o e 35,488 28,913 —
Gross liability at end of period . . ... $188,848 $153,622 $6,280
Majestic

Management analyzes Majestic’s ¢laims data vsing actuarially acceptable methods of calculating future
liabilities based upon historical results. These methods look at historical paid losses at various points in time, claim
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counts and average costs of incurred losses, counts and average values of unpaid losses, as well as variations of such
techniques. Estimates of ultimate claims liability for each accident year are derived using such techniques. These
estimates are reviewed regularly and are adjusted as experience develops or new information becomes known. Any
such adjustments are included in incotne in the period in which they become known.

In addition, for the most current accident year, Majestic uses a loss ratio method that starts with a projected loss
ratio for each line of business, estimated from the prior accident year, adjusted for projected wage inflation, loss cost
inflation, and pricing adjustments. This adjusted loss ratio is applied to the earned premium for the current accident
vear to derive the ultimate estimated claims liability for the current accident year which becomes one of the
components of the overall estimated claims liability. These estimates are reviewed quarterly and are adjusted
throughout the current year whenever there is enough overall evidence that one or more of the assumptions used
have changed such as to matenally impact the total estimated ultimate liability for claims reported on the
Company’s balance sheet. Additional factors that influence incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses for a given
period include the number of exposures covered in the current year, trends in the frequency and severity of claims,
or changes in the cost of adjusting claims.

Annwally, Majestic’s actuary conducts a complete analysis of the claims data and provides a report indicating
whether the estimate of the reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses as reported on the balance sheet is a
reasonable estimate of Majestic’s ultimate lability, For Majestic’s primary policies, the actuarial techniques
employed by the independent actuary recognize, among other factors, Majestic’s claims experience, the industry’s
claims experience, historical trends in reserving patterns and loss payments, the impact of claim inflation, the
pending level of unpaid claims, legislative reforms affecting workers’ compensation, and the environment in which
insurance companies operate. For a description of the actuarial techniques related to Majestic’s excess of loss
policies, see the discussion that follows in Twin Bridges.

Twin Bridges
Unlike Majestic, Twin Bridges has a short operating history and has only been in existence since December
2003. Since Twin Bridges began operations, only twelve claims have been reported and there have been no paid
losses. This short operating history provides Twin Bridges with limited loss experience and a relatively small
population of underlying risks as compared to other insurers and reinsurers. Accordingly, Twin Bridges’ loss
reserve estimates are more susceptible to an increased likelihood that actual results may not conform to estimates.

Annually, Twin Bridges’ actuary performs a ground-up analysis of the premiums and losses of the self-insored
groups that are managed by CRM and CRM CA and insured by Majestic in excess of their self-insured retention. As
discussed in Note 9, Twin Bridges has assumed from Majestic, through quota share agreements, those excess
premiums and losses. The actuary’s expected ultimate impact of these per-occurrence excess of loss contracts is
based upon actual experience of the underlying self insured group and industry excess of loss factors. Actual large
losses and industry excess of loss factors were used to calculate the portion of ceded losses expected to be assumed
by Twin Bridges. In each case, gross losses were developed to ultimate and the portion of losses exceeding each
group’s self-insured retention was calculated.

The actuarial estimate of the losses and loss adjusiment expenses of the non-affiliated self-insured premiums
and losses ceded from Majestic to Twin Bridges are based on the net and direct analyses of Majestic’s business as
discussed above.

For all other risks assumed by Twin Bridges, the actuary’s evaluation was based on the Bornheutter-Ferguson
method, which estimates ultimate losses based on premiums, expected loss ratios, losses incurred to date, and the
assumed percentage of losses incurred as of the current valuation date.

Management has decided to establish Twin Bridges’ reserve for losses and loss adjustment expense at a point
within the range of reasonable outcomes, but above the range midpoint, This moderately conservative level reflects
the uncertainty surrounding long-tail business, the lack of significant case experience, and the potential for future
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development. These estimates are reviewed regularly and are adjusted as experience develops or new information
becomes known. Any such adjustments are included in income in the period in which they become known.

The methods for making such estimates and for establishing the resulting reserves of both Majestic and Twin
Bridges are continually reviewed and updated, and any adjustments resulting are reflected in current operations.

As a result of changes in estimates of insured events in the prior years, the reserve for losses and loss
adjustment expenses decreased by $7.7 million in 2007, of which $5.0 miilion is attributable to the primary
insurance segment and $2.7 million is attributable to the reinsurance segment.

Majestic has experienced favorable loss development as a result of favorable loss cost trends in the California
market. The favorable development in 2007 was predominantly from accident year 2006, where reported indemnity
claims and average cost per claim developed better than expected. This favorable development also resulted in an
estimated return of premiums on retrospectively rated policies in the amount of $2.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007. Finally, the favorable development was somewhat offset by $1.5 million of amortization of the
difference between the fair value of losses and loss adjustments at December 31, 2007 versus their stated value on
the date of acquisition of Majestic.

Since Twin Bridges has limited historical experience, prior year losses were estimated based on industry data
and resulted in reinsurance loss ratios ranging from 32% to 66%. Management has reevaluated the loss ratio and
based on the methodology discussed above, recognized favorable development in 2007. This favorable develop-
ment arose primarily from accident years 2005 and 2006 where actual results have been better than industry excess
loss factors initially projected.

Note 9. Insurance Activity

The Company’s financial statements reflect the effects of direct insurance and assumed and ceded reinsurance
activity. The activities of Majestic are included in the Primary Insurance segment, and the activities of Twin Bridges
are included in the Reinsurance segment. All inter-company transactions are eliminated upon consolidatton.
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A summary of direct insurance and ceded and assumed reinsurance transactions in the affected segment is as
follows:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2007

Primary Reinsurance
Segment Segment Eliminations  Consolidated

{Dollars in thousands)
Written premiums

DireCt. . . e e $165,662 $ 382 $ — $166,044

Assumed. . ... ... ... 240 25,111 (25,111) 240

Ceded. ... (72,389 {100) 25,111 (47,378)
Net written premiums . . .. ......... ... v, $ 93,513 $25,393 3 — $118,906
Earned premiums

| (=1 S $167,675 $ 250 $ — $167,925

ASSUMEd . .+ v o e 240 25,111 (25,111) 240

Ceded.............. ity (76,354) (79) 25,111 (51,322)
Net earned premiums ... ...... ... ovreennvnin... $ 91,561 $25,282 $ — $116,343
Losses and loss adjustment expenses

Direct. ... ... . i § 87,231 $ 273 $ — $ 87,504

Assumed. ... .. ... ... 48 6,509 (6,991) (434)

Ceded. ... ... i {29,901) (86) 6,578 (23,409)
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses . ........... $ 57,378 $ 6,696 $ @13 $ 63,661

For the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Primary Reinsurance
Segment Segment Eliminations Consolidated

(Dollars in thousands)

Written premiums

DHreCt . .o s $ 7,902 $ — $ 7,902

Assamed . . ... ... L 115 24,998 25,113

Ceded . ... ... .. i e (758) — . (758)
Net written premiums . ... ... ... ih et $ 7,259 $24,998 $— $32,257
Earned premiums

DIFECE . vttt e $8,373 $ — 3 8373

ASSUMEd .« . . i e e e 116 122,966 23,082

Ceded . .. ... ot e e (753) — . (753)
Net earned premiums . ...............vvirunan. $ 7,736 $22,966 $_: $30,702
Losses and loss adjustment expenses

|1+ P $8,164 $ — $ 8,164

Assumed . ... ... .. e 62 5,462 5,524

Ceded . ...... ..o e e (3,198) — ___ 3,198)
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses. . ... ......... $5028 § 5462 $— $10,490
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For The Year Ended December 31, 2005

Primary  Reinsurance
Sepment Segment Eliminations  Consolidated

{Dollars in thousands)

Written premiums
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DHIECE . ot ottt et et e e e
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$3,584 $3,584

Th 7
|

I

Majestic

Majestic’s direct earned premiums consist of the expired portion of annual premiums accepted for primary
policies issued to individual insured businesses and excess policies issued to self-insured groups or self-insured
individual enterprises. Excluding the effects of the novation as discussed below, primary insurance policies
comprise over 90% of direct premium and are issued through independent brokers to selected businesses. Coverage
under these policies attaches typically at the first dollar of loss or in excess of policy deductibles. Excess insurance
policies are issued through independent and related party brokers to self-insured groups or individually seif-insured
entities. Coverage under these policies attaches in excess of the group’s or individual’s self-insured retention, which
range from $500 thousand to $1 million.

In 2007, the Company completed an assignment, assumption and novation agreement (“Novation”) with NY
Marine & General. Under the terms of the Novation, Majestic was substituted as the insurance company for almost
all of the excess policies previously issued by NY Marine & General to certain of the self-insured groups managed
by CRM and CRM CA. NY Marine & General transferred and assigned to Majestic all of its respective rights, duties
and obligations under the excess workers’ compensation policies issued to certain self-insured groups during the
policy years 2003 through 2006. In connection with this, NY Marine & General also transferred and assigned its
rights, duties and obligations to Majestic under two quota share reinsurance treaties between NY Marine & General
and Twin Bridges. The Company has also guaranteed the performance of its subsidiaries in connection with this
transaction. For the layers of coverage outside the Twin Bridges reinsurance agreements, NY Marine & General
obtained consent agreements from each of its other reinsurers naming Majestic as an insured party on the
reinsurance agreements.
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The effect of the Novation on the results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 was as follows:

For The Year Ended December 31, 2007
{Dollars in thousands)

NEt PIEMILIS WL . . o . o ottt ettt it i e ta e tansaans tr i cane e $10,690

Net premiums earned | ... ... ...ttt e e e 10,690

Losses and loss adjustment expenses. ... .......... e e e e 7,050

Premilm taKeS . .. ottt et e et et e e e e 118

Income before taX, . .. . ot e e $ 3,522

Majestic recorded $1.4 million of favorable development on novated policies for the year ended December 31,
2007.

Majestic purchases reinsurance to reduce its maximum potential loss on individual risks and to protect against
possible catastrophes. Reinsurance does not legally discharge the ceding insurer from primary lability for the full
amount due under the reinsured policies. However, the assuming retnsurer is fully obligated to indemnify the ceding
company to the extent of the coverage ceded.

Majestic participated in an excess of loss coverage treaty, under which the reinsurers reimburse Majestic for
losses and loss adjustment expenses over $600 thousand up to $50 million on a per occurrence basis. Majestic is
liable for losses and loss adjustment expenses that exceed $50 million up to statutory limits. These excess of loss
agreements expired on July 31, 2007.

Effective August 1, 2007, Majestic entered into a new excess of loss coverage treaty under which the reinsurers
reimburse Majestic for losses and loss adjustment expense in excess of $500 thousand up to $100 million on a per
occurrence basis. Majestic is liable for losses and loss adjustment expenses that exceed $100 million up to statutory
limits. As of December 31, 2007, 22 reinsurers, including Twin Bridges, participate in the excess of loss treaty. The
excess of loss agreement was amended effective October 1, 2007, to increase the amount of coverage provided by
Twin Bridges for primary workers’ compensation insurance issued by Majestic in the states of New York and
Florida for losses and toss adjustment expenses in excess of $500 thousand up to $2 million. These agreements
expire on June 30, 2008. Please sce Note 9 — Twin Bridges for a description of Twin Bridges participation in
Majestic’s excess of loss treaty.

Effective January t, 2007, Majestic entered into a 90% Quota Share Agreement with Twin Bridges with
respect to all new and renewal excess workers’ compensation coverage issued to the self-insured groups managed
by CRM and CRM CA. Terms of this agreement are described in Fiwin Bridges discussion below.

Total amounts recoverable by Majestic from third party reinsurers were $38.6 million and $30.7 million as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, which included $875 thousand and $1.4 million, respectively, relating to
losses paid by Majestic and billed to reinsurers.
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As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the third party reinsurers representing the largest balances of the
aforementioned reinsurance recoverable were as follows:

As of December 31, 2007

Total Gross

Unpaid Paid Reinsurance

Losses Losses Recoverable

(Dollars in thousands)
Hannover RK-NS . o e e e e e e e e $12,518 $ 75 $12,593
Hannover Re-Bermuda . . .. .. ..o ir it i i i e 6,614 171 6,785
National Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh Pa. ............... ... .. .. 4,251 44 4,295
Dorinco Reinsurance COMPANY . . - . . ottt it e e an s 3,277 72 3,349
The St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Co. . ... ... .. oot nn. 1,980 87 2,067
(81117 - UGG 9,069 426 9,495
$37,709  $875 $38,584
As of December 31, 2006

Total Gross

Unpaid Paid Reinsurance

Losses Losses Recoverable

(Dollars in thousands)

Hannover REK-NS L oo e e e i e et e et $21,182 § 990 $22.172
Dorinco Reinsurance €o. . . oo ittt e e e e 2,407 26 2,433
The St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Co. .. ... ..o ittt 1,524 35 1,559
Lloyd’s Underwriters . . ... .. ..ottt 1,136 67 1,203
Lioyds of London—DPMannbtd. .. .. ... ..o 1,000 22 1,022
1 17> - 2,084 276 2,360
$29.333  §$1.416 $30,749

Included in reinsurance recoverable as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are prepaid reinsurance premiums as
follows:

As of December 31, 2007
{Dollars in thousands)

Hannover RK-NS L. o i e ittt et e i e e $ 353
Lloyd’s Underwriters. . . . ... .. iuint it e 181
Lloyd’s — Syndicate #2003 Through Catlin. . .. . ... ... ... o 155
Max ReLtd —Bermuda . . .. ... ..t e 153
Tokio Millennium (Bermuda) . . ....... .. e 55
L0117 - 1,324

$2,221

As of December 31, 2006
(Dollars in thousands)

Hannover RK-NS

Aspen Insurance — UK

Dorinco Reinsurance Co. ... v oot e e e
Lloyd’s — Liberty Syndicate UK. .. ... ... ... o oo,
Lloyd's — Wellington UW . ... ... ... . e
1071 1 7= <R P
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At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company held collateral under related reinsurance agreements in the
form of letters of credit totaling $21.3 million that may be drawn against any amounts remaining unpaid for more
than 120 days. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, no amounts were drawn under the letters of credit.

Twin Bridges

Twin Bridges reinsures a portion of the excess coverage obtained by the self-insured groups managed by CRM
and CRM CA (the “Groups”). Under the reinsurance treaty that expired on November 30, 20035, Twin Bridges
reinsured 50% of the risks NY Marine & General underwrote and received 50% of the premiums paid to NY
Marine & General by these Groups. Twin Bridges allowed a ceding commission of 28% of assumed premium to
cover acquisition, general and administrative expenses, a further 2% for stop-loss coverage and 1% to cover the
U.S. federal excise tax, or a total of 31% of assumed premiums. The stop loss coverage limits the Company's losses
to 181.16% of assumed premiums, net of the ceding commissions, the cost of the stop-loss coverage and the
U.S. federal excise tax. NY Marine & General in turn paid a 20% commission to CRM for the excess workers
compensation coverage placed with NY Marine & General by CRM or CRM CA, as described in Note 1.

Pursuant to the 70% Quota Share Agreement that expired on December 31, 2006, NY Marine & General
offered full statutory excess coverage for losses and loss adjustment expenses in excess of $500 thousand per
occurrence for most of the Groups. Under this agreement, Twin Bridges reinsured 70% of the excess coverage in
exchange for 70% of the premiums paid by the Groups. Twin Bridges allowed NY Marine & General ceding
commissions of 23.5% of the assumed premiums to cover its acquisition, general and administrative expenses and
an additional 3.45% to cover taxes, board fees and other such costs. NY Marine & General in turn paid a
commission of 15% of gross premiums to CRM and CRM CA as described in Note 1. NY Marine & General found
reinsurance from other insurers to cover 100% of losses and loss adjustment expenses in excess of $5 million per
occurrence up to $50 million per occurrence, as well as reinsurance of losses and loss adjustment expenses in excess
of $3 million per occurrence up to a per occurrence limit of $5 million, subject to an annual aggregate deductible of
$3 million. NY Marine & General and Twin Bridges shared proportionately the layer in excess of $50 miltion up to
statutory limits. The excess reinsurance secured by NY Marine & General inures to the benefit of Twin Bridges
proportionately to its 70% quota share participation. For this Twin Bridges ceded a premium of approximately 11%
of the gross premiums it assumed from NY Marine & General, ‘

The 70% Quota Share Agreement also provided for aggregate coverage of $2 million, with attachment points
at various levels determined by the groups’ funded premiums. The agreement also provided for Twin Bridges to
assume 100% (rather than 70%) of direct losses if the net loss ratio after reinsurance recoveries exceeded 70%. The
higher participation rate will continue until the net loss ratio after reinsurance recoveries equals 90%, when Twin
Bridges’ participation will revert to 70%.

Effective January 1, 2007, Majestic provides excess coverage to the Groups and unaffiliated self-insured third
parties, Pursuant to a quota share treaty, Twin Bridges reinsures 90% of the coverage which Majestic provides to
self-insured parties, net of liability ceded to unaffiliated reinsurers, and receives 90% of the premiums paid to
Majestic, net of premiums paid to unaffiliated reinsurers. Twin Bridges’ liabilities under the quota share reinsurance
agreement, however, are capped at specific levels. First, for excess coverage, Twin Bridges reinsures 90% of the
losses and loss adjustment expenses in excess of the self-insured retention (currently $500 thousand) up to a per

“occurrence limit of $2 million. Second, for the aggregate coverage, Twin Bridges reinsures 90% of Majestic’s policy
coverage up to $2 million per policy. Third, for employers’ liability coverage, Twin Bridges reinsures 90% of
Majestic’s policy coverage up to a per occurrence limit of $2 million. Twin Bridges allows Majestic a ceding
commissions of 15% on all ceded premiums to cover Majestic's costs associated with the policies, including
dividends, commissions, taxes, assessments and all other expenses, except for loss adjustment expenses. Majestic in
turn pays a commission of 10% of gross premiums to CRM and CRM CA as described in Note 1.

Twin Bridges is required to provide Majestic with security for all reinsurance agreements for excess policies,
including those obligations novated from NY Marine & General to Majestic as described above. By agreement
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among Majestic, Twin Bridges and the California Department of Insurance, this security consists of cash withheld
by Majestic. For the excess policies not novated from NY Marine & General to Majestic, Twin Bridges is required to
provide certain collateral to secure its obligations to NY Marine & General. Majestic is holding $17.5 million of
cash as collateral for the reinsurance agreements for excess policies described above. In addition, letters of credit
totaling $4.0 million and $31.7 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, were issued under letter of
credit facilities to secure reserves assumed from NY Marine & General under the 50% and 70% Quota Share
Agreements. Of these letters of credit, $4.0 million and $25.4 million were secured by a combination of investments
and cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, pursuant to the Secured Letter of
Credit Facility. The balance of the letters of credit outstanding on those dates was issued pursuant to an unsecured
letter of credit facility.

In addition to participating in the 90% Quota Share Agreement, Twin Bridges writes direct excess policies to
individual self-insured groups and effective August 1, 2007 has a 50% participation in a layer of Majestic’s excess
of loss treaty for the loss and loss adjustment expenses in excess of $500 thousand per occurrence up to $750
thousand, but shall exceed 250% of earned premium, exclusive of primary business written in New York and
Florida. Effective October 1, 2007, Twin Bridges has 100% participation in a layer of Majestic’s excess of loss
agreement for the loss and loss adjustment expenses in excess of $500 thousand per occurrence up to $2.0 million
for primary business written exclusively in New York and Florida.

Twin Bridges purchases reinsurance to reduce its maximum potentiai loss on individual risks and to protect
against possible catastrophes. Reinsurance does not legally discharge the ceding insurer from primary liability for
the full amount due under the reinsured policies. However, the assuming reinsurer is fully obligated to indemnify
the ceding company to the extent of the coverage ceded.

Note 10. Credit Facilities

On June 12, 2007, CRM amended its existing credit facility (the “Amended Revolving Credit Facility”) with
KeyBank National Association (“KeyBank™), The Amended Revolving Credit Facility increases CRM’s borrowing
limit from $5.0 million to $7.0 million, imposes a $2.0 million sub-limit for letters of credit and establishes a draw
fee of 1.5% of the principal amount per year for each letter of credit drawn. The interest rate on the Amended
Revolving Credit Facility is KeyBank’s prime rate. The amendment also extends the maturity date of the facility to
June 30, 2008, All of CRM’s obligations under the facility are secured by a lien on substantially all of CRM's assets
and are guaranteed by CRM CA, Eimar and Agency Captive, as further described in Note 17. As of December 31,
2007, CRM has a $1.7 million letter of credit outstanding under its Amended Revolving Credit Facility, with respect
to lease obligations for our San Francisco premises. During 2007, CRM borrowed up to $800 thousand against this
facility at a weighted average interest-rate of 8.25%. There were no borrowings against this facility at December 31,
2007 or during 2006.

Under Twin Bridges’ reinsurance contracts, Twin Bridges is required to provide security for any unpaid
liabilities under the contract. Twin Bridges amended its existing letter of credit loan facility (the “Amended
Unsecured Letter of Credit Facility”) with KeyBank on June 12, 2007. Under the Amended Unsecured Letter of
Credit Facility, Twin Bridges is entitled to draw unsecured letters of credit of up to $7.0 million. Twin Bridges pays a
fee of 1.5% of the principal amount of each letter of credit issued. The Amended Unsecured Letter of Credit Facility
has an expiration date of June 30, 2008 and replaces the $7.0 million credit facility that expired June 30, 2007.
Borrowings under the Amended Unsecured Letter of Credit Facility have been guaranteed by CRM, CRM CA,
Eimar and Agency Captive.

Twin Bridges also has an informal arrangement with KeyBank to obtain secured letters of credit. Under this
arrangement, Twin Bridges is able to draw secured letters of credit in amount equal to the funds posted by Twin
Bridges and pays a fee of 0.35% of the principal amount of each letter of credit issued. In addition to KeyBank, Twin
Bridges has a similar informal secured letter of credit arrangement with Smith Barney Citigroup pursuant to which
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Twin Bridges may obtain collateralized letters of credit. See Note 9 for balances of letters of credit issued pursuant
to Twin Bridges credit facilities.

Note 11. Long-Term Debt and Other Secured Borrowings

In connection with the financing of the acquisition of Embarcadero on November 14, 2006, which is more fully
described in Note 2, CRM USA Holdings issued $36.1 million of junior subordinated debt obligations (“Junior
Debt”) in exchange for $35.0 million in aggregate proceeds from the sale of CRM USA Holdings Trust I (“Trust™)
capital securities and $1.1 million of Trust common securities. The Junior Debt matures December 15, 2036 at
which time the entire principal is due and bears interest at a fixed rate of 8.65% until December 15, 2011. After such
date, the interest rate will adjust quarterly at a fixed spread of 3.65% above 3-month London Interbank Offer Rate
(“LIBOR™) per annum. The capital and common securities of the Trust, totaling $36.1 million, representing
undivided beneficial ownership interests in the assets of the Trust, have no stated maturity and must be redeemed
upon maturity of the corresponding series of Juntor Debt securities — the sole assets of the Trust. The Trust will
make quarterly distributtons on the capital and common securities at a fixed annual rate of 8.65% until December 15,
2011 and after such date at a fixed spread of 3.65% above 3-month LIBOR per annum,

The common securities are held by CRM USA Holdings and represent 100% of the issued and outstanding
common securities of the Trust. They are reflected as investment in unconsolidated subsidiary in the Company's
consolidated balance sheet. The Trust is a VIE in accordance with FIN 46 and FIN 46(R). CRM USA Holdings does
not consolidate its interest in CRM USA Holdings Trust I as it is not the primary beneficiary of the Trust.

The Company and CRM USA Holdings have guaranteed the repayment of the capital securities. In addition,
the payments of all amounts due on the Junior Debt are guaranteed by the Company. These guarantees will remain
in place until the full redemption of the capital securities and Junior Debt,

In connection with the offering, CRM USA Holdings incurred approximately $1.2 million of issuance costs
which have been capitalized and included in other assets. These costs are being amortized using the straight-line
method over the respective term of the related Junior Debt.

Embarcadero holds an $8.0 million floating rate senior debt obligation (“Senior Debt”). The Senior Debt
matures May 23, 2033 at which time the entire principal is due and bears interest at a floating rate of 4.2% over
3-month LIBOR per annum. The interest rate may not exceed 12.5% commencing on May 22, 2008 through the
maturity of the Senior Debt. Interest is payable on a quarterly basis and the Senior Debt may be called solely at
Embarcadero’s option beginning May 23, 2008.

The Company also had other secured borrowings consisting of a capital lease for equipment with a maturity
date in 2008.

As of December 31, the Company’s long term debt and other secured borrowings are as follows:

December 31,
Weighted
Average
Interest
Rate Maturity 2007 2006
(Dollars in thousands)
Junior subordinated debt obligation . ......... .. ... ... ... 8.65% 2036 $36,083  $36,083
Senior debt obligation . . ...... .. ... ... . . oo, 9.72% 2033 8,000 8,000
Capital lease obligations . ............. ... ... ... ........ _— — 1 32
L $44,084 344,115
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Note 12, Income Taxes

The Company is subject to the provisions of FIN No. 48 as of January 1, 2007, and has analyzed filing positions
in the federal and state jurisdictions where it is required to file tax returns, as well as the open tax years in these
jurisdictions. The Company believes that its income tax filing positions and deductions will be sustained on audit
and does not anticipate any adjustments that will result in a material change to its financial position. Therefore, no
reserves for uncertain income tax positions have been recorded pursuant to FIN No. 48. In addition, the Company
did not record a cumulative effect adjustment related to the adoption of FIN No. 48.

In accordance with accounting policy, the Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized
tax benefits as a component of the provision for income taxes. The Company did not incur any income tax related
interest income, interest expense or penalties for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

CRM USA Holdings and its subsidiaries file federal income tax returns and income tax returns in various state
jurisdictions. Tax years 2003 through 2006, and 2002 through 2006 are subject to examination by federal and state
tax authorities, respectively. There are no income tax examinations currently in process.

The significant components of the conselidated provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
(Doliars in thousands)
Current iNCOME 1aX PIOVISION . ... v vt ittt i et i it a i an s $3,83 $1907 $68
Deferred tax benefit . .. .. ... .. i e e e e (2,251 (33) (B}
Total income tax PrOVISION . . ... ..o it i e $1612 $1.576 $63

The income tax provision differs from the amount computed by applying the U.S. Federal income tax rate of
35% to income before taxes as a result of the following:

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)

Theoretical Federal income tax at statutory rate of 35% .. ............... $7614 $5541 §$2568
Tax-free Bermuda-domiciled income . ....... ... ... .0t (4,946)  (3.663) (622)
Income attributable to pre-restructuring LLCs taxed in the hands of its

members prior tothe IPOdate ............ ... ... ... i (324) 347y (1,887
Tax-exempt investment income. . . ............ i (951) {78) —
11T 219 123 4
INCOME LaX DrOVISION . . . o\ vttt e e i e e oo n e a i am e eanns $i612 $1576 $ 63
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Deferred income taxes represent the tax effect of the differences between the book and tax basis of assets and
liabilities. Net deferred income tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

As of December 31, T 2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)

Deferred income tax assets:

Fixed asse1s . . . .. . i e $ 13 $ 14 $—
Employee share-based compensation. .. .............................. 369 184 5
Reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses . . ..... ..., vvruernn... 6,818 6,298 —
Unearned premilms . ..o .v ot e s 3,136 600 —
L1011 7 289 338 —
Gross deferred income tax assets. .. ... ... .. .. . o 10,625 7434 5
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Net unrealized investment gains .. . ........ ... ... .t 1,072 138 —
Deferred policy acquisition costs. .. ... ... ... .. . . ity 2,210 540 —
Other . . £130) 4n —
Gross deferred income tax liabilities . ... ............... ... . ...c.c.... 3,152 631 —
Net deferred tax assets. . .......... ... .. ... ... ................... $7473 $6803 $5

Management believes that its net deferred tax assets will be fully recognized in future periods and, therefore,
has not established a valuation allowance with respect to such assets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Note 13. Shareholders’ and Members’ Equity

For periods subsequent to the restructuring and IPQO, holders of common shares are entitled to one vote per
share, subject to a mechanism in the Company’s bye-laws whereby the maximum voting rights of any one
shareholder or group of shareholders is limited to 9.9%. Application of this mechanism is subject to the discretion of
the board of directors.

Holders of Class B shares have the same rights and privileges as holders of common shares, except they have
no general right to vote. The Class B shares are exchangeable into common shares at any time, provided that certain
voting percentage limits are not breached or adverse tax consequences to the Company do not result.

CRM Holdings was incorporated in Bermuda on September 7, 2005, and issued 1.2 million common shares for
$12 thousand to Reid Finance Limited, an affiliate of Appleby Spurling Hunter. All the shares held by Reid Finance
Limited were purchased by CRM Holdings in connection with the restructuring of the Company for $12 thousand.
These 1.2 million shares were retired, and are no longer outstanding.

Effective December 27, 2005, immediately prior to the closing of the 1PO, the former owners of the Pre-
restructuring LLCs and Twin Bridges contributed all of their interests in these entities to the Company in a series of
transactions. The former shareholders of Twin Bridges and members of the Pre-restructuring LLCs ultimately
received a total of 9.5 million common shares and 0.8 million Class B shares in exchange for, and in the same
proportion as, their ownership interests in the Pre-restructuring LLCs and Twin Bridges. Total shares issued and
outstanding as a result of the IPO and the restructuring were 15.5 million common shares and 0.8 million Class B
shares.

During the first quarter of 2007, 395 thousand Class B shares were converted into common shares in
connection with the registration and sale of Martin D. Rakoff’s shares as described in below in Note 14.
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Note 14. Commitments

The Company leases office space and office equipment under various operating lease agreements. Some of
these leases contain rent adjustment provisions to compensate the lessor for increases in operating costs. Leasehold
improvements related to these operating leases are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the
noncancellable lease term. Total minimum future lease payments under these leases are as follows:

MMEI‘_:"_, (Dollars in thousands)
2008 .. e e et e e e s $ 3,531
70 . 3,195
. 1 1 1 3,104
.11 1 1 O 2,304
2.1 3 2 P 2,336
B 17312 2=, o 18,868
4 1 7 1 $33,338

Rent expense under these operating leases was approximately $1.8 million, $625 thousand and $471 thousand
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In December 2007, the Company commenced occupancy under an operating lease agreement for new office
facilities in Poughkeepsie, New York. The term of the lease is fifteen years with options to renew for two additional
five year terms. The lease also provides for two options to purchase the building. The first option was exercisable
120 days prior to the anticipated occupancy. The Company elected to not exercise this option, but has an additional
option to purchase the building during the first two years of the lease for the fair market value of the property, which
will not be less than $3.5 million plus the costs incurred by the landlord in developing and constructing the building.

In November 2007, the Company commenced occupancy under an operating lease agreement for new office
facilities in San Francisco, California. The term of the lease is ten years with an option to renew for an additional
five years.

Majestic purchased annuities from life insurers under which the claimants are payees. These annuities have
been used to reduce unpaid losses by $5.8 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. Majestic has a contingent
liability of $17.8 million should the issuers of these annuities fail to perform under the terms of the annuities.

In December, 2006, Martin D. Rakoff, the Company’s Co-Chief Executive Officer and Deputy Chairman of
the Board, resigned as a director and officer. The Company entered into a separation agreement with Mr. Rakoff
under which the Company:

« Paid the cost of registering Mr. Rakoff’s shares in the Company for the purposes of selling such shares;
« Remits cash payments of $3.3 million in 16 equal quarterly installments commencing January, 2007 through
December, 2010 in return for a covenant not to compete with the Company and not to solicit the Company’s
clients and employees for the same period; and
+ Pays medical and life insurance benefits for up to three years.
The payments in respect of the non-compete/non-solicitation covenant will be recognized prospectively as the
obligation to make the payments are contingent on Mr. Rakoff continuously providing the covenant until

December 31, 2010.

104




CRM Holdings, Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

Note 15. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company and its subsidiaries sponsor defined contribution plans for substantially all employees under
which a portiont of employee contributions are matched. The Company contributed $526 thousand, $138 thousand
and $46 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Note 16. Share-Based Compensation

The Company has adopted the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan that provides for grants of incentive stock
options, non-qualified stock options, restricted shares, stock appreciation rights, performance awards, restricted
share units, phantom shares and other share based awards to the Company’s executives, directors and key
employees. Under the Long-Term Incentive Plan, 1.5 million shares are authorized for issuance. To date, the
Company has only granted restricted shares under the plan. Restricted stock issued under the plan has terms set by
the compensation committee, and contain certain restrictions relating to, among other things, vesting and forfeiture
in the event of termination of employment. The restricted shares generally vest in three equal installments over a
three year period from when they are granted. The fair value of the shares awarded is calculated using the market
price one day prior to the date of grant.

At December 31, 2007 there was $3.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested
share-based compensation arrangements, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of
1.2 years. The Company recorded share-based compensation expense under the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan of
$1.2 million, $363 thousand and $8 thousand net of income tax benefits of $511 thousand, $177 thousand and $5
thousand during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

Following is a summary of non-vested shares as of December 31, 2007 and changes during the year:

Weighted
Average

Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Balance, December 31,2006 . ... ....... ... . . . e e, 210,593 $10.38
Granted during the period. . . ... ... ... ... . L e 273,960 7.94
Vested during the period. . ... .. ... ... i (75,295) 10.72
Forfeited during the period . . .. . ..., ... ... ... ... .. ... . ..., (76,494) 7.98
Balance, December 31, 2007 . ... .. ... .. .. 332,764 $ 8.74

Shareholders approved the Company’s 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Plan™) at the Company’s
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on May 2, 2007. Under the Plan, 200 thousand shares are authorized
for issuance. The Plan is a qualified employee stock purchase plan under Section 423 of the Code and provides the
Company’s employees with an opportunity to purchase the Company’s common shares through accumulated
payroll deductions at a discounted purchase price. The Plan provides for three month offering and purchase periods,
and participants are able to purchase shares at 85% of the lower of the closing price of the Company’s common
shares on the first or last day of the three month purchase period. Since share purchases under the Plan began in
2007, there were no common shares issued and no compensation costs recorded in 2006 or 2005.

Compensation cost is recognized for each three month period and is based on the fair value of shares at the
purchase date, less the price the participant pays for the shares. Compensation costs recognized under the Plan for
the year ended December 31, 2007 was $32 thousand. The weighted average fair value for shares recognized in
compensation costs for the year ended December 31, 2007 was $6.97,

During the year ended December 31, 2007, 10 thousand shares were purchased under the plan retated to the
July 1 quarterly offering period. In January 2008, 10 thousand shares were purchased and related to the October 1
offering period which ended December 31, 2007.
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Note 17. Related Parties

The Company conducts business with an insurance broker whose owners include one of the Company’s
directors and a memberfowner of the Pre-restructuring LLCs. The Company pays the broker fees for business
placed with several of the self insurance groups managed by the Company. In addition, the Company leases office
space and purchases various liability, property and casualty insurance coverage from the broker.

The following table represents amounts paid to the broker for services rendered:

For the Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)

Fees paid to general agents and brokers . . . ............... .. ... ..., $198  $238 5234

Other Operating eXPemSes. « . .o vttt e ot 8l 88 § 48

$279  $326  $282

As of December 31, 2007, Majestic issued excess workers’ compensation policies to most of the self-insured
groups managed by CRM and CRM CA. The policies were written at statutory limits in excess of each trust’s self-
insured retention of $500 thousand. The estimated annual premium for the policies issued is $30.8 million. Majestic
ceded 90% of the premium, net of cost for excess reinsurance, to Twin Bridges.

Compensation Risk Managers Agency Captive, LLC, (“Agency Captive”), was a licensed insurance broker
that shared common ownership with the members of the Pre-restructuring LLCs. Agency Captive was originally
formed to underwrite a business unrelated to the self-insured groups managed by CRM or CRM CA and originally
held the brokerage license that CRM and CRM CA used to place excess coverage with U.S. admitted insurers and
surety bonds on behalf of the Groups they manage. Agency Captive received brokerage commissions which were
then fully remitted to CRM or CRM CA, as applicable. The brokerage license was owned by Daniel G. Hickey Ir.,
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. On January 9, 2006 CRM became the successor
in interest to Agency Captive’s license, following which brokerage commissions are paid directly to CRM.

There were no guaranteed payments and bonuses to the members of the Pre-restructuring LLCs for the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. Included in selling, general and administrative expenses are guaranteed
payments and bonuses to the members of the Pre-restructuring LLCs totaling $2.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005,

Employee loans receivable with varying maturities extending to 2012, for non-officers of the Company, were
$264 thousand and $36 thousand at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Interest on loans receivable is
generally 5% per annum and is recorded on an accrual basis. Loans receivable are included in other assets on the
accompanying balance sheets.

Note 18. Contingencies

In April 2005, Cornerstone Program Management & Insurance Services (“Comerstone™), the former general
agent for Contractors Access Program of California, Inc. (“CAP"), a self-insured group administered by CRM CA,
commenced litigation against CAP, CRM and CRM CA. A full and final confidential settlement was reached on
September 6, 2006. All settlement payments due to date have been paid, and the litigation has been dismissed. CRM
recovered $1.75 million under a general liability and errors and omissions policy, which was contributed to CAP as
part of the settlement agreement, and $675 thousand under a directors’ and officers’ policy, which was contributed
toward the settlement amount, In the event that insurance proceeds and any recoveries from third parties are
insufficient to cover all payment obligations of CAP under the settlement agreement, it is reasonably possible that
CAP may seek indemnification from CRM or the Company for its losses. On December 20, 2006, CRM received a
request from CAP to enter into discussions regarding the contribution by CRM of amounts paid by CAP under the
setilement agreement. It is not possible to estimate the ultimate liability, if any, should CAP request that CRM
contribute the full amount paid under the settlement, The amount paid by CAP, net of insurance proceeds, is
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$4.25 million. CRM expects to enter into discussions regarding settlement of the matter, and may enter into
settlement agreements, if it believes that a settlement is in the best interests of its shareholders. The matter, if
decided adversely to or settled by CRM may result in a liability material to its financial condition or results of
operations.

After an exchange of comrespondence in which the New York Workers’ Compensation Board (“WCB”)
expressed dissatisfaction with the Company’s response to a request for certain information relating to one of the
self-insured workers compensation trusts administered by one of the Company’s subsidiaries, CRM LLC, the WCB
notified the Company on February 8, 2008 that a referral had been made for a formal investigation into whether
disciplinary action should be taken by the WCB with regard to CRM LLC’s third party administrator’s license. The
Company vigorously disagrees with the characterizations made by the WCB. The procedure initiated by the WCB is
in an investigative stage. The Company is not able at this time to determine what the outcome of the investigation
may be nor what, if any, financial or operational consequences may result form the proceeding.

During 2007, Majestic accepted, under a reservation of rights, the defense of a claim arising from a policy
issued by a predecessor company in 1983. The claim alleges that the party insured under the policy is liable for an
unspecified amount of money due to damages caused by the release of hazardous substances in a dry cleaning
business the insured operated during the early 1980s. Majestic has set a reserve of $354 thousand, which is
comprised of the policy limits together with expected defense costs, and is in addition to $125 thousand of legal
expenses already paid. Because discovery is in the early stages, the Company is unable to evaluate the likelihood of
an unfavorable outcome against Majestic or an estimate or range of potential loss.

Majestic is subject to guaranty fund and other assessments by the states in which it writes business,
Accordingly, Majestic has accrued a liability for guaranty fund and other assessments of $8.9 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2007 and has recorded a related asset for policy surcharges of $2.2 million at that date. These amounts
represent management’s best estimate, based on information received from the states in which it writes business,
and may change due to many factors including the share of the ultimate cost of current insolvencies. Most
assessments are paid out in the year following the year in which the premium is written or the losses are paid. Policy
surcharges are generally collected in the year following assessment.

Note 19. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

FAS No. 107, Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, requires companies to disclose the fair
value information about their financial instruments. FAS No. 107 excludes certain insurance related financial assets
and liabilities and all non-financial instruments from its disclosure requirements,

The estimated fair value of available-for-sale securities is estimated and reported in the accompanying balance
sheets, which approximate their fair value. Because of the short-term nature of short-term investments, cash and
cash equivalents, and premiums and other accounts receivable, their carrying values approximate their estimated
fair value. Long-term debt and other secured borrowings bear variable interest rates, thus their carrying values
approximate their fair value.

Note 20. Statutory Requirements

Each US domestic insurance company’s state of domicile imposes minimum risk-based capital requirements
that were developed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”). The formula for
determining the amount of risk-based capital specify various weighting factors that are applied to financial
balances or levels of activity based on the perceived degree of risk, Regulatory compliance is determined by a ratio
of total adjusted capital and surplus to authorized risk-based capital, as defined by the NAIC. Companies below
specific trigger points or ratios are classified within certain levels, each of which requires specified corrective
action. The NAIC provides authoritative guidance on current statutory accounting practices by promulgating a
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codified set of statutory accounting practices which the California Department of Insurance requires Majestic to
follow. Majestic exceeded the minimum risk-based capital requirements as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.

The following is a summary of Majestic’s statutory net income for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005 and the statutory capital and surplus as of December 31:

2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)
SHAUIOrY NET INCOMIE . . . .\ o v et e e et i e e eaeeaenns $11,035 8,076  $3%8,383
Statutory capital and surplus .. ......... .. i e 63,176 53,211 43,368

Under the California Insurance Code, Majestic may make dividend distributions in a given year without prior
approval of the Insurance Commissionet to a maximum of the greater of its statutory net income for the preceding
year or 10% of its unassigned surplus at the beginning of its fiscal year. Since its acquisition by the Company,
Majestic has not made any such distributions. In 2006 and 2005, Majestic paid dividends of $1.1 million, and
$1.35 million, respectively, to Embarcadero.

Under the Insurance Act 1978 of Bermuda and related regulations (the “Act”), Twin Bridges is required to
prepare Statutory Financial Statements and to file a Statutory Financial Return. The Act also requires Twin Bridges
to meet certain minimum capital and surplus requirements.

Statutory capital and surplus as reported under the Act is different from shareholder’s equity as determined in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP”) dve to certain
items that are capitalized under GAAP but expensed under the Act.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the reconciling items are as follows:

As of December 31, 2007 2006
(Dollars in thousands}
Shareholders’ equity, per GAAP .. ... .. o i $63,624  $55,467
Reconciling items:
Prepaid eXpenses. . . ... ... e (2) {195)
Deferred policy acquisition COSS . ... ..ot (564) (1,064)
Statutory capital and surplus, perthe Act. . .......... ... ... ... ... o, $63,058  §54,208
Required minimum statutory capital and surplus, perthe Act.............. $ 4203 § 4,050

Twin Bridges is also required to maintain a minimum liquidity ratio, whereby the value of its relevant assets
must be not less than 75% of its relevant liabilities. Twin Bridges met this test at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Twin Bridges is prohibited from declaring or paying any dividends during the current or subsequent financial
year if the declaration or payment of such dividends would cause it to fail to meet its solvency margin or minimum
liquidity ratio. Twin Bridges is prohibited, without prior approval from the Bermuda Monetary Autherity, from
reducing by 15% or more its total statutory capital as set out in its previous year’s financial statements, or from
paying a dividend if there are reasonable grounds for believing that it is or would be unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due, or if the realizable value of its assets would be less than its liabilities and shareholders’ equity.

Note 21. Segment Information

The Company historically operated as three reportable segments, Fee-Based Management Services, Rein-
surance, and Corporate and Other. Upon the acquisition of Embarcadero in November 2006, the Company began
operating in a fourth business segment, Primary Insurance. The Company evaluates each segment based on fees and
commission income, primary insurance premiums earned, reinsurance premiums earned or investment income, as
applicable, and expenses that are associated with, and directly related to, each segment. The determination for the
Fee Based Management Services, Primary Insurance and Reinsurance segments was based on the Company’s
methodology for monitoring the performance of the self-insured group business, primary insurance and reinsurance
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operattons. The Corporate and Other segment reflects primarily investment income, expenses, investments, cash
and cash equivalents and long-term debt that are not altocable to the three operating segments. Accounting policies
of the segments are the same as those of the Company.

Included in income of the Fee-Based Management Services segment and underwriting expenses of the Primary
Insurance segment for the year ended December 31, 2007, are $2.8 million of commissions paid by Majestic to
CRM and CRM CA for excess policies placed with Majestic on behalf of the self-insured groups managed by CRM
and CRM CA.

Also included in income of the Fee-Based Management Services segment and underwriting expenses of the
Primary Insurance segment for the year ended December 31, 2007 are $312 thousand of management fees paid by
Majestic to Eimar for claims control services on behalf of Majestic policyholders.

Premiums earned by the Reinsurance segment for the year ended December 31, 2007 include $25.1 million of
earned premiums assumed from the Primary Insurance segment. Such ceded premiums reduce premiums earned in
the Primary Insurance segment, Ceding commission income reported in underwriting expenses of the Primary
Insurance segment for the year ended December 31, 2007 includes $2.9 million from the Remsurance segment.
Such amounts are reflected in underwriting expenses of the Reinsurance segment.

Investment income of the Reinsurance segment for the year ended December 31, 2007 includes $520 thousand
of interest income on funds withheld by the Primary Insurance segment. Such amounts are reflected in interest
expenses of the Primary Insurance segment,

There were no inter-segment revenues for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.

The following tables set forth the Company’s revenues, expenses, income before taxes and total assets by
business segment and combined:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2007

Fee-Based
Management  Primary Corporate
Services Insurance Reinsurance and Other Eliminations Total
(Dellars in thousands)
Revenues:
Net premiums earned ... $ — § 91,560 $25,283 $ — 3 — $116,843
Management fees. . ., .. 35,452 — — — (3,096) 32,356
Investment income . . . .. 120 8,421 3,015 345 (520) 11,381
Total revenues . . . ....... 35,572 90,981 28,298 345 (3,616) 160,580
Expenses:
Underwriting expenses . , — 72,730 11,152 — (3,096) 80,786
Interest expense . . ... .. 18 520 — 3,899 (520) 3917
Depreciation and
amortization . . ...... 809 85 —_ 42 — 936
Operating expenses . . .. 37,831 10,397 1,030 3,929 — 53,187
Total expenses . .. ....... 38,658 ®3,732 12,182 7,870 (3,616) 138,826
Income before taxes. . ... $(3,086) $ 162249 $16,116 $(7,525) $ — % 21,754
Total assets. . . ......... $ 8,610 $329,107 $86,375 $ 7,662 $(52,359) $379,395
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Revenues:

Net premiums earned . . .
Management fees . .. ...
Investment income . . . ..

Total revenues . . . .......

Expenses:

Underwriting expenses . .
Interest expense .. .....

Depreciation and
amortization . . ... ...

Operaling expenses . . . .

Total expenses. . ........

Income before taxes . .. ..

Total assets. ...........

Revenues:
Net premiums earned . . ..

Management fees
Investment income

Expenses:
Underwriting expenses . . .
Interest expense. . . .....

Depreciation and
amortization

Operating expenses . . . . .

For the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Fee-Based Corporate
Management  Primary and
Services Insurance  Reinsurance Other Eliminations ‘Total
(Dollars in thousands)
$ —. 8§ 7736 $22966 $ — §— $ 30,702
39,997 — — — — 39,997
102 850 2,618 707 = 4,277
40,099 8,586 25,584 707 = 74,976
— 6,367 12,372 — — 18,739
33 — — 500 — 533
266 14 — — — 280
34,943 997 630 302  — 39,592
35,242 7378 13,002 3522 @ — 59,144
$ 4857 $ 1,208 §$12,582 $(2,815) $— $ 15832
$ 7,111 $217,564 $71,383  $10,295 $— $306,353
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005
Fee-Based Corporate
Management  Primary an
Services Insurance Reinsurance Other Eliminations Total
{Dollars in thousands)
$ - $— $8362 $§ — — $ 8,362
36,495 -— — — — 36,495
) — (28) 12 — (18)
36,493  — 8,334 12 — 44,839
— — 6,057 C— — 6,057
107 — — — — 107
226 — — — — 226
30,600  — 200 311 — 31,111
30933 — 6,257 ] | E— 37,501
$550 $—  $2077 $ (299 $— $7338
$ 5104  $—  $59360 $19443  $—  $83907
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Note 22, Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

Summarized below are the unaudited quarterly financial data for 2007 and 2006.

2007

Revenues

Net premiums earned . . . .. ................
Fee-based management services . .. ..........
Investment income . . .. ...................

Total revenues . . . ... oo ii ittt i

Expenses
Losses and loss adjustment expenses .........
Fees paid to general agents and brokers

Selling, general and administrative expenses. . . .
Interestexpense. . ....... ... i,

Policy acquisition costs

Totalexpenses. . ...........coiivinnn...

Income before taxes. ... ..................
Provision for income taxes. ... .............

Netincome . ..............000 ..

Basic earnings pershare. . . ................

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Diluted earnings per share
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Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30  December 31
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

$22,822  §33,515 $28,925 $31,582
9,513 3,094 7,639 7.110
2,316 2,624 2,975 3,465
34,651 44,233 39,539 42,157
13,010 19,969 14,195 16,487
2,760 2,844 2,449 2,142
4,052 4,053 4,097 4,924
10,847 10,309 11,413 11,357
972 977 991 51
31,641 38,152 33,145 35,887
3,010 6,081 6,394 6,270
112 922 (757) 1,334

$ 2898 § 5159 $ 7,151 $ 4,936
$ 018 $ 032 $ 044 $ 030
$ 018 § 032 $ 044 $ 030
16,274 16,286 16,289 16,306
16,274 16,319 16,300 16,318
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Quarter Ended
2006 March 31 June 30 September 30  December 31
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues
Net premiums earned. .. .................. $ 4311 $ 5603 $ 6,287 $14,501
Fee-based management services . . .. ......... 9,695 9,908 10,053 10,341
Investment iNCOME . .. . . ... vr i vinenns 737 784 1,001 1,755
Totalrevenues . .......cooviiivrenannnn. 14,743 16,295 17,341 26,597
Expenses
Losses and loss adjustment expenses ......... 1,034 1,197 2,263 5,996
Fees paid to general agents and brokers . .... .. 2,753 2,514 2,660 3.008
Policy acquisition COStS . ... ....... ... ..., 1,292 1,681 1,897 3,379
Selling, general and administrative expenses. ... _ 6,664 6,622 6,615 9,036
Interest EXPense . . oo oo v v v ir oo 29 2 1 501
Total eXpenses. . .. ... viiina e, 11,772 12,016 13.436 21,920
Income before taxes. . .. ...vvv vt 2,971 4,279 3,905 4,677
Provision forincome taxes. . ............... (53) 557 563 509
Netincome. .. ... ....ocviiimaeanerennns $ 3024 § 3722 $ 3,342 $ 4,168
Basic earnings pershare. . . ................ $ 019 $ 023 $ 021 $ 026
Diluted earnings per share .. ............... $ 019 § 023 3 021 $ 0.26
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic. . .. it e 16,247 16,247 16,247 16,248

Fullydiluted ............. ... ... ... 16,339 16,383 16,247 16,248
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ITEM 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, we conducted an evaluation, under the supervision and with the
participation of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15{e) and 15d-15(¢) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on this evaluation, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are
effective (i) to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that the Company files or submits
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms; and (ii) to ensure that information required to be disclosed in
the reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosures.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of CRM Hoeldings, Ltd. is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting. Our company’s internal contro! system was designed to provide reasonable
assurance to the our management and our Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of
published financial statements. There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any control system. A control
systern, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial
statement preparation. No evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances
of fraud, if any, within our company have been detected.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2007. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Based on
our assessment, we believe that, as of December 31, 2007, our internal control over financial reporting is effective
based on those criteria.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been audited by
Johnson Lambert & Co. LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which
appears on Page 72 hereof.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the fourth quarter the company undertook and completed the outsourcing of the majority of its
information technology (“IT”) operations to an unrelated third party vendor. This outsourcing arrangement
included the establishment of a new data center facility and the implementation of a new data and telecommu-
nications network. In addition, to the outsourcing of facilities and network, IT infrastructure and operational support
staff was part of the outsourcing agreement. As of year end, many of the Majestic systems were separated from the
former parent company and subsequently migrated to this new infrastructure. The balance of the company systems
are scheduled to migrate in the first quarter of 2008.

Also during the fourth quarter, the Company implemented at its other companies the general ledger, and chart
of accounts systems historically being used by Majestic. In conjunction therewith, new consolidation reporting tools
were also implemented. The integration of these new systems and processes was substantially completed before
year end and finalized prior to completion of year end testing and financial reporting.
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As a result, certain processes and workflows changed which resulted in changes to internal IT and financial
reporting controls. Following implementation all related key controls were validated according to the Company’s
established processes.

These outsourcing and general ledger/financial reporting changes were undertaken to standardize systems, and
to improve efficiencies and management reporting, and were not undertaken in response to any actual or perceived
significant deficiencies in existing Company internal control over financial reporting.

Other than the changes discussed above, there have not been any changes in our internal controls over financial
reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal
quarter to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal controls over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B.. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART 111

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information called for by this ltem and not provided herein will be contained in our Proxy Statement,
which we intend to file within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, and such
information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information called for by this Item and not provided herein will be contained in our Proxy Statement,
which we intend to file within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, and such
information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information catled for by this Item and not provided herein will be contained in our Proxy Statement,
which we intend to file within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, and such
information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information called for by this Item and not provided herein will be contained in our Proxy Statement,
which we intend to file within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, and such
information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information called for by this Item and not provided herein will be contained in our Proxy Statement,
which we intend to file within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, and such
information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

L

2.

Financial Statements

The following financial statements of CRM Holdings have been included in Part II, Item 8 hereof:

Financial Statements Page:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm .. .. ... ... ... ... ... .... 72
Consolidated balance sheets as of December 31,2007 and 2006 . .. .. ... ... .. .. 73
Consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income for the years ended

December 31, 2007; 2006; and 2005, . ... ... e e 74
Consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ and members’ equity for the years

ended December 31, 2007; 2006; and 2005. . . . . .. ... e 75
Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2007; 2006, and

S e e e e e e e e 76
Notes to consolidated financial statements . . ......... .. ittt iiiee e 77-112

Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statements schedules are filed as part of this report.

Financial Statement Schedules Page:
Schedule I. Summary of investments, other than investments in related parties, as of

December 31, 2007 . . .. e e e e 119
Schedule II. Condensed financial information of Registrant for December 31, 2007 . ..., . 120-123
Schedule III. Supplementary insurance information for the years ended December 31,

2007, 2000 and 2005 . . .. L. e e e 124
Schedule 1V. Reinsurance for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. .. .. .. 125
Schedule V. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts . .. ....... ... ... ... ..., 126
Schedule VI. Suppiemental information concerning insurance operations for the years

ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 . . . . . ... L 127

Schedules other than those listed above are omitted for the reason that they are not applicable or the
information is provided elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
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23
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3.2
33
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43

44
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10.1

Exhibits

Description

Reorganization Agreement, by and among the
Company, Compensation Risk Managers, LLC,
Compensation Risk Managers of California,
LLC, EIMAR, L.L.C., Twin Bridges, the
individuals named therein and Village
Holdings, LLC, dated December 7, 2005

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated September 8,
2006, by and among Embarcadero, the
shareholders of Embarcadero, the Company,
and CRM USA Holdings Inc.

Amendment No. 1, dated November 14, 2006, to
the Stock Purchase Agreement dated
September 8, 2006, by and among
Embarcadero, the shareholders of
Embarcadero, the Company, and CRM USA
Holdings Inc.

Memorandum of Association of the Company
Bye-Laws of the Company

Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of the
Company

Specimen Common Share Certificate

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust,
dated as of November- 14, 2006, among CRM
USA Holdings, CRM Holdings, the Trust, The
Bank of New York Delaware, as Delaware
trustee, The Bank of New  York
Trust Company, National Association, as
institutional . trustee, and the administrators
named therein, including the form of trust
preferred securities which is an exhibit thereto.

Indenture, dated as of November 14, 2006,
between CRM USA Holdings and The Bank
of New York Trust Company, National
Association, as trustee, including the form of
debenture which is an exhibit thereto.

Guarantee Agreement, dated as of November 14,
2006, between CRM Holdings and The Bank of
New York Trust Company, National
Association, as trustee.

Guarantee Agreement, dated as of November 14,
2006, between CRM USA Holdings and The
Bank of New York Trust Company, National
Association, as trustee. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on November 14, 2006.

Senior Debt  Security Agreement of
Embarcadero Insurance Holdings, Inc., dated
May 22, 2003.
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8-K
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8-K
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333-128424 33 12/7/05
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001-32705 4.1 11714/06
001-32705 42 11/14/06
001-32705 4.3 11/14/06
001-32705 44  11/14/06
333-139741 102 12/29/06
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10.12

10.13

10.14
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Description
Lease Agreement between Oakwood Partners

LL.C. and Compensation Risk Managers,
LLC, dated August 5, 2005.
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Qctober 3, 2005, between Compensation Risk
Managers, LLC and KeyBank National
Association

Amendment 1o the Amended and Restated Loan
Agreement dated October 3, 2005, dated as of
June 12, 2007, between Compensation Risk
Managers, LLC and KeyBank National
Association

Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated
October 3, 2005, between Twin Bridges
{Bermuda) Ltd. and KeyBank National
Association

Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan
Agreement dated October 3, 2005, dated as of
June 30, 2006, between Twin Bridges
(Bermuda) Ltd. and KeyBank National
Association

Amendment to Loan Agreement dated
October 3, 2005, dated as of June 12, 2007,
between Twin Bridges (Bermuda) Ltd. and
KeyBank National Association

Employment Agreement, between the Company
and Daniel G. Hickey, Jr., dated November 3,
2005

Employment Agreement between the Company
and Louis J. Viglotti, dated November 22, 2005

Employment Agreement between the Company
and James J. Scardino, dated January 1, 2007

Employment Agreement between the Company
and Chester J. Walczyk, dated January 1, 2007

Employment Agreement between the Company
and Robert Polansky, dated December 8, 2006

Separation Agreement, dated December 19,
2006 between the Company and Martin D.
Rakoff

2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan

2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
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Consent of Johnson Lambert & Co. LLP
Power of Attorney
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Certification of Chief Executive Officer
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant
to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant
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to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002
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CRM Holdings, Ltd, and Subsidiaries

Schedule I — Summary of Investments-Other Than Investments in Related Parties

December 31, 2007

Amortized

Type of Investment Cost

Amount at
Which
Shown an
Fair Balance
Value Sheet

(Doliars in thousands)

Fixed Maturities:

Bonds:
United States Government and government sponsored agency '

SECUMILIES & & o vt e e e e e e e $ 79,604 $ 80,487 $ 80,487
States, municipalities and political subdivisions, ... ......... 106,187 107,250 107,250
Mortgage-backed securities. . . .......... ... ... ... 1,682 1,683 1,683
All othercorporate bonds . . ... ................. .. ..... 52,994 53,549 53,549

Total fixed maturities . .. .......... ... ... 0., 240,467 242,969 242,969
Equity securities:

Common $tOCKS . ... ottt e e 15,290 16,837 16,837
Preferred stocks . ... ... . i 6,414 5,537 5,537

Total equity securities. . .. ............. i, 21,704 22,374 22,374
Other long-term investments. .. .............. ccuur.nn. 1,083 1,083 1,083
Short-term investments. . . ............... . ovueiirvn.n. 786 786 786

Total investments . . ... ... ... it $264,040 $267,212  $267.212
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CRM Holdings, Ltd. (Parent Only)

Schedule II — Condensed Financial Statements
Condensed Balance Sheets

December 31,
2007 2006
(Dollars in thousands)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents . . ....... .. o vt $ 4516 § 1,402
Fixed-maturity securities, available-for-sale (amortized cost nil and $4,919 thousand ). . — 4916
Investments in wholly-owned subsidiaries. . .. ............. . il 101,615 77,889
Amounts due from subsidiaries . ... ... o . oo e 2,046 628
(01 )T O e - W O T 63 —
TOLAl ASSELES. & . o v oo ot et e e ettt $108,240  $84,835
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

ACCTUE EXPEMSES . . . o v oo o e $ 769 § 1,137
Total Habilities . . . o o vt e et it et e et et et 769 1,137

Common Stock

Authorized 50 billion shares; $.01 par value; 16.0 and 15.5 million common shares

issued and OUESTANAING; . . . - -« ot 160 155
0.4 and 0.8 million Class B shares issued and outstanding . . ... .............. 4 8
Additional paid-in capital. .. ... ... 71,040 69413
Retained @amMilES . . ..o v e v e e it eee et 36,267 14,125
Accumulated other comprehensive 10SS. . . ... .o oL i — (3)
Total shareholders’ EqUILY. . .. . oot i et it e 107,471 83,698
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity . . . .. .. ... ... ... o n. $108,240 $84,835

The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto and the accompanying notes.




CRM Holdings, Ltd. (Parent Only)

Schedule Il — Condensed Financial Statements
Condensed Statements of Income

For the Years Ended

December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)
Revenues
InvesStment inCOME . .. .. ... ... ..ttt e e $ 232 % 705 $ 13
Total revenues. ... ... ... e e 232 705 13
Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses . .................. 2,216 2,821 311
Total eXpenses. . .. ...o.ovveeevrenn,. P 2,216 2,820 311
Loss before taxes and equity earnings in subsidiaries . .. .......... (1,984) (2,116) (298)
Provision forincome taxes . .......... ... ... .. — — —_—
Loss before equity in earnings of subsidiaries ,................. (1,984) (2,116)  (298)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries ........................... 24,126 16,372 167
Netincome (08S) . . . ... ... it e e e $22,142  $14,256  $(131)

The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto and the accompanying notes.
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CRM Holdings, Ltd. (Parent Only)

Schedule II — Condensed Financial Statements
Condensed Statement of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2006 2005 2005
{Dollars in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NELINCOME (LOSS) + . v vt e e oe e e et e e $22.142 $14256 § (131)

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries. .. ........ ... . ool (24,126)  (16,372) (167
Amortization of unearned compensation, restricted stock. . ... .. .. 1,571 508 13
Amortization of discounts on fixed maturity securities .. ............ (81) (601) _
Net realized losses on sale of fixed-maturity securities . .. ........... — 2
Dividends received from wholly-owned subsidiaries . . ............ 2,000 1,000 —
Changes in: -
Other accrued EXPENSES . . . . vt v v v vvemeear e (368) 829 308
T A58, & v v v v e ee e e e {61) —_ —
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities .. ......... 1,077 (378) 23
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of fixed-maturity securities . ........... ....ooa - — {74,174) —
Proceeds from sales and maturities of fixed-maturity securities. . .. .. .. 5,000 69,854 —
Return of capital from wholly-owned subsidiaries . .. .............. — 7,000 —
Capital contributions to wholly-owned subsidiaries. . . ... ... ... u. (L600Yy (17,0000  (52,350)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ........... 3,400 (14,320)  (52,350)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issuance of commonstock ........ ... s — — 68,704
Reclassification of net assets of pre-restructuring entities ... ......... — — 350
(Decrease) increase in accrued IPOcosts . .. .......... .o —_ (2,411 2,411
Issuance of common shares — employee stock purchase plan......... 145 — —
Retirement of common shares — share-based compensation . .. ... .... (90) (30} —
(Decrease) increase in amounts due from wholly-owned subsidiaries . .. (1,418) (902) 305
Net cash (used in) provided by for financing activities ........ (1,363) (3,343) 71,770
Net increase (decrease) incash. .. ... . ... ... o 3,114 (18,041) 19,443
Cash and cash equivalents )
BegINMINE. . ...\ ee e in e iia e 1,402 19,443 —
Ending. . ..o o $ 4516 $ 1402 $19443

The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto and the accompanying notes.
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CRM Holdings, Ltd. (Parent Only)
Schedule 11 — Condensed Financial Statements
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
1. Condensed Financial Statements

Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America have been condensed or omitted. It is
suggested that these condensed financial statements be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

The Parent Company carries its investments in subsidiaries under the equity method.

3. Dividends from Subsidiaries

During 2007 and 2006, Twin Bridges (Bermuda) Ltd. declared and paid dividends of $2.0 million and
$1.0 million to CRM Holdings, Lid. No dividends were declared or paid to CRM Holdings, Ltd in 2005.
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CRM Holdings, Ltd. and Subsidiaries

Schedule I1f — Supplementary Insurance Information
Years Ended December 31,

Benefits,
Future Other Claims,
Palicy Policy Losses and
Deferred Benefits, Clalms Loss Amortization
Policy Lasses and and Net Adjustment of Policy Other
Acquisition Laoss Unearned Benefits Eamed Investment Expenses Acquisition  Operating Premiums
Costs Expenses Premlums Payable FPremiums  Income Incurred Costs Expenses  Written
{Dollars in thousands)
2007
Primary
insurance. . . .. $ 682 $188.881 $ 8,744 $— $ 91,561 § 8421 $57.318 $15,352 $11,827  § 93,513
Reinsurance . . .. 564 18,438 4,263 —_ 25,282 3,008 6,696 4,456 1.02} 25,393
Eliminations(}) . . (623) (18.471) 4,154) - — (520) (413) (2,683) (520) —
$ 623 $188.848 §$8,353 $— $116,843  $10.909 $63.661 $17,125 $12.328  3118,906
2006
Primary
insurance. . . . . $ $141,880  § 4,554 — $ 7736 § 850 $ 5,028 $ 1,339 $ 1,012 § 7259
Reinsurance . . .. 1,064 11,742 3,526 — 22,966 2,617 5,462 6910 667 24,998
Eliminations(1) . . — —_ — = — — —_ —_ — _
$1,143 $153,622  $ 8,080 — $ 30,702 $ 3.467 $10,490 $ 8,249 $ 1679 % 32257
2005
Primary
insurance. ., . . . $ — $ - 5 - $— % - 5 — 5 — 5 — s — 5 —
Reinsurance . . .. 442 6,280 1,494 —_ 8,362 (28} 3,584 2473 396 5,076
Eliminations(1) . . -— - _ — — — — — — —
$ 442 $ 6280 $ 1,454 — $ 8362 § (28 $ 3,584 $ 2473 $ 396 $ 5076

(1) Includes the elimination of treaty and guota share reinsurance ceded from Majestic to Twin Bridges.
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CRM Holdings, Ltd. and Subsidiaries

Schedule IV — Reinsurance
Years Ended December 31,

Percentage
Ceded to Assumed of Amount
Direct Other from Other Assumed to
Amount  Companies Companies Net Amount Net
(Dollars in thousands)
Workers’ Compensation Insurance:

2007
Primary insurance ............... $167,675 $(76354y $ 240 $ 91,561 0.3%
Reinsurance. . .................. 250 (79) 25111 25,282 99.3%
Eliminations(1) .. ............... — 25,111 (25,111) — 0.0%
$167,925 $(51,322) § ,240 $116,843 75.2%

2006
Primary insurance .. ............. $ 8374 % (753) $ 116 $ 717937 1.5%
Reinsurance. . .................. — — 22,965 22,965 100.0%
Eliminations(1) ................. — — — — 0.0%
$ 8374 % (753) $23,081 $ 30,702 75.2%

2005 '

Primary insurance . .............. $ — 3 — 3 — 3 —_ 0.0%
Reinsurance. . ........ ... 0vnnn. — — 8,362 8,362 100.0%
Eliminations(1) ... .............. — — — — 0.0%

$ — 3§ — % 38362 $ 8362 100.0%

(1} Includes the elimination of treaty and quota share reinsurance ceded from Majestic 1o Twin Bridges.
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CRM Holdings, Ltd. and Subsidiaries

Schedule V — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Years Ended December 31,

Balance at Balance at
- Beginning of End of
Description Period Additions  Deductions Period
{Dollars in thousands)

2007
Primary insurance. . . ..........cveiiaeaaan $163 $164 $123 $203
Reinsurance . . ....... ... ... .o, — — — ——
Eliminations(1). . .. ..ot e it = = - _—-
$163 $l64 $123 $203

2006
Primary inSUrance. . . .........couvvrreaeen.. $ — $165 $ 2 $163
Reinsurance . .. ......c.covve i e nn — — — —
Eliminations(1). ... ..... .. ... i = = = =
$ — $165 3 2 $163

2005
Primary inSUrance. . . ...........cooenoien.ns 5 — $ — $ — 5 —
REINSUMANCE . . o\ v vee et ema i nananans $ — $ — $ — $—
Eliminations(1}. . .. ... ... oo i = - - -
$ — $ — $ — $ —

(1) Includes the elimination of treaty and quota share reinsurance ceded from Majestic to Twin Bridges.
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CRM Holdings, Ltd. and Subsidiaries

Schedule VI — Supplemental Information Concerning Insurance Qperations
Years Ended December 31,

Loss and Laoss
Reserve for Adjustment Paid Claims
Deferred  Losses and R ’I‘apeezsﬁ Amortization and
Policy Loss Unearned Net ~ Relatedls: "¢ pojicy Claim
Acquisition Adjustiment Discount Reinsurance Earmed Investment Current Prior  Acguisiton  Adjustment Premioms
Costs Expenses Reserves Premiums Premiums  Income Year Year Costs Expenses  Written
2007
Primary
insurance . , , .. $ 682  $I88.881 — $8744 $ 91561 $ B421 $62328 $(4,950) $1535! $35,132  § 95513
Reinsurance . , | . . 564 18,438 — 4,263 25,282 3,008 9448 (2,752) 4,456 —_ 25,393
Eliminations(l) . . . {623) {18471y — (4,154) — {520) {413) — {2,682) (122} —
$ 623 $183.848 5— $8853 $116,843 310509 $71,363 $(7,702) 17,125 $35,010 $118,906
2006
Primary \
insurance . . ... $ 79  $i41.880 $— $4554 % 7736 § 850 $ 6,663 $(1,635) § 1,339 $4727 § 7259
Reinsurance . . . . . 1,064 11,742 — 3.526 22,966 2,617 7,349 (1.887) 6910 —_ 24 998
Eliminations(1) . . . —_ = = — — — — — — -— -—
$1,143  $153.622 $— $8,080 $ 30,702 % 3467 $14012 $(3.522) § 8,249 $ 4727 $ 32257
2005
Primary
insurance . . . .. $ — $ — 5} - 3 - 3% —-— 3% -5 — 8§ - 5 - 5 -
Reinsurance , . . .. 442 6,280 — 1,494 8,362 (28) 3,584 — 2473 -_— 5,076
Eliminations(1) . . . - — — - _ —_ — — —_ _— -_

$ 442 5 6280 3— $1494 % 8362 $ (28) $3584 8 — § 2473 8 — 8§ 507

(1) Includes the elimination of treaty and quota share reinsurance ceded from Majestic to Twin Bridges.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CRM Holdings, Ltd.

fst  DanEL G. HicKEy, Jr.

Daniel G. Hickey, Ir.
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 5, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/  DanieL G. Hickey, Jr. Chief Executive Officer March 5, 2008
Daniel G. Hickey, Jr. and Chairman of the Board
/s/  James J. SCARDINO Chief Financial Officer March 5, 2008

James J. Scardino

/s/  DanieL G. HICKEY, Sr. Director March 3, 2008
Daniel G. Hickey, St

/s/ Davip M. BIRSNER Director March 5, 2008
David M. Birsner

/s Keirn S. Hynes Director March 3, 2008
Keith S. Hynes

fs/  CuarLes I. JOHNSTON Director March 5, 2008
Charles I. Johnston

/s/  PHiLIP J. MAGNARELLA Director March 5, 2008

Philip J. Magnarella

Director
Edmund N. Pascoe
Is!  SALVATORE A. Patafio Director March 5, 2008
Salvatore A. Patafio
fs/  Louis ROSNER Director March 5, 2008

Louis Rosner
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EXHIBIT 21.1

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF CRM HOLDINGS, LTD.

Jurisdiction of

Incorporation or

Name Organization Parent Percentage Ownership

Twin Bridges (Bermuda) Ltd. . ............ Bermuda CRM Heldings, Lid. 100%

CRM USA Holdings Inc. ................ Delaware CRM Holdings, Lid. 100%
Compensation Risk Managers, LLC . ... ... New York CRM USA Holdings 100%
Compensation Risk Managers of California,

LLC ... California CRM USA Holdings 100%
Eimar, LLC. ....................... New York CRM USA Holdings 100%
Embarcadero Insurance Holdings, Inc. . . . .. California CRM USA Holdings 100%

Majestic Insurance Company . ......... California Embarcadero 100%

Great Western Insurance Services, Inc. . California Embarcadero 100%

Redhorse Insurance Company, Lid. ... .. Bermuda Embarcadero 100%
CRM USA Holdings Trust 1 ............ Delaware CRM USA Holdings 100%
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-130747 and 333-143417 on
Form §-8 of our report dated March 5, 2008, relating to the consolidated financial statements of CRM Holdings,
Lid. and subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, appearing in the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of CRM Holdings, Ltd. dated March 5, 2008.

fsf JOHNSON LAMBERT & CO LLP

Falls Church, Virginia
March 5, 2008
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POWERS OF ATTORNEY

EXHIBIT 24.1

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, thai each of the undersigned hereby constitutes and appoints
Daniel G. Hickey, Jr. and James J. Scardino, and each of them, the true and lawful attorney or attorneys-in-fact, with
full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, to sign on his behalf as a
director or officer or both, as the case may be, of CRM Holdings, Ltd.. on Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2007 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and to sign any or all
amendments thereto and to file the same, with all exhibits therete, and other documents in connection therewith,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney or attorneys-in-fact, and each of them
with or without the others, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and
necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could in person,
hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney or attorneys-in-fact or any of them or their substitute or

substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature

/s/  DanieL G, Hickey, JR.
Daniel G. Hickey, Jr.

fs/  James J. Scarbmo

James J. Scardino

/s DanieL G. Hickey, Sk.
Danie! G. Hickey, Sr.

/s/ Davip M. BIRSNER
David M. Birsner

fs/  KemH S. Hynes
Keith S. Hynes

/s/  CHarLES 1. JOHNSTON
Charles 1. Johnston

fs/  PHiLP J. MAGNARELLA

Philip J. Magnarella

Edmund N. Pascoe

/s/  SaLVATORE A, PATAFIO
Salvatore A. Patafio

fs!  Louis Rosner

Louis Rosner
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Date

March 5, 2008
March 5, 2008
March 5, 2008
March 5, 2008
March 5, 2008
March 5, 2008

March 5, 2008

March 5, 2008

March 5, 2008




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Daniel G. Hickey, Ir, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Annual report of CRM Holdings, Lid.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a)

b)

c)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, partic-
ularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of
directors:

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

fsf  DanieL G. Hickey, Jr.

Daniel G. Hickey, Ir.
Chief Executive Officer

Dated; March 5, 2008




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James J. Scardino, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of CRM Holdings, Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a)

b)

c)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, partic-
ularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financtal
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of
directors:

a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a

significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

fsf James ), ScarbiNo

James J. Scardino
Chief Financial Officer

Dated: March 5, 2008




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of CRM Holdings, Ltd. (the “registrant™) on Form 10-K for the year
ending December 31, 2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“report™), I, Daniel G. Hickey, Jr., Chief Executive Officer, of the registrant, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1) The report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the registrant.

fsi Danigr G. HickEey, Jr.

DanieL G. HiCKEY, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 5, 2008




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of CRM Holdings, Ltd. (the “registrant™) on Form 10-K for the year
ending December 31, 2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“report”), I, James J. Scardino, Chief Financial Officer, of the registrant, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1) The report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the registrant.

fs/  JAMES J. ScarpiNG

James J. Scardino
Chief Financial Officer

Dated: March 5, 2008
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ORDERING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A copy of the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, including the financial statements and financial statement schedules, may be
obtained without charge by writing to the Company at the following address: CRM Holdings, Ltd, FO. Box 2062, Hamitton HMHX,
Bermuda or by calling 441-295-6689. The information can also be accessed on the Company's website: www.crmholdingsitd.bm

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report contains forward looking statements. These forward looking statements include, without limitation, statements
about our plans, strategies and prospects. These statements are based on our current expectations and projections about future

events and are identified by terminclogy such as “‘may;

uwill" “should? “expect’ “scheduled; “plan! “seek’ “intend, “anticipate; “believe;

“estimate! “aim; “potential! or “continue” or the negative of those terms or cther comparable terminology. Although we believe that
our plans, intentions and expectations are reasonable, we may not achieve our plans, intentions or expeciations. These forward-look-
ing statements involve risks and uncertainties. Important factors that coutd cause actual results to differ materially from the forward
tooking statements we make in this annual report are set forth in “Risk Factors” We undertake no obligation to update any of the for-
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ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is scheduled for 12:00 p.m. on May 7, 2008 at the Hamilion Princess Fairmont, 76 Pitts

Bay Road, Pembroke, Bermuda,

TRADING INFORMATION

The common shares of CRM Holdings, Ltd. is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Stock Market (symbol: CRMH). If you wish to
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